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PART |

The statements contained in this annual report omF10-K, including under the section titled “Mareagents Discussion and Analysis
Financial Condition and Results of Operati” and other sections of this annual report, includeward{ooking statements within the mean
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, asraled, and Section 21E of the Securities ExchangefA934, as amended, including,
without limitation, statements regarding our or acuanagement’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, iotentr strategies regarding the future. The
words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “contin ue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan” and s imilar expressions may identify
forward-looking statements, but the absence of these wiwés not mean that a statement is not forwardi@pkl he forward-looking
statements contained in this annual report are Hase our current expectations and beliefs concegiiiiture developments and their potential
effects on us. There can be no assurance thatfatewelopments affecting us will be those thatawe lanticipated. These forward-looking
statements involve a number of risks, uncertair{geme of which are beyond our control) or othesuasptions that may cause actual resuli
performance to be materially different from thogpressed or implied by these forw-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, those factors d#éxsad in the section titled “Risk Factors.” Shoutshe or more of these risks or uncertainties
materialize, or should any of our assumptions prioeerrect, actual results may vary in material pests from those projected in these
forward-looking statements. We undertake no obligationpiate or revise any forward-looking statementstivér as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, exceptnay be required under applicable securities laws.

ITEM 1: BUSINESS
Our Business

We design, develop and sell proprietary medicalasvused to diagnose neuropathies. Neuropathéedisgases of the peripheral nerves
and parts of the spine that frequently are caugent hssociated with diabetes, low back pain ampatdunnel syndrome, as well as other
clinical disorders. We believe that our neuropattagnostic system, the NC-stat System, improvesjtiadity and efficiency of patient care by
offering all physicians the ability to diagnoseipats with neuropathies at the point-of-servicat ib, in the physician’s office at the time the
patient is examined, resulting in earlier and naareurate detection, greater patient comfort andewience, and, in many cases, improved
clinical and economic outcomes.

Neuropathies traditionally have been evaluatedifmple clinical examination by the primary care picien, and, in some cases,
subsequently diagnosed by a nerve conduction stndyneedle electromyography, or NCS/nEMG, procedartormed by a neurologist or
physician in a related specialty. We estimate tihaite are approximately 2.0 million traditional N6EMG procedures currently performed
each year in the United States. We believe thabfisaditional NCS/nEMG procedures is limited §%) the need to obtain a referral to a
neurologist for the procedure and the resultingy@l availability of diagnostic information; ()& inconvenience and discomfort of these
procedures for the patient; and (3) the expensieetpatient and third-party payer. We anticipatd the advantages and increased availability
of the NC-stat System will significantly increase humber of nerve conduction studies performedeBa&n our analysis of current data, we
estimate that the potential market size for pofrtervice nerve conduction studies in the diabétes back pain and carpal tunnel syndrome
markets in the aggregate could be greater thamlibn annual patient tests, estimated to be ntba@ $1.0 billion annually for our disposable
biosensors, in the United States.

Our goal is to become the leading provider of iratoae, proprietary, high margin medical deviced firavide comprehensive solutions
for the diagnosis and treatment of patients withrapathies. To date, our primary focus has beeth@uliagnosis of neuropathies. We also
believe that our core technology can be adapteceatahded to provide minimally invasive approadeeseating neuropathies. We are in the
early stages of designing a drug delivery systemthfie minimally invasive treatment of neuropathigsoth primary care and specialist
physicians.




All of our current products have received 510(ldachnce by the United States Food and Drug Admatish, or FDA. The NC-stat
System has been on the market since May 1999 girdsently used in nearly 3,300 physician’s offiaimics and other health care facilities.
We hold issued utility patents covering a numbemgfortant aspects of our NC-stat System. In 20@bincreased our revenues from the prior
year by 91%, generating $34.3 million in revenwesnpared with $17.9 million in 2004. Our gross nirafgercentage in 2005 was 74.2%,
88% of our revenues were attributable to saleh®flisposable biosensors that physicians use torpetests with our NC-stat System. We
recorded net income of approximately $938,000 id528nd incurred net losses of approximately $418amiin 2004 and $3.7 million in 2003.
Since our inception, more than 500,000 patiente Heeen tested with the NC-stat System.

Disorders of the Peripheral Nerves and Spine
The Nervous System

The nervous system is a collection of interconrisfeecialized cells called neurons, supported bgratomplementary cells. The basic
function of the nervous system is to convert phglsstimuli into neural signals, to process thesgralesignals, and to generate an appropriate
motor response. The classic reflex obtained byiteppn the knee and eliciting a mild kick is a sienpxample of this function.

The nervous system is divided into the central oesvsystem, or CNS, and the peripheral nervougsmsysir PNS. The CNS is comprised
of the neurons in the brain and spine, while th&RNnNsists of neurons and related elements outsidgpine and within the extremities, such
as the hands or feet. Neurons, which are the pyim@mnponents of the nervous system, typically hthvee elements: (1) the dendrites, or input
region; (2) the cell body, where the cell nucleesides; and (3) the axon, or output region. Theldess and the cell body of most neurons
reside within the CNS (e.g., in the spine), while &axons may reside within the CNS, the PNS or.Bidte axon carries information from one
neuron to another or to a muscle. Axons can exoaedneter in length yet represent the same ced.t&tm “nerve” generally refers to a
collection of axons encased within a common she®thns combine into nerves in the extremities dratconsidered part of the PNS.

All neurons, and particularly their axons, are higbusceptible to metabolic or mechanical damagkheave limited regenerative ability.
Disorders of the nervous system lead to symptorhighwcan range from numbness and weakness in thengikies if confined to the PNS, to
changes in cognition, speech and personality ifIN& is involved.

Neuropathie:

Disorders of the nerves are broadly described byahm neuropathies. There are two basic typeswfopathies, those that are focal, or
localized in nature, and those that are systenticaFheuropathies are typically caused by a corsjme®f one or more specific nerves.
Systemic neuropathies are typically caused by almodit disturbance that results in widespread danagerves throughout the body. The
most common clinical conditions associated withropathies include:

« DiabetesDiabetes is a disease in which the body either doeproduce sufficient quantities of insulin oredmot properly use insuli
Insulin is a hormone that is needed to convertisiggarches and other food into energy neededdily body function. Diabetes often
results in a high level of glucose in the bloodlezhhyperglycemia. Chronic hyperglycemia is asated with complications of diabetes
including nerve, eye and kidney disease. The masinton form of diabetes-related nerve disease yst@mic neuropathy called
diabetic peripheral neuropathy, or DPN. The symgtoffDPN include impaired sensation or pain inféet and hands. The American
Diabetes Association currently estimates that 660%006 of people with diabetes are affected by D&tiough a majority of these
individuals are unaware of their nerve disease




because they have no symptoms. Clinical studies Hamonstrated that nerve conduction studies dactd@PN in cases where
symptoms are not present. DPN, if left undiagnasadiunmanaged, can result in the development cflewtremity ulcers and, in
severe cases, amputation. It is estimated by therisan Diabetes Association that over 75% of aik famputations are in patients with
diabetic peripheral neuropathy. Other neuropatfmiag be present in as many as 30% of patients vattetes, including carpal tunnel
syndrome, radiculopathy and chronic inflammatorsngelinating polyneuropathy, or CIDP.

« Low back painLow back pain can have many causes. When low baitkhas a neurological source, it is often focalature and
associated with pain that radiates from the loveaklregion into the leg, called sciatica. In sorages, the patient may also experience
loss of sensation and weakness in the lower legditanced cases, these symptoms can become disdliiem symptoms result from
pressure on the nerve roots, the precursors afghee, as they exit the spine. The source of thegure is usually part of an
intervertebral disc that is displaced from its nafhocation between the vertebral bodies. Theserdiess are often called herniated or
ruptured discs.

e Carpal tunnel syndrome&arpal tunnel syndrome, or CTS, is caused by swgetf the tendons that traverse the wrist alongside
median nerve. The swollen tendons compress theamextirve, resulting in damage to the nerve thalslé@numbness in the first three
fingers of the hand, weakness in the thumb, andgienally wrist and hand pain. CTS is the most comfocal neuropathy.

» Other medical conditions associated with neuropsgfCommon chronic disorders such as obesity; rheuchatthritis; and spinal
stenosis, or narrowing of the spinal canal; areroomly associated with neuropathies. In these carateld cases, it is particularly
important for the physician to confirm or excludsunopathies in order to develop effective treatnpeagrams.

* Nerve damage caused by chemotherapgumber of widely used chemotherapeutic agentscedie to nerves. Unfortunately, by the
time patients report symptoms, significant nervendge has often already occurred.

Market Opportunity

The sensitivity of the nervous system to metabmtid mechanical damage, compounded by its limitgemerative ability, creates a
market opportunity for a medical device that cagisisn point-of-service diagnoses of neuropatiies manner that is cost-effective for the
patient and third-party payer. We believe the edisese, accuracy and convenience provided by thestdCSystem position it to become a
standard of care for the assessment of neuropaththe point-of-service. We believe that the allity of point-of-service nerve conduction
studies, through the NC-stat System, will resuktanlier detection of neuropathies, leading toieatherapeutic intervention and, in many
cases, improved clinical and economic outcomesb@ieve that use of traditional NCS/NnEMG procedusdanited by the referral process ¢
the resulting delay in availability of diagnostidérmation, the inconvenience and discomfort osthmethods for the patient, and the expense
to the patient and third-party payer. Our policyogromote and support the utilization of nervadiaction studies in a manner strictly
consistent with prevailing guidelines on the mellijcappropriate use of this diagnostic procedure &gtimate that there are approximately 2.0
million traditional NCS/nEMG procedures currentigrfprmed each year in the United States. Altholghmost common indication for which
the NC-stat System has been used historicallyrjzat&unnel syndrome, we have since expanded otketiag efforts to include DPN and low
back pain, as well as other indications. We angitdgghat our future growth will be generated mafniyn this expanded focus. Based on our
analysis of current patient data, we estimatetti@potential for point-of-service nerve conductitndies in the diabetes, low back pain and
carpal tunnel syndrome markets in the aggregatiel dmugreater than 9.5 million annual patient tes¢timated to be more than




$1.0 billion annually for our disposable biosensorghe United States. However, market size iadik to predict, and we cannot assure you
that our estimates will prove to be correct. Wedwe that additional applications of a point-of\see product offering such as the NC-stat
System, including the clinical assessment of p&iaiith neuropathies caused by or associated wiisralinical disorders, could further
increase this potential market size. Additionadlighough we have not yet quantified the size ofittaeket, we believe a potential international
market opportunity exists for the NC-stat System.

Assessment and Treatment Methods for Neuropathies
Traditional Methods for Detecting Neuropathies

Neuropathies traditionally have been evaluatedgusiimical and diagnostic methods. The clinicalrakaation of a patient with a potential
neuropathy focuses on the nature, location andidaraf the symptoms. The physician will also pemfca physical examination of the patient
to corroborate and qualify the patient's symptomsnany cases, the physician will use simple imagrnts such as a reflex hammer or a tuning
fork. Although the clinical examination is essehttathe evaluation of the patient with a potentialropathy, it has a number of important
disadvantages, including the following:

« Itis qualitative. A clinical examination provides qualitative rathlbean quantitative information, and results can \gsatly dependin
on the physician performing the examination. Iis tieispect, it has limited use as an objective apdatable measure of disease.

« Itis subjective. Much of the clinical examination relies on the patiexperiencing and reporting symptoms or peroeptiAs a result,
it depends greatly on the investigative effortshef physician in interviewing the patient, is highbriable because of individual
differences in recollection and discomfort thresispland requires an alert, cooperative patientaBse of the subjective nature of the
clinical examination, the results must be interpdetautiously.

« It often does not detect pre-clinical or early statjsease.Because the clinical examination relies on thegpditieporting symptoms or
physical signs of disease, the physician typicedignot detect early stage disease with this evatuathe progressive nature of
neurological damage is such that pre-clinical olyedetection creates the optimal opportunity fatervention and successful clinical
outcomes.




The limitations of the clinical examination in detiag and monitoring neuropathies suggest thatgective and quantitative diagnostic
procedure would be of value for many patients. iidte of an objective diagnostic procedure in agudtat risk for a neuropathy or experienc
common symptoms of a neuropathy, such as numbmessual sensations, pain and weakness, is shothe iiagram below.
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Nerve
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The cause of symptoms in many of these patientsafilbe disorders of the nervous system, but rathéritic pain, musculo-skeletal
disturbances, inflammatory conditions, psychiadiisorders and others. The importance of an objedtiggnostic procedure in this type of
patient is to determine if the patient does in fate a neuropathy, and if so, of what type anérigv Only with this information can
appropriate therapy be determined.

The principal diagnostic method used today to aspatients with or at risk for neuropathies isaglitional nerve conduction study and a
needle electromyography, or nEMG. Traditional neseeduction studies and nEMGs are distinct stuaiescan be performed independently,
but are collectively described as traditional NEMWG procedures. In a traditional nerve conductinly, electrodes are placed on the
patient’s skin surface and the physician perforntirggstudy electrically stimulates the nerve, emgka neural impulse that travels along the
nerve, thereby enabling the physician to measseias of nerve conduction parameters. In an nEM&rding needles are inserted through
the skin’s surface into a muscle and the physipefiorming the study reviews the electrical acyiwf those muscles. From these data, the
physician can determine whether or not the patiasta neuropathy, and if so, its characteristidssawerity. The traditional nerve conduction
study, in some cases combined with an nEMG, isidensd by most physicians to be the “gold standardérms of diagnostic accuracy for
most neuropathies.

Limitations of Traditional Diagnostic Methot

Traditional NCS/nEMG procedures have a numbempitditions, which have frequently resulted in thesscedures not being performed
until late in the patients’ care episodes. Theséditions include the following:

« Referral processlraditional NCS/nEMG procedures typically are perfed under a referral from a primary care physician
orthopedic surgeon to a neurologist. This proceag lead to loss of control of the patient’s caretuy referring physician, higher
expense for the patient and third-party payer,thedikely delay and inconvenience for the pat&sgociated with a separate office visit
to a new physician.




ExpenseWhen the patient visits a new physician under erraf for the purpose of a traditional NCS/nEMGgadure, that physician

is less familiar with the patient’'s medical hist@nyd condition than the primary care physician.réfege, these physicians may need to
perform more extensive testing incorporating midtiperves and muscles. Because of the breadtlesé thtudies, the cost per study can
exceed $1,000 per patient, which leads to greaferese for the patient and third-party payer.

EquipmentThe equipment used to perform a traditional NCS/@&EMocedure is expensive and typically ranges &t from $15,000
to $40,000. For this reason, it is generally onlyghased by neurologists and physicians in relspedialties, who expect high
utilization to offset this cost.

Complexity Traditional procedures require familiarity with ¢gment and engineering principles that most phgsisido not acquire
during their medical training. This fact, combineih high equipment cost, has meant that only allsmanber of physicians, such as
neurologists and physicians in related specialfesorm testing under traditional methods, makirig type of testing not generally
widely available.

Discomfort.The traditional NCS/nEMG procedure is considerecoamfortable or painful by most patients. In patéeuthe nEMG
component can be very painful because it involvpBysician inserting needles into specific musolethe patient, often in close
proximity to the site of pain. Patients are somesrtherefore reluctant to undergo these procedangsneuropathies may go
undiagnosed.

Current Methods for Treating Neuropathies

Addressing the limitations of traditional methods @letecting neuropathies is important becauskeo€kpanding number of treatments
common neuropathies currently in use and underlderent. We believe earlier and more accurate tleteof neuropathies would allow
more patients to benefit from these treatmentschvhiclude the following:

Diabetic Peripheral Neuropathyptimal clinical management of DPN is based oniestrpossible detection so as to limit the degft
nerve damage. At the present time, most peopledidgthetes are evaluated for DPN with simple clingracedures that generally do
identify the disease in its early stages. Althotrglatment options for DPN are presently limitegéréhare interventions designed to slow
down the progression of nerve degeneration andromize the complications of the nerve disease réhrinterventions consist
primarily of increased attention to the individalilood glucose through monitoring and administratf insulin and other medicatio

as well as increased compliance with proper didtexercise programs. In addition, greater atterttiaime existence and progression of
foot ulcers that are often triggered by nerve disdzas been shown to be valuable in preventing &tigu. A number of

pharmaceutical companies and researchers areigaisg and developing drugs specifically desigteetteat DPN. The following tak
summarizes the leading drug development prograrbd*N known to us, as described, for each companguirent publicly available
information released by that company.

Company Name Drug Name Status
Eli Lilly and Company ruboxistaurin mesylat U.S. Phase lll clinical trie
(Arxxant)
Sanwa Kagaku Fidarestat U.S. Phase Il clinical trial

Kenkyusho Co., Ltd.,
Sankyo Co., Ltd., and NK
Curex




Dainippon AS-3201 U.S. Phase lll clinical trial
Pharmaceutical Co., Lti

Johnson & Johnson Topiramate Approved in the United States as
anticonvulsant; Phase Il clinical trials
being conducted to determine effice
in the treatment of DPI

Vitaris GmbH a -lipoic acid Approved in Germany; studies being
conducted to determine efficacy in
treatment of DPP

Sciatica.The widespread incidence of low back pain and sgetiscomfort associated with the condition makesdietection of true
sciatica difficult. However, treatment decisionguie a clear delineation between those patiemtshthve non-neuropathic back pain,
such as muscle strains or spasms, and those tauhderlying neuropathies. Mild sciatica may leated with non-steroidal anti-
inflammatory drugs, or NSAIDs, rest and physica&rtipy. More advanced sciatica is often treated stghoid injections and eventually
a minimally invasive or more involved surgical pedare may be required.

Carpal Tunnel Syndrom#lild CTS is treated conservatively using wrist sfgi NSAIDs, and physical and occupational therapy.
Moderate to severe CTS is treated by injectingo@derinto the carpal tunnel in the immediate vigiraf the median nerve, or ultimately
by a surgical procedure called a carpal tunnebsgeor CTR. Most physicians and third-party payegsire confirmation of median
nerve damage by a nerve conduction study, likeghebrmed using the NC-stat System, prior to perfog CTR. According to the
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, or Gt 350,000 CTR procedures were performed in 1997

NEUROMetrix Solution

Recognizing the opportunity created by the limitas of traditional diagnostic methods coupled ki availability of current and
potential new treatments for certain neuropatiigdJROMetrix has developed the NC-stat System fergérformance of non-invasive nerve
conduction studies at the point-of-service. Ouippigtary technology provides physicians with aroffiee diagnostic system that enables
physicians to make rapid and accurate diagnosésithaost-effective for the patient and third-parayer. We believe that the NC-stat System
represents a significant advance in neurologiagmibstics and offers an improvement over traditidregnostic procedures with the following
benefits:

Facilitates performance of nerve conduction studiethe point-of-servicélhe complexity and high capital cost of traditional
diagnostic methods generally has limited theirtosgeurologists and physicians in related speemltWe believe the features of the
NC-stat System facilitate the performance of neweduction studies within the offices of a widegarof physicians. By allowing
nerve conduction studies to be performed in theary care physiciar’office, the patient can avoid the expense anahwenience of
referral visit to a neurologist. Additionally, tiNC-stat System enables primary care physiciansttorr greater control over their
patients by eliminating the need to refer themfoug traditional NCS/nEMG procedure.




« Provides a cost-effective diagnostic tdde believe that the NC-stat System should redueedist to the patient and third-party payer
of many nerve conduction studies. This belief isdabon our observation that when these procedwegseaformed by the physician
with primary clinical responsibility for the patigrthe study is more directed so that generallyefemerves are tested without
compromising the accuracy of the diagnosis. As<ctist to third-party payers for nerve conductiordis is typically based on the
number of nerves tested, use of the NC-stat Systammesult in lower costs to patients and thirdyppayers. For example, a nerve
conduction study for DPN using the NC-stat Systemnld typically be performed by testing four nerwebgereas a nerve conduction
study for the same indication performed by a nagist using traditional NCS/nEMG equipment uporerefl could involve the testing
of six nerves or more.

« Requires minimal capital investmeki{e sell the NC-stat System, with equivalent tecalnspecifications to the more expensive
traditional instruments, for under $5,000, compawétth $15,000 to $40,000 for the cost of traditibNES/NEMG equipment. We
believe the lower capital cost of the NC-stat Systeill aid in the expansion of nerve conductiondé#s beyond neurologist offices.

» Simple to operatelhe NC-stat biosensors are designed for ease déemlent, which allows a wide range of physicianceffpersonnel
to administer the technical parts of the study ursd@ervision of a physician. The NC-stat monittiliaes software algorithms that
perform each step of a nerve conduction studyrigliable manner, with embedded automation technolbgt addresses and minimizes
the technical training requirements for performirggve conduction studies, while also ensuring ttiend diagnostic result is accurate
and reliable. We believe that, in combination, éhk=atures allow accurate and reliable nerve caimustudies to be performed in 1£
30 minutes on average.

» Patient-friendly, non-invasive proceduihe NC-stat System allows for reduced patient difoot during the nerve conduction study
by minimizing the magnitude of the electrical stiosito the nerve via a proprietary patispecific calibration procedure. In most ca
the sophisticated signal processing and automatpabilities of the NC-stat System provide suffitidiagnostic information to
eliminate the need for an nEMG procedure. This s#lve patient the discomfort, stress and risk isfittvasive procedure.

We believe point-of-service testing will expand thee of nerve conduction studies to include atinglkviduals who may have early-stage
neuropathies, a population that would be unlikelppé¢ tested under the current inconvenient, expemsierral system. Because traditional
NCS/nEMG procedures are typically not performedl laie in patient’ care episodes, permanent nerve damage may haaslgloccurred,
which can limit treatment options. We believe thetre widespread use of nerve conduction studieddiead to earlier detection of
neuropathies. Clinical studies published in pegrerged medical journals have demonstrated thatenesnduction studies performed with the
NC-stat System result in comparable accuracy tottoadil NCS/NnEMG procedures, as described below-iCtinical Studies.” By
incorporating nerve conduction studies early irngrdas’ care episodes through the use of the NCSststem, we expect better lotgrm clinica
and economic outcomes will emerge because of titieyab implement available preventive care basedaccurate early diagnostic results.

The NC-stat System

The NC-stat System is comprised of: (1) disposaisigle use NC-stat biosensors that are placedepdtient’s body; (2) the NC-stat
monitor and related components; and (3) the NCekieking station, an optional device that enabitesphysician to transmit data to our onCall
Information System. The onCall Information Systemmiulates the data it receives for each test irdetailed report that is sent to the
physician via facsimile or e-mail in three to faninutes on average and aids in the physician’s




diagnosis. The NC-stat System enables the physiciarake rapid and accurate diagnoses that aresffestive for the patient and third-party

payer.

* NC-stat biosensord he NC-stat biosensors are single use, self-adbeaserve-specific, patch-like devices that areqdagn the body
and connected to the NC-stat monitor. Through geeaf a specialized gel and a temperature sensibr ob which are contained within
the biosensor, NC-stat biosensors convert nervekido electronic data that can be received asylalied by the NC-stat monitor.
Currently we sell eight different types of biosersso

Median motor;

Median motor/sensory;

Ulnar motor at wrist;

Ulnar motor/sensory;

Combination ulnar motor/sensory at wrist and ubtaglbow;
Peroneal,

Tibial; and

Sural.

The biosensors are designed to be positioned d@ogot@ common anatomical landmarks with a configorathat facilitates correct
placement. We designed the sensors so that thég beweasily and quickly applied with minimal triig by members of a physician’s
office staff. The biosensors are encoded with gumielectronic serial number, which allows us a@kreach biosensor throughout the
manufacturing, shipping and end-use stages. Trsebgwrs also are electronically inactivated afser, thus preventing re-use. This
inactivation is essential since prior use of thesbnsor adhesive and specialized gel would sigmifig degrade the quality of the
measurements. In a typical nerve conduction stomltiple nerves are evaluated and multiple biosenace used according to general
guidelines established by the Center for Medicaid Medicare Services, or CMS, and physician asson@

The table below provides sample testing protoamséveral common clinical indications.

Total Aggregate
Number of Price of
Biosensors Biosensors
Clinical Indication Specific Biosensors Utilizec Utilized Utilized
Diabetic peripheral neuropathy Peroneal (2) 4 $134
Median
Motor/Sensory (1)
Sural (1)
Low back pain with bilateral sciatic Peroneal (2 5 $145
Tibial (2)
Sural (1)
Bilateral carpal tunnel syndron Median 4 $180
Motor/Sensory (2)
Ulnar

Motor/Sensory (2

» NC-stat monitorThe NC-stat monitor is designed for efficient aadyeuse by the physician or a member of the plasieiclinical
staff. The NC-stat monitor can only be operatedhwitir NC-stat




biosensors. This instrument, which is lightweight alightly larger than a cordless telephone, cuites and calibrates the test for each
patient, analyzes neurophysiological signals ctélédérom the biosensor and displays the pertinesults on an LCD screen
immediately at the conclusion of each nerve coridoatudy. It also stores data from multiple pasédior optional transmission to the
onCall Information System. We also sell option#ted components that allow for the testing of loegve segments, such as those
between the elbow and wrist or the knee and foa¢. Monitor is powered for several months by two #edteries. The NC-stat monitor
contains software that performs all the control andlysis algorithms necessary to carry out a neoweluction study. A complete nel
conduction study may be performed with just the itoorand the biosensors. A third generation newagostic system is currently in
development and is expected to be introduced d20ts.

NC-stat docking station and onCall Information 8ysiThe NC-stat docking station is an optional deviw tilutomatically transmits
data from the NC-stat monitor via any availablepélone line, such as those used by facsimile mashia the onCall Information
System that we maintain. The docking station teewn data storage so it does not lose data teleghonic connection to the onCall
Information System cannot be established for same or is disrupted during transmission. The dataitomatically processed by the
onCall Information System and stored in a centedhldase, and a detailed computer generated repoeated for each patient that is
then sent to the physician via facsimile or e-rimathree to four minutes on average. The repotufes the raw waveform data,
comparisons to an age- and height-adjusted nomngler population, study reference table and textzanes of the study, which
facilitate rapid and accurate diagnosis by the s examining the patient. Although the studyadatesented in the onCall report can
be generated manually by the physician using timeemnical measurements displayed by the NC-stat miQriiie report is a convenient
and fast adjunct. Whether using the informatiomfithe onCall report or the N&tat monitor display, the actual clinical interjatéin of
the NC-stat results is always performed by the igieys ordering the study. The onCall Informatiors&yn can also provide daily,
monthly and quarterly reports to customers. Thepents provide assistance in correct submissiothfod-party reimbursement and
assist in tracking overall clinical utilization. &lonCall Information System generally is availaehours per day, seven days per w
Although purchase of the NC-stat docking statiod afilization of the onCall Information System amtirely optional, we believe
substantially all of our customers use this systeall studies they conduct with the NC-stat Systéve currently have a record of over
1.5 million individual nerve tests within the onCialformation system database. We believe thatittic@mation provides us with the
ability to continually improve our products and yide our customers with a very high level of custorservice and value.

Strategy

Our goal is to become the leading provider of iratoae, proprietary, high margin medical deviced firavide comprehensive solutions
for the diagnosis and treatment of patients withropathies. To achieve this objective, we are pgogsthe following business strategies:

Establish the NC-stat System as a Standard of Caueprimary objective is to establish the NC-stgét8m as the standard of care for
point-ofservice assessment of neuropathies. To accompislydal, we dedicate significant efforts to theelepment of marketing a
educational materials that encourage the mediealpropriate use of the NC-stat System by a broagleraf physicians. We also
support clinical studies that are designed to destnate the clinical accuracy and cost-effectivernétshe NC-stat System.

Expand Sales and Marketing Effor§e currently sell our products through 37 regianahagers, three sales representatives and thres
district sales directors who are our direct empésy&Ve
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invest significant amounts of time and money irhtécal, clinical and business practices trainingdor regional managers. We also
have established a sales network with more thand&pendent regional sales agencies employingahdbmore than 500 sales
representatives. Our regional managers utilizessagencies to identify selling opportunities anddsist in the ongoing servicing of our
customers, in order to enhance and leverage thiiimg efforts. We intend to hire more direct regab managers and potentially expand
the number of independent sales agencies and egpatises generating sales leads for our prodircteder to increase the market
penetration of our products.

« Focus on Primary Care MarkeiVe intend to capitalize on the trend towards tliezation of more sophisticated diagnostic and
therapeutic procedures by primary care physiciinsachieve this goal, we have expended and aréncimg to expend significant
resources to establish a physician office distiisuchannel. This channel focuses on primary chgsigians, comprising general
internists, family practice physicians, rheumatdtgy endocrinologists and diabetologists. By dfifgrour system to primary care
physicians, we are also capitalizing on the trewdards convenient and efficient medical care coebtehaving multiple clinical
services provided within one facility.

» Strengthen Our Presence within Selected Speciadikdts.We intend to continue to strengthen our presenti@mspecific physician
specialty markets that are complementary to ouonfapus on the primary care market. These magketgide both revenue
opportunities and additional product validationhiitthe marketplace. We believe that the orthopedarology, pain medicine and
occupational medicine markets represent the mdtsttde specialty markets for expansion.

« Continue to Introduce New ProducWe believe that one of our strengths is our abititgevelop and commercialize innovative
products for neurological applications. We haveagoing program of making enhancements and impremésrto the NC-stat System,
including the introduction of new biosensors. We also developing a third generation neurodiagaaystem. In addition, we are in
the early stages of designing a drug delivery sys$t# the minimally invasive treatment of neuropashby both primary care and
specialist physicians. We are also engaged inglhieldpment of products for the diagnosis of adddlmeuropathies. These potential
new products build upon our mission of enhancirgdimical and business practices of our custonWesbelieve that these potential
new products will improve patient care, allowingtagenerate more revenues at attractive margims frur existing customer base, as
well as to attract new customers.

Market Size

We estimate that there are approximately 2.0 miltiaditional NCS/nEMG procedures currently perfedheach year in the United
States This estimate is based on (1) data from a CDC tépdr996 regarding NCS/nEMG procedures ordergaeoformed during ambulato
patient visits and (2) data from a 2001 CMS repegarding Medicare reimbursement under Currentdthoa@l Terminology, or CPT, codes
nerve conduction studies and assumptions that Megliepresents 30% of the total existing nerve goingh study market and that the average
number of CPT codes used per nerve conduction ssueight. We anticipate that the advantages atcdased availability of the NC-stat
System will significantly increase the number ofugeconduction studies performed.

« We estimate the potential DPN market for a poirsearivice product offering such as the NC-stat Systeuld be over six million
annual patient test§'he number of individuals with diabetes in the @diStates was estimated to be 21.0 million, or 700%e
population. Among this group, approximately 6.0limil were undiagnosed. According to the CDC, traeeabout 26 million annual
patient visits to office-based physicians for dialseWe anticipate that the increasing focus oly e@tection and prevention of the
chronic complications of diabetes will lead to ieased
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nerve conduction studies for DPN. We believe thatdstimated 50% rate of annual foot examinationatients known to have
diabetes is a reasonable estimate for the addiegssting market in diabetes. If these examinatiware replaced by a nerve
conduction study, or a nerve conduction study veelded to the examination, the diabetes arena weplesent an opportunity for over
six million annual NC-stat patient tests. The numifeAmericans with diabetes is projected to mtw@ntdouble over the next 40 to

50 years. At the present time, there are no cuyremrketed pharmaceuticals targeted specificallpRN, and therefore nerve
conduction studies are performed on a selectivis lrasrder to address specific clinical issues thrgeted therapy for DPN were
successfully developed and marketed, we believeatieeof testing would further increase. Basedument clinical trial activity, we
anticipate that drugs for the treatment of DPN wilentually become available in the marketplaceelacating the need to detect DPN
at its earliest stages to allow for earlier therajoeintervention and a decrease in the adversécaliand economic outcomes associated
with DPN.

* We estimate the potential low back pain markeafpoint-of-service product offering such as the §t@r-System could be as great as
three million annual patient testisow back pain is one of the most common medicabd@ns in the United States. Over 63 million
people report experiencing at least one day obaeriow back pain in the prior year. Furthermoagkodisorders account for over one-
quarter of all nonfatal occupational injuries alhgeisses that result in days away from work. Acaaydo the CDC, there are about nine
million annual patient visits to office-based phyyans specifically for low back symptoms. The CRu@tlier estimates that about one-
third of office visits are initial visits, at whidime we believe utilization of the NC-stat Systesnmost likely. We thus anticipate that
there may be as many as approximately three milésting opportunities for nerve conduction testigigted to low back pain for a
point-of-service product offering such as the N&-8ystem. We believe that the number of testiq@dpnities may be even higher, as
there are many patients that visit physicians yongtoms and medical conditions that must be difféated from sciatica, such as leg
and foot symptoms, rheumatoid arthritis and diabete

* We estimate the potential carpal tunnel syndromeketdor a point-of-service product offering suchthe NC-stat System could be as
great as 650,000 annual patient te€E3.S is a significant occupational issue, as therder results in the most days away from work
among all major disabling workplace injuries addgsses. In a recent health care survey publishdtiJournal of the American
Medical Association, approximately 14% of adultgsared symptoms characteristic of CTS. It was frtstimated that 2.5% of adults
have true CTS, which could be confirmed by clinesamination and nerve conduction studies. Thégjisvalent to approximately five
million individuals in the United States. Over 3800 surgeries are performed annually for CTS. Tingisal procedure is called a
carpal tunnel release, or CTR. Most third-partygrayequire a nerve conduction study prior to augirgg CTR surgery. According to
the CDC, there are more than two million annuaityi® office-based physicians for which CTS is phienary diagnosis. The CDC
estimates that about one third of CTS-related efiiisits are initial visits, at which time we bedgeutilization of the NC-stat System is
most likely. As a result, we estimate that therg im@ as many as 650,000 testing opportunitiesi®NC-stat System related to CTS.
We further believe that this estimate is conseveatas there are many patients that visit physicfanhand and wrist pain, or medical
conditions with a high association with CTS suchihesimatoid arthritis, diabetes and obesity. We al#ticipate that the high costs of
CTS-related workers’ compensation claims could wadé employers to increasingly use a point-of-gergiroduct offering such as the
NC-stat System to pre-screen and monitor emplofgeeSTS.

Based on the data outlined above, we estimatahibgiotential market size for a point-of-servicedarct offering such as the NC-stat System
for nerve conduction studies in the diabetes, laakipain and CTS markets in the aggregate cougitdster than 9.5 million annual patient
tests in the United States. We
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estimate that the potential market for NC-stat &ystould be more than $1.0 billion annually in théted States. However, market size is
difficult to predict, and we cannot assure you that estimates will prove to be correct. We belithat additional applications of a point-of-
service product offering such as the N@t System, including the clinical assessmentatiépts with neuropathies caused by or associaiitxc
other clinical disorders, could further increasis tharket size. Additionally, although we have yet quantified the size of the market, we
believe a potential international market opportyeitists for the NC-stat System.

Clinical Studies

The performance of the NC-stat System has beenanilzed in clinical studies that we have suppmbrtiee results of which have been
published in peer-reviewed medical journals or @nésd at major medical conferences.

* In studies published in the April 2000 issue of dJbernal of Occupational & Environmental Medicinthe September 2000 issue of
Neurology and Clinical Neurophysiologynd the May 2004 issue of theurnal of Hand Surgerythe correlation between the results
generated by the N&tat System and traditional nerve conduction stugieneasuring nerve function of 198 patients wasrened. Th
correlation was equivalent to that found betwedfedint neurologists performing traditional nenanduction studies.

« Two abstracts presented at the American Diabetesddation Meeting in June 2004 outline the resoflta study of 1,000 patients with
diabetes. In this study, the NC-stat System wasdda detect DPN at the same level and stage aklmaue been expected from
traditional NCS/nEMG procedures.

* A study published in the December 2002 issuSpifieevaluated the ability of the NC-stat System to ceteurological impairment in
25 patients with sciatica, confirmed by MRI andhidal examination. The diagnostic accuracy of tiie ddat System was equivalent to
traditional NCS/nEMG procedures as documentedversé other published studies.

* In a study published in the August 2005 Americamrdal of Orthopedics, the clinical utility of theONstat System was assessed in 72
patients with carpal tunnel syndrome. The NC-si& found to have a high correlation with traditida@oratory testing. The NC-stat
also measured statistically significant improvenmianmhedian nerve function six months following carfunnel release surgery.

We continue to support well-designed clinical reskatudies utilizing the NGtat System that are designed to demonstratdnisailaccurac
and cost-effectiveness. In addition, several dihgtudies and trials have been performed, and®otre underway, in which the NC-stat
System is used to measure changes in nerve fundii@nNC-stat System was utilized by Eli Lilly irchnical trial of Cymbalta for the
treatment of pain associated with diabetic peripheeuropathy. Cymbalta received FDA approval emghcond half of 2004.

Customers

We market our products directly to physicians. N@&stat System provides primary care physiciang) pieviously were not performing
a nerve conduction study at the point-of-servicevere referring these patients to a neurologistaftaditional NCS/nEMG procedure, with a
potential new source of revenues. As of Decembge305, we had nearly 3,300 active customers. Ngisicustomer accounted for more than
10% of our revenues in 2005, 2004 or 2003.
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Geographic Information

All of our assets, revenues and expenses for taesyended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 wetetbat or derived from operations
in the United States.

Sales, Marketing and Distribution

Our sales team is led by our Chief Operating Offigde presently employ 37 regional sales managiense sales representatives and t
district sales directors who lead more than 75pedeent regional sales agencies employing a tbtabee than 500 independent sales
representatives. We plan to increase the numbergidnal sales managers to a total of 46 by theoétide first quarter of 2006. At present, our
products are marketed and distributed solely withenUnited States. We select our sales agenciesepnesentatives based on their expertise
and experience calling on primary care or speciaftysicians, their reputation within the targetéggician community and their sales
coverage. Each sales agency is assigned a salesyefor the NC-stat System and is subject tdquic performance reviews. Our current
operating practice is to limit coverage overlaphivitmost regions. Through this, we believe we gamore focused sales approach and more
dedicated sales agency organization. Typically,iodependent sales representatives identify patiecistomers for us and assist in monitoring
our existing customer accounts, and our regiorlaksaanagers complete sales to these customerind@@pendent sales agencies do not act as
distributors of our products.

We invest significant efforts in technical, cliniead business practices training for our regionahagers. We work closely with our sales
agencies and their sales representatives in asdeovide them with the information and assistathes¢ they need in order to successfully
generate qualified sales leads for our productsalsfe require each sales representative to atternddic sales and product training programs.
The efforts of our regional sales managers ando@déent sales representatives are enhanced bygtaopisoftware tools that are accessed via
a secure website, which we refer to as the salésales partner portals, respectively. These [@ogigk our sales personnel access to real time
customer sales and product usage information, wadpplications to help identify and close new hess, and marketing materials. The pol
also provide customer relationship management fomgt Our corporate management and reimbursemamt have access to the same
information, as well as portal usage informatioraliysales personnel.

We market our products directly to physicians. N&stat System provides primary care physiciang pieviously were not performing
a nerve conduction study at the point-of-servicevere referring these patients to a neurologisaftraditional NCS/nEMG procedure, with a
potential new source of revenues. We believe thatgotential revenue stream is an essential matkativantage of the NC-stat System. We
also market our products at various industry carfees in order to accelerate the market awarefiess products, our customer accrual
efforts and market adoption for our products.

We generally invoice products directly to physicaifices and other customers, typically at listpda. We currently have a relationship
with one distributor that directly invoices the gigian practice and we invoice the distributorigttprice less a negotiated discount. We ship all
products directly to the customer even in casegevive are selling through a distributor. The indefsnt regional sales agencies and their
sales representatives are compensated by comnss§lon regional managers are compensated by a natids of base salary, commissions
and goal-based bonus compensation.

As we launch new products and increase our maukefiforts with respect to existing products, weid to expand the reach of our
marketing and sales force. We plan to accomplightth increasing the number of direct regional ng@ma and maintaining a broad-based
network of independent sales agencies and repegsarst The establishment and development of @fazgles force will be expensive and t
consuming. Because of the intense competitionhfeir services, we may be unable to enter into ageet¢s with additional qualified
independent sales agencies and representativesmamercially
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reasonable terms or at all. Even if we are abknter into agreements with additional independelatssagencies, these parties may not commit
the necessary resources to effectively market alhdgr products or ultimately be successful ifisglour products. Promotion and sales of
medical devices are also highly regulated not dglyhe FDA, but also by the Federal Trade Commissand are subject to federal and state
fraud and abuse enforcement activities.

In March 2005, we entered into an education anéld@ment program agreement with Eli Lilly and Compaan Indiana corporation,
pursuant to which the parties agreed to work tagetih conduct and present up to eighty-four edanatiand development programs regarding
DPN across the United States. During the secondequaf 2005, the first series of approximately@grams were conducted as originally
planned. In August 2005, Eli Lilly announced th&tsase 11l clinical trial evaluating the use of outstaurin, Eli Lilly’s drug candidate, for the
treatment of DPN did not meet its primary endpgibtg Eli Lilly also announced that it was contimgian ongoing, thregear Phase Ill clinici
trial evaluating the use of ruboxistaurin for theatment of DPN that was scheduled to complet®@v2Since Eli Lilly’'s announcement we
have not conducted, or made any plans to condugtfueither programs with Eli Lilly. The agreemenitiwEli Lilly is scheduled to terminate
September 2006 unless we agree to extend it andayeor may not, conduct additional programs piacthe termination of this agreement.

Manufacturing and Supply

We rely on outside contractors for the manufacture servicing of our products and their componearid,we do not currently maintain
alternative manufacturing sources for the NC-stanitor, docking station or biosensors or any oftreshed goods products. In outsourcing,
we target companies that meet FDA, Internationgla@ization for Standardization, or ISO, and otheality standards supported by internal
policies and procedures. Supplier performance istaiaed and managed through a corrective actiogram ensuring all product requireme
are met or exceeded. We believe these manufactrelationships minimize our capital investment,yide us with manufacturing expertise
and help control costs.

Following the receipt of products or product comgatis from our third-party manufacturers, we condlietnecessary inspection and
packaging and labeling at our corporate headqusfaeility. We may consider manufacturing certaiaducts or product components
internally, if and when demand or quality requirensemake it appropriate to do so. We currently hawvelans to manufacture any products or
product components internally.

We seek to obtain products from our manufacturersder to maintain sufficient inventory to satisfyr customer obligations. We did r
experience any inventory shortages on any estadliproducts in 2005. We occasionally experienagstemt inventory shortages, typically
lasting less than one month, on new products duhegnitial production ramp-up phase. We are attyeworking with our third-party
manufacturers to increase manufacturing capalsiliteneet the demand we expect as we increasealesrefforts. Manufacturers often
experience difficulties in scaling-up production¢luding problems with production yields and quatibntrol and assurance. If our third-party
manufacturers are unable to manufacture our predadteep up with demand, we would not meet exfieasfor growth of our business.

Parlex Polymer Flexible Circuits, Inc., which wasyiously known as PolyFlex Circuits, Inc., a wiyatwned subsidiary of the Parlex
Corporation, or Parlex, has been manufacturing N€ksosensors under general purchase orders sarye1999. While our relationship with
Parlex is good, we do not have a formal supply ement in place with them, although we are negatiasuch an agreement, and it could cease
manufacturing NC-stat biosensors at any time. lfaneeforced to engage an alternative supplier, &g imcur additional expense, higher cost
per unit, delays in delivery and quality controbpilems. We cannot assure you that a supply agrdesilebe successfully negotiated, or if
negotiated, that it will be on reasonable termsleRavas acquired by Johnson Electric, a Hong Koaiged manufacturing company,
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in November 2005. While we do not expect any matetianges in Parlex’s operations as a resulteatguisition, we cannot assure you that
Johnson Electric will not implement changes thay i@ adverse to our company or remain committedeananufacturing of our NC-stat
biosensors.

Sunburst EMS, Inc., or Sunburst, has been manufagtour NC-stat monitors and docking stations siNovember 2005. Previously,
Advanced Electronics, Inc., or AEI, had been maciufiéng our monitors and docking stations since2®unburst could cease manufacturing
NC-stat monitors and docking stations for us at amgtWe are currently negotiating a supply agreeméh Sunburst but we cannot assure
you that we will be able to successfully negotepply agreement, or if negotiated, that the lyugpgreement will be on reasonable ter
We have identified alternative suppliers capalblmanufacturing the NC-stat monitors and dockiredishs should this become necessary.
However, if we are forced to engage an alternatiygplier, we may incur additional expense, higlust per unit, delays in delivery and qua
control problems.

We and our third-party manufacturers are registeri¢id the FDA and subject to compliance with FDAatity system regulations. We are
also IS0 registered and undergo frequent qualgyesy audits by European agencies. Our productsdeaeed for market within the United
States and Canada, and are also approved fohbdigbm in the European Union, although to date aeehsales only in the United States. Our
facility and the facilities of our manufacturerg aubject to periodic unannounced inspections gylatory authorities, and may undergo
compliance inspections conducted by the FDA andesponding state agencies. We experienced an FEpeation in May 2003. During its
inspection, the FDA issued a Form 483, which i®tice of inspection observations. Two minor itemesevidentified and the corrective actions
for both were initiated prior to the completiontbé audit. The responses provided to the FDA wessretd adequate and no further action has
been requested. As a registered device manufactueeaind our manufacturers will undergo regulaclyesiuled FDA quality system
inspections; however, additional FDA inspectiong/mecur if deemed necessary by the FDA.

Information Technology Infrastructure

Our information technology infrastructure is desigrio support the requirements of our onCall Infation System. The onCall
Information System employs a high performance adatalplatform consisting of standard hardware, pet@ry and off-the-shelf system
software components, database servers, proprigpgtjcation servers, a modem bank and desktopagtigihs. The in-bound infrastructure
consists of telephone lines and proprietary compatitins gateway software to collect data from #mate NC-stat Systems. The gateway
assembles the data sent from each remote NC-sthindostation, stores it and queues it for procesbly our proprietary software. The
processing infrastructure consists of proprietafivgare to process each nerve conduction study.olitdound infrastructure consists of a
proprietary report server application and a fax emgil server that is an off-the-shelf product.

The onCall Information System utilizes sophisticatpert system technology to provide real-timeliguaontrol monitoring and
reporting of nerve conduction study results. Th€ahapplications include:

* a communications gateway for receiving test filed apdating the software of remote NC-stat Systems;
» arelational database server to store and retriewge conduction studies;

« an application server to analyze and maintain grgerconduction study data;

» an application server to format and produce neorelaction reports;

» afax and email server to send reports to rematesyand

« aclient application that is designed to monitoality and service customer requests.
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The application servers and client applicationsaissemmon set of software components that fornoti@all class library.

The onCall Information System is physically securedur restricted-access computer room at oufitiesiin Waltham, Massachusetts.
Our computer facility’s electrical power is backgawith auxiliary power in the event of a poweramg. Automated backups of the databases
and computer files are maintained both on- andivéf- We also maintain a lock box at an off-sitealion that contains copies of the business
continuity plan and application server softwarahio the operation of the onCall Information Systihat would be needed in a disaster
recovery situation.

Products Under Development and Research and Develognt

Our research and development efforts are focus#teinear term on further enhancing our existirgglpcts and developing the third
generation neurodiagnostic system and newsi€biosensors, as well as designing a drug dglssestem for the minimally invasive treatm
of neuropathies by both primary care and specipligsicians. Our research and development staffistsnof 20 people, including five who
hold Ph.D. degrees. Our research and developmeunpdras extensive experience in neurophysiologymbdical instrumentation, signal
processing, biomedical sensors and informatioresyst These individuals work closely with our mairkggroup, our clinical support group
(led by a board-certified neurologist), our sciBatadvisors and our customers to design prodinetsdre intended to improve clinical and
economic outcomes.

Devices for the Treatment of Neuropa

In pursuit of our objective to develop medical aea that provide comprehensive solutions for thgmibsis and treatment of patients with
neuropathies, we are seeking to expand our prdziset beyond the diagnostic and into the treatnmrenbaWe believe that our core technol
can be adapted and extended to provide minimaligsive approaches to treating neuropathies. Incpéat, we believe that neuropathies that
are focal, or localized, in nature can be safely effiectively treated if drugs can be deliveredrriba disease site without damaging the ner
the process. Some of these types of treatmen{zeafermed today, but they are performed manuallg tiynited number of physicians. Our
product development program includes the desigmmduct that we believe will reduce the risk iwea in providing these treatments. We
are in the early stages of designing this produetiable a broad base of physicians to provideypis of minimally invasive neuropathy
therapy at the point-of-service.

NC-stat System

We have an ongoing program of making enhancemetsngprovements to the NC-stat System. We are dpirgd new NC-stat
biosensors and associated software for the megiapfiropriate testing of additional nerves. We alsodeveloping our third generation
neurodiagnostic system with an improved user iatexrf along with new features for the onCall InfaiioraSystem, that will allow our
customers to perform more complex analyses of distimdata. In addition, we continually seek waysedduce the manufacturing costs and
improve the performance of the NC-stat biosensors.

NEUROMetrix® , NC-staP and onCall™ are trademarksuos.
During 2005, 2004 and 2003, we spent $3.8 millig$h;3 million and $2.4 million, respectively, on easch and development.
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Customer Service and Clinical Support

Our customer service group consists of six reptasiers. These representatives are available bphehe 12 hours per day, five days per
week (plus limited coverage on Saturday) to addaesgle range of technical questions from custoroarthe use of the NC-stat System,
respond to customer requests for product and elimiaterials that have been released by our marckeg&partment, take orders, and provide
customers with order status information. Our cugioservice representatives receive specializedinggwoduct and clinical training. We also
maintain a clinical support group consisting ofrffidividuals. Our clinical support group is avéila to address questions from our customers
relating to test results and use of our produdiss §roup is led by a board-certified neurologighp is a full-time employee.

Competition

We consider the primary competition for our product be traditional NCS/nEMG procedures. Our siedepends in large part on
convincing physicians to adopt the NC-stat Systemmrder to perform nerve conduction studies aptbhiat-of-service.

There are a number of companies that sell traditibdCS/nEMG equipment, typically to neurologistee$e companies include Viasys
Healthcare Inc., Cadwell Laboratories, Inc and &ec. Viasys Healthcare has substantially grefatancial resources than we do, and they
have established reputations as worldwide distiobuthannels for medical instruments to neurolegistd other physicians. We do not know if
these companies are engaged in research and denslopfforts to develop products to perform poifs@rvice nerve conduction studies that
would be competitive with the NC-stat System. Weawvare of one company, Neumed Inc., that marke&sge conduction study system to
the point-of-service market.

We believe that among systems marketed for perfocmaf nerve conduction studies today, only theXsE-System provides both the
level of diagnostic accuracy, the level of automatind the ease of use required for successfutiadioa of the point-of-service market. We
also believe that the reporting and data repositangtions provided by the onCall Information Systelthough entirely optional, provide our
customers who use this service with significanteatidinical and economic value that is not matdigdther currently marketed products. We
further believe that the expanding database ofeneonduction study data captured by the onCallrin&gion System facilitates our ability to
improve the performance of the NC-stat System. \leebe that the size of our database and ongoipgawements provide us with a
significant competitive advantage.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patents, trademarkpydghts, trade secrets and other intellectual priypaws, nondisclosure agreements
and other measures to protect our proprietary oy, intellectual property rights and know-howe\Wold issued utility patents covering a
number of important aspects of our M@t System. We believe that in order to have apetitive advantage, we must develop and maintad
proprietary aspects of our technologies. Curremtly require our employees, consultants and advieagecute confidentiality agreements in
connection with their employment, consulting oriadwy relationships with us, where appropriate. &&® require our employees, consultants
and advisors who we expect to work on our prodtecegree to disclose and assign to us all inveatammceived during the work day,
developed using our property or which relate tolmsiness. Despite any measures taken to proteattellectual property, unauthorized
parties may attempt to copy aspects of our produrcts obtain and use information that we regargragrietary.
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Patents

As of December 31, 2005, we had 12 issued U.Snpmtthree issued foreign patents and 23 penditempapplications, including 16 U.
applications, one international (PCT applicatiod aix foreign national applications. We also hatdexclusive license to two issued U.S.
patents, one issued foreign patent (Europe) angbending foreign national patent application. T$sied and pending patents that we own anc
license cover, among other things:

» Nerve conduction biosensors and related methods;

» Nerve conduction hardware;

« Algorithms for performing and analyzing nerve coadiilon studies; and
* NC-stat System industrial design.

Our issued design patents begin to expire in 2848 ,our issued utility patents begin to expire@d 2. In particular, seven of our issued
U.S. utility patents covering important aspectswf current products will expire on the same dat2d17. Although the patent protection for
material aspects of our products covered by thenslaf the patents will be lost at that time, weédadditional patents and patent applications
directed to other novel inventions that will haxagnt terms extending beyond 2017.

In general terms, a utility patent protects the wayarticle is used or works, while a design papeatects the way an article looks. More
particularly, utility patents are provided for amenonobvious and useful process, machine, amitteanufacture, composition of matter or
improvement of any of the foregoing. Design patemésprovided for a new, nonobvious and useful meraal design of an article of
manufacture. In a design patent application, thesti matter which is claimed is the design embadtieor applied to an article of
manufacture, or a portion thereof, and not thelartiself. Both design and utility patents maydixained on an article if invention resides both
in its utility and ornamental appearance.

The medical device industry is characterized byetkistence of a large number of patents and freditgration based on allegations of
patent infringement. Patent litigation can invobgamplex factual and legal questions, and its outc@muncertain. Any claim relating to
infringement of patents that is successfully asskaigainst us may require us to pay substantiahdas Even if we were to prevail, any
litigation could be costly and time-consuming anolid divert the attention of our management andgexgonnel from our business
operations. Our success will also depend in padwmot infringing patents issued to others, idolg our competitors and potential
competitors. If our products are found to infrirtge patents of others, our development, manufaetadesale of these potential products could
be severely restricted or prohibited. In addition; competitors may independently develop siméahhologies. Because of the importance of
our patent portfolio to our business, we may loseket share to our competitors if we fail to protear intellectual property rights.

As the number of entrants into our market increabespossibility of a patent infringement claimaagst us grows. Although we have not
received notice of any claims, and are not awaatdhbr products infringe other partigsitents and proprietary rights, our products anthatz
may be covered by U.S. patents held by our congpstitn addition, our competitors may assert thaire products we may market infringe
their patents.

A patent infringement suit brought against us nagéd us or any strategic partners or licensee®pa delay developing, manufacturing
or selling potential products that are claimedntoinge a third party’s intellectual property, usdethat party grants us rights to use its
intellectual property. In such cases, we may baired to obtain licenses to patents or proprietagtyts of others in order to continue to
commercialize our products. However, we may naalile to obtain any licenses required under anynpgter proprietary rights of third parties
on acceptable terms, or at all. Even if we were édblobtain
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rights to the third party’s intellectual propertgese rights may be non-exclusive, thereby givimgammpetitors access to the same intellectual
property. Ultimately, we may be unable to commeizgasome of our potential products or may havegase some of our business operations
as a result of patent infringement claims, whichldseverely harm our business.

Trademarks

We hold domestic and certain foreign trademarkstegtions for the marks NEUROMETRIX and NC-STAT €TU.S. registration for
NEUROMETRIX is on the Supplemental Register. Iniidd, we also have two other pending U.S. tradénagplications for the mai
NEUROMETRIX. We also have a U.S. trademark applicapending for the mark onCa

Third-Party Reimbursement

We anticipate that sales volumes and prices opoadtucts will continue to be dependent in large parthe availability of reimbursement
for our customers from third-party payers and olicps issued by governmental agencies. Third-ppatyers include governmental programs
such as Medicare and Medicaid, private insuranaespland workers’ compensation plans. These orgi@miis may deny coverage and refuse
reimbursement for a diagnostic procedure or spepifbduct such as the N&at System if they determine that the diagnosst ér product w
not medically appropriate or necessary. The thadyppayers may also place limitations on the tygfgshysicians that can perform specific
types of diagnostic procedures. Also, third-padyers are increasingly challenging the prices athfgr medical products and services. In
international markets, reimbursement and healthgayenent systems vary significantly by country, amthy countries have instituted paymr
ceilings on specific product lines and proceduvés.cannot assure you that procedures using ouupteavill be considered medically
reasonable and necessary for a specific indicattia,our products will be considered cost-effextiy third-party payers, that procedures
performed using our products will be reimbursedegzarate procedures under existing CPT codesathadequate level of reimbursement will
be available or that the third-party payers’ cogerand reimbursement policies will not adversefgcifour ability to sell our products
profitably.

A key component in the reimbursement decision bgtrpdvate insurers and CMS, which administers Mad, is the assignment of a
CPT code. This code is used in the submissionaifna to insurers for reimbursement for medical ises: CPT codes are assigned, mainta
and revised by the CPT Editorial Panel administénethe American Medical Association, or AMA. Acdang to present Medicare guidelines,
nerve conduction studies may be performed by medaztors, or M.D.s, and doctors of osteopathiciciad, or D.O.s, and are reimbursable
under the three CPT codes: 95900, 95903, and 9%9684elieve that the nerve conduction measurenpartermed by the NC-stat System
meet the requirements stipulated in the code dagums published by the AMA and that these codescarrently used by physicians
performing nerve conduction studies with the NQ-Sigstem. If the CPT codes that apply to the prooesiperformed using our products are
changed, reimbursement for performances of theseedures may be adversely affected.

In the United States, some insured individualsraceiving their medical care through managed cezgrams, which monitor and often
require pre-approval of the services that a memlilereceive. Some managed care programs are pdkigproviders on a per capita basis,
which puts the providers at financial risk for #ervices provided to their patients by paying th@eeiders a predetermined payment per
member per month, and consequently, may limit thingness of these providers to use our products.

We believe that the overall escalating cost of madiroducts and services has led to, and willinaetto lead to, increased pressures on
the healthcare industry to reduce the costs ofymisdand services. We cannot assure you that plairy- reimbursement and coverage will be
available or adequate,
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or that future legislation, regulation, or reimemeent policies of third-party payers will not acsedy affect the demand for our products or our
ability to sell these products on a profitable bashe unavailability or inadequacy of third-papyer coverage or reimbursement could have a
material adverse effect on our business, operagisglts and financial condition.

In addition, we believe there may be pressure agpn payer organizations by specialists, sucleasoiogists, who perform traditional
nerve conduction studies and view the NC-stat Syste competitive with their business.

FDA and Other Governmental Regulation
FDA Regulatior

Our products are medical devices subject to extensigulation by the FDA under the U.S. Food, Dargl Cosmetic Act, as well as ot
regulatory bodies. FDA regulations govern, amorgpthings, the following activities that we or aantract manufacturers perform and will
continue to perform to ensure that medical devilissibuted domestically or exported internatiopalie safe and effective for their intended
use:

« product design and development;
e product testing;

» product manufacturing;

¢ product labeling;

e product safety;

e product storage;

» pre-market clearance or approval;
« recordkeeping;

¢ advertising and promotion;

e production

« postmarket surveillance and reporting; and
« product sales and distribution.

The FDA classifies medical devices into one of éhetkasses on the basis of the controls deemedseagds reasonably ensure their sa
and effectiveness:

» Class I, requiring general controls, including lidog, device listing, reporting and, for some protiy adherence to good manufacturing
practices through the FDA's quality system regolagiand pre-market notification;

» Class Il, requiring general controls and speciaticds, which may include performance standardspost-market surveillance; and
» Class lll, requiring general controls and pre-maggproval.

Before being introduced into the market, our praslimeust obtain market clearance through eithebilt¥k) pre-market notification
process, thele novareview process or the pre-market approval process.
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510(k) Pre-Market Notification Process

To obtain 510(k) clearance, we must submit a preketanotification demonstrating that the proposedick is substantially equivalent in
intended use, safety and effectiveness to a legaisketed Class | or Il medical device or to a €ldlsdevice marketed prior to May 28, 1976
for which the FDA has not yet required the submissif a pre-market approval application. In somsesawe may be required to perform
clinical trials to support a claim of substantiguéalence. It generally takes from three to twatwenths from the date of submission to obtain
510(k) clearance, but it may take longer.

After a medical device receives 510(k) clearanog,raodification that could significantly affect gsfety or effectiveness, or that would
constitute a significant change in its intended usguires a new 510(k) clearance or could reqigraovoclassification or prenarket approva
The FDA allows each company to make this deterridnabut the FDA can review the decision. If theA-Bisagrees with a company’s
decision not to seek FDA authorization, the FDA metyoactively require the company to seek 510@m@ncede novoclassification or pre-
market approval. The FDA also can require the cappa cease marketing and/or recall the medicalcgem question until 510(k) clearance,
de novcclassification or pre-market approval is obtainetbéie other action.

De Novo Review Proce

If a previously unclassified medical device doesqumlify for the 510(k) pre-market notificationqmess because there is no predicate
device to which it is substantially equivalent, aithe device may be adequately regulated thrayagteral controls or special controls, the
device may be eligible fate novoclassification through what is called tte novareview process. In order to use tfenovareview process, a
company must receive a letter from the FDA statitad, because the device has been found not stibfitaaquivalent to a legally marketed
Class | or Il medical device or to a Class Il devimarketed prior to May 28, 1976 for which the FBes not yet required the submission of a
pre-market approval application, it has been placexiClass IIl. After receiving this letter, therapany, within 30 days, must submit to the
FDA a request fode novcclassification into Class | or II. The FDA then t&&days in which to approve or deny tlenovoclassification
request. If the FDA grantde novaclassification, the device will be placed into eitiClass | or Class Il, and allowed to be markelfeal.
product is classified into Class | or Il througle the novareview process, then that device may serve asdigate device for subsequent 510
(k) pre-market notifications.

Pre-Market Approval Process

If a medical device does not qualify for the 51Q§kg-market notification process and is not eligifar clearance through tide novo
review process, a company must file a pre-markptaal application. The pre-market approval proggsserally requires more extensive pre-
filing testing than is required in the 510(k) preuet notification process and is more costly, tapgnd uncertain. The pre-market approval
process can take one to three years or longerpiighenarket approval process requires the compapyotee the safety and effectiveness of the
device to the FDA'’s satisfaction through extensiubmissions, including pre-clinical and clinicaatdata, and information about the device,
its design, manufacture, labeling and componergfoi® granting pre-market approval, the FDA gemgrdbo performs an on-site inspection
of manufacturing facilities for the product to erssaompliance with the FDA'’s quality system regiaas. After any pre-market approval, a
new premarket approval application or application suppletmaay be required in the event of modificationsh® device, its labeling, intend
use or indication, or its manufacturing process.
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Clinical Studies

A clinical study is almost always required to sugigopre-market approval application and is somesgimequired to obtain 510
(k) clearance. Before conducting clinical trialspanufacturer generally must submit to the FDA jgpliaation for an investigational device
exemption, or IDE. The IDE application must be supgd by appropriate data, such as animal and d&wyrtesting results, showing that it is
safe to test the device in humans and that thimgegtotocol is scientifically sound. If a mediadvice is considered a “non-significamigk, ar
IDE application to the FDA is not required. Insteadly approval from the Institutional Review Boargerseeing the clinical trial is required.
The IDE application must be approved in advancehbyFDA for a specified number of patients, untbesproduct is deemed a non-significant
risk device and eligible for more abbreviated inigegional device exemption requirements. Clintecills for a significant risk device may
begin once the investigational device exemptiorieation is approved by the FDA and the appropriagtitutional review boards at the
clinical study sites. All clinical studies must denducted in accordance with FDA regulations aerfal regulations concerning human suk
protection and healthcare privacy. Failure to comyth these requirements can prevent the clirtical sponsor from using the study data, and
could result in regulatory enforcement or liabiliBven if all regulatory standards are met, thelts®f our clinical testing may not support or
may not be sufficient to obtain clearance or apaléer our product.

NC-stat System

The NC-stat System has received five 510(k) clearsas a Class Il medical device, the first of Whias received in 1998, and the most
recent (K0O41320) in August 2004. The NC-stat Systasthe following intended use:

The NEUROMetrix NC-stat is intended to measure arauscular signals that are useful in diagnosing amdluating systemic
and entrapment neuropathies.

We believe that this intended use is consistertt thié¢ manner in which the NC-stat System is madketel used by our customers. Since
we received our most recent 510(k) clearance ®MNE-stat System in August 2004, we have enhareI€-stat System by making changes
to the software it employs. We do not believe thase changes require new 510(k) clearances. \ireefuselieve that the addition of new
indications and enhancements to the NC-stat Systéhe future either will not require new FDA autlzation or will be able to be cleared
using the 510(k) pre-market notification processwidver, the FDA could disagree, and could requsréothalt selling and/or recall the product
until we obtain 510(k) clearance or pre-market apal.

Pos-Market Regulation
After a device is placed on the market, numerogslegory requirements apply. These include:

« quality system regulations, which require manufeartuito follow design, testing, control, documeistaiand other quality assurance
procedures during the manufacturing process;

« labeling regulations, which prohibit the promotiginproducts for unapproved or “off-label” uses amgose other restrictions on
labeling; and

« medical device reporting regulations, which reqtive manufacturers, which term includes compasies$ as us that create the
specifications for the regulated products, repmthe FDA if their device may have caused or cbnted to a death or serious injury or
malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause ontibute to a death or serious injury if it weoerécur.

Also, we are subject to unannounced inspectiorth®y¥DA, and these inspections may include the fiaatwring facilities of our contractor
manufacturers.
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Failure to comply with applicable regulatory re@gurents can result in enforcement action by the Ritich may include any of the
following sanctions:

« warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent desraad civil penalties;
* repair, replacement, refund, recall or seizurewfproducts;
» operating restrictions, suspension or shutdowrradction;

« refusing our request for 510(k) clearance or preketaapproval of new products, new intended usesatifications to existing
products;

« withdrawing 510(k) clearance or pre-market appretaht already have been granted; and

< criminal prosecution.

International Regulation

International sales of medical devices are suligefdreign governmental regulations, which varysahtially from country to country.
The time required to obtain approval by a foreigardry may be longer or shorter than that requioed-DA approval, and the requirements
may differ.

The primary regulatory environment in Europe ig thfethe European Union, which consists of 25 cdaatencompassing most of the
major countries in Europe. Other countries, sucBwigzerland, have voluntarily adopted laws anditatipns that mirror those of the Europt
Union with respect to medical devices. The Europgaion has adopted numerous directives and stasdagiilating the design, manufacture,
clinical trials, labeling, and adverse event reipgrfor medical devices. Devices that comply wiike tequirements of a relevant directive are
entitled to bear CE conformity marking, indicatitihgit the device conforms with the essential requénets of the applicable directives and,
accordingly, can be commercially distributed throoigt Europe. The method of assessing conformitigsatepending on the class of the
product, but may involve self-assessment by theuf@aturer, a third-party assessment by a NotifiedyB which is a third-party organization
appointed by a member of the European Union, orescombination thereof. This third-party assessmey consist of an audit of the
manufacturer’s quality system and specific testihthe manufacturer’s product. An assessment byt#idd Body in one country within the
European Union generally is required in order fonanufacturer to distribute the product commergitiifoughout the European Union. In
2000, we were certified by TUV Product Service,ified Body, under the European Union Medical @evDirective allowing the CE
conformity marking to be applied to the NC-statt8ys. We had a successful renewal audit in 2005.

U.S. Anti-Kickback and False Claims Laws

In the United States, there are federal and statekigkback laws that prohibit the offer, paymesw]icitation or receipt of kickbacks,
bribes or other remuneration intended, among dtfiegs, to induce the purchase or recommendatidrealthcare products and services.
Violations of these laws can lead to severe civd ariminal penalties, including exclusion from t@pation in federal healthcare programs.
These laws are potentially applicable to manufactiof medical devices, such as us, and to hospphysicians and other potential purchasers
of medical devices. Other provisions of state aukfal law provide civil and criminal penalties foesenting, or causing to be presented, to
third-party payers for reimbursement, claims thatfalse or fraudulent, or which are for items envices that were not provided as claimed.
Under the federal civil False Claims Act, in adulitito actions initiated by federal law enforcemautorities, the statute authorized “qui tam”
actions to be brought on behalf of the federal govent by a private party in certain circumstarames, if successful, that private party can
share in any monetary recovery. Although we beliseenhave and will continue to structure our bussnetationships with purchasers of our
products to comply with these and other applicédles, it is possible
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that some of our business practices could be sttgescrutiny and challenge by federal or stat@e@ment officials or others under these I
This type of challenge could have a material adveffect on our business, financial condition agslitts of operations.

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Axft1996 and Related Lav

Federal and state laws protect the confidentialityertain patient health information, includindipat records, and restrict the use and
disclosure of that protected information. In partée, the U.S. Department of Health and Human $ess/promulgated patient privacy
rules under HIPAA. These privacy rules protect maldiecords and other personal health informatiphniting their use and disclosure,
giving individuals the right to access, amend ageksaccounting of their protected health informmatiad limiting most use and disclosures of
health information to the minimum amount reasonaiglgessary to accomplish the intended purpose.ali@/b that, as a medical device
manufacturer, we are not directly subject to thBA privacy rules. In addition, we only receiveipat data in our onCall Information Systt
on an anonymous basis, with all patient specifiorimation deidentified. Nevertheless, we seek to comply withluanber of the HIPPA privac
rules. We believe that we are not in violationeddral or state health information privacy or cdefitiality statutes or regulations. However, if
we are found to have violated any of these lawscowdd be subject to civil or criminal penaltiesdditionally, changes in these laws could
adversely affect our business.

Employees

As of December 31, 2005, we had a total of 100 eygas. Of the total employees, 21 were in reseamdhdevelopment, 53 in sales and
marketing and 26 in general and administrativeisesv Two employees hold both M.D. and Ph.D. degjridee additional employees hold
Ph.D. degrees and one additional employee hold4.Bn degree.

Our employees are not represented by a labor wamdrare not subject to a collective bargaining emgent. We have never experienced a
work stoppage. We believe our relations with oupkyees are good.

Available Information

Access to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quart&dports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form&i amendments to these
reports filed with or furnished to the Securitiesld&xchange Commission, or SEC, may be obtainedigftr the Investor Relations section of
our website at www.neurometrix.com/investor as sa®neasonably practical after we electronicalgy/dr furnish these reports. We do not
charge for access to and viewing of these replorfisrmation on our Investor Relations page and mnveebsite is not part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K or any of our other securifilisgs unless specifically incorporated hereinrbference. In addition, the public may read
and copy any materials that we file with the SEGatSEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Strelef,Washington, D.C. 20549. The public
may obtain information on the operation of the RuBleference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SB8B0AIso, our filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission may be acctssraih the Securities and Exchange Commissiom@stEinic Data Gathering, Analysis
and Retrieval system at www.sec.gov. All statemerdde in any of our securities filings, includidbfarward-looking statements or
information, are made as of the date of the doctiinerhich the statement is included, and we doassume or undertake any obligation to
update any of those statements or documents wukesse required to do so by law.
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ITEM 1A. RISKFACTORS

You should carefully consider the following riskelall other information contained in this annuaport on Form 10-K and our other
public filings before making any investment decisiwith respect to our common stock. If any ofdotlewing risks occurs, our busines
prospects, reputation, results of operations oafficial condition could be harmed. In that case,ttlaeling price of our common stock cot
decline, and our stockholders could lose all ortprtheir investment. This annual report also @dm$ forwardlooking statements that invol
risks and uncertainties. Our actual results couified materially from those anticipated in the f@wmd-looking statements as a result of specific
factors, including the risks described below argkelhere in this annual repo

We have incurred significant operating losses sindaception and cannot assure you that we will susta profitability.

Since our inception in 1996, we have incurred legseery quarter with the exception of the third #outh quarters of 2005. We began
commercial sales of our products in May 1999 anchaxee yet to demonstrate that we can consistertigigite sufficient sales of our products
to sustain profitability. The extent of our futwperating income or losses is highly uncertain, @wadnay not be able to sustain profitability.
We have incurred significant net losses since meeption, including net losses of approximately7$8illion in 2001, $4.8 million in 2002,
$3.7 million in 2003 and $4.3 million for in 2004h. 2005 we recorded net income of $938,200. At Drdmer 31, 2005, we had an accumulated
deficit of approximately $56.5 million. We cannaisare you that we will be able to sustain the pabfiity achieved in 2005.

If physicians or other healthcare providers are unale to obtain sufficient reimbursement from third-party healthcare payers for
procedures performed using the NC-stat System, thedoption of the NC-stat System and our future produat sales will be severely
harmed.

Widespread adoption of the NC-stat System by théicakcommunity is unlikely to occur if physiciade not receive sufficient
reimbursement from third-party payers for perforgniverve conduction studies using the NC-stat Systeifncertain changes are imposed on
the professional requirements for performing nexweduction studies and we may be required to expahdtantial resources to address
potential reimbursement issues with third-partygray|f physicians are unable to obtain adequatetnesement for procedures performed
using the NC-stat System, we may be unable tdlseINC-stat System and our business would suffgifggantly. Additionally, even if these
procedures are reimbursed by third-party payenrsgrae changes in payers’ policies toward reimbuesgrfor the procedures would harm our
ability to market and sell the NC-stat System. ditparty payers include those governmental progsuch as Medicare and Medicaid,
workers’ compensation programs, private healthriersuand other organizations. These third-partyepmagnay deny coverage if they determine
that a procedure was not reasonable or necessamxdmple, if its use was not considered mediagiyropriate, or was experimental, or was
performed for an unapproved indication. In additieome health care systems are moving towards redreage arrangements in which they
contract to provide comprehensive healthcare foteal cost per person, irrespective of the amodicaoe actually provided. These providers,
in an effort to control healthcare costs, are iasiegly challenging the prices charged for medicatiucts and services and, in some instances,
have pressured medical suppliers to lower thetesrilf we are pressured to lower our prices, euemues may decline and our profitability
could be harmed. CMS guidelines set the reimbursenages for procedures covered by Medicare. Futgalatory action by CMS or other
governmental agencies or negative clinical resuliy diminish reimbursement payments to physicianpé&rforming procedures using the NC-
stat System. Medicaid reimbursement differs froatesto state, and some state Medicaid programshatagimburse physicians for perform
procedures using the NC-stat System in an adequadent, if at all. Additionally, some private payeio not follow the CMS and Medicaid
guidelines and may reimburse for
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only a portion of these procedures or not at ak. &k unable to predict what changes will be madke reimbursement methods used by
private or governmental thirdarty payers. Additionally, we may be required xpend substantial resources to address potenitiabuesemen
issues with third party payers.

We may be unable to expand the market for the NC-at System, which would limit our ability to increase our revenues.

We believe that the drawbacks of traditional neaeeduction studies, including those related toréferral process, and the limited
treatment options for DPN, have limited the nunmdfemerve conduction studies that are performed.deoifuture growth, we are relying, in
part, on increased use of nerve conduction studi@simber of factors could limit the increased aaerve conduction studies and the K@t
System, including:

« third-party payers challenging, or the threat afdtiparty payers challenging, the necessity oféased levels of nerve conduction
studies;

third-party payers reducing or eliminating reimkament for procedures performed by physicians uiadNC-stat System;

unfavorable experiences by physicians using thesN€System;
« physicians’ reluctance to alter their existing pices; and

« the failure of other companies’ existing drug depehent programs to produce an effective treatn@mDPN, which may limit the
perceived need and the actual use of the NC-s&eByin connection with this disease, and theribly br delay our growth in the
DPN market, which we have estimated to be our kirgetential market for our NC-stat System.

If we are unable to expand the market for the NiZ-System, our ability to increase our revenuebheillimited and our business
prospects will be adversely affected.

We may not be able to accurately predict the sizef the market for our NC-stat System.

We may not be able to accurately predict the sizBemarket for products used to diagnose neuhigmtsuch as our NC-stat System.
Neuropathies traditionally have been diagnosednloM@S/nEMG procedure, performed by a neurologigthysician in a related specialty. \
estimate that there are approximately 2.0 millraaitional NCS/nEMG procedures performed each yretire United States; however, we
anticipate that the advantages and increased hiltylaf the NC-stat System will significantly increase the numbenerve conduction studi
performed. Based on our analysis of current dateestimate that the potential market size for tlestat System in the diabetes, low back
and carpal tunnel syndrome markets in the aggregatiel be greater than 9.5 million annual patiestd. This represents a significant increase
in the size of the market for nerve conduction Esi@nd is based upon a number of assumptionssdinebg¢es, which themselves may not be
accurate. For example, we have assumed that @l iaffice visits for low back pain may represamt opportunity for use of the NC-stat
System, and we have estimated that an annualdestia of 50% for all individuals diagnosed witlaloietes represents the potential addressabl
market in diabetes. Market size is difficult to ghiet, and we cannot assure you that our assumptioastimates will prove to be correct. The
industry and market data in this annual report om¥10-K on which we have based our assumptionseatichates of future market size, may
be inaccurate or incomplete, and we have not intdgely verified those data. If our estimate of $hee of the market for our NC-stat System
is incorrect, our potential revenue growth mayibgtéd.
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If we are unable to successfully sell the N\-stat System to primary care physicians, our abilityto increase our revenues will be limited

We are focusing our sales and marketing effortsiferNC-stat System on primary care physiciangh&se physicians traditionally have
not been targeted by companies selling equipmestt tesperform nerve conduction studies, we may dffieulties in selling our products to
them. Particularly, we may be unable to convin@s¢hphysicians that the NsTat System provides an effective alternative efulsupplemer
to existing testing methods. In addition, thesesitigns may be reluctant to make the capital imaest to purchase the NC-stat System and
alter their existing practices. If we are unablsuocessfully sell the NC-stat System to primang gdnysicians, our ability to increase our
revenues will be severely limited.

We are dependent on two single source manufacturete produce all of our current products, and any clange in our relationship with
either of these manufacturers could prevent us frondelivering products to our customers in a timely manner and may adversely impac
our future revenues or costs.

We rely on two third-party manufacturers to mantdee all of our current products. In the event #ittter of our manufacturers ceases to
manufacture sufficient quantities of our produatgitimely manner and on terms acceptable to usyoudd be forced to locate an alternate
manufacturer. Additionally, if either of our manafarers experiences a failure in its productiorcpss, is unable to obtain sufficient quantities
of the components necessary to manufacture ouuptear otherwise fails to meet our quality requieats, we may be forced to delay the
manufacture and sale of our products or locatdtamative manufacturer. We may be unable to losatble alternative manufacturers for
our products, particularly our NC-stat biosenstoswhich the manufacturing process is relativgdg&alized, on terms acceptable to us, or at
all. Currently, we rely on a single manufacturearl®x, for the manufacture of the NC-stat biosessand a single manufacturer, Sunburst, for
the manufacture of our NC-stat monitors and docktagions. We order all of our products from Padexa purchase order basis. Because we
do not have a supply agreement in place with PaRarex may cease manufacturing our productsave@se the price it charges us for our
products at any time. Johnson Electric, a Hong Kmesged manufacturing company, acquired Parlexpwelhber 2005. We cannot assure you
that the acquisition will not have a material acdecimpact on our relationship with Parlex or thatnkon Electric will remain committed to the
manufacturing of our biosensors. The manufactuoiitpe NC-stat monitors and devices was transitidnem AEI to Sunburst in
November 2005 as a result of a decision by AEhiat slown its operations. We cannot assure youthigatransition will proceed smoothly
that Sunburst will be able to manufacture NC-stahitors and docking stations with the same levejuadlity and on the same delivery
schedule as AEIL. We do occasionally experiencesiean inventory shortages, typically lasting léssnt one month, on new products during the
initial production ramp-up phase. If any of the mpes in our relationships with these manufactuasrdescribed above occurs, our ability to
supply our customers will be severely limited unté are able to engage an alternate manufacturéramplicable, resolve any quality issues
with our existing manufacturer. This situation abplevent us from delivering products to our cusgtmrin a timely manner, lead to decreased
sales or increased costs, or harm our reputatitnaur customers.

If our manufacturers are unable to supply us with a adequate supply of products as we expand our maeks, we could lose customers,
our growth could be limited and our business couldbe harmed.

In order for us successfully to expand our busimg#sin the United States and internationally, oantract manufacturers must be able to
provide us with the products that comprise the NE-System in substantial quantities, in complianib regulatory requirements, in
accordance with agreed upon specifications, atpdabe cost and on a timely basis. Our anticipgtesvth may strain the ability of our
manufacturers to deliver an increasingly large suppproducts and obtain materials and componegnssifficient quantities. Manufacturers
often experience difficulties in scaling up prodaot including
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problems with production yields and quality contold assurance. If we are unable to obtain sufficje@antities of high quality products to
meet customer demand on a timely basis, we coskldastomers, our growth may be limited and ouiniess could be harmed.

We currently rely entirely on sales of the productdhat comprise the NC-stat System to generate revaas, and any factors that
negatively impact our sales of these products coukldgnificantly reduce our ability to generate revenes.

We introduced the NC-stat System to the market ay #999. We derive all of our revenues from safab® products that comprise the
NC-stat System, and we expect that sales of theskipi®will continue to constitute the substantiajarnity of our sales for the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, our ability to generate revesus entirely reliant on our ability to market as&dl the products that comprise the NC-stat
System, particularly the disposable biosensorsssafl which accounted for approximately 87.7%, 8v&hd 85.8% of our total revenues in
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Our sales aktipeoducts may be negatively impacted by manypfacincluding:

« changes in reimbursement rates or policies relatraur products by third-party payers;

« the failure of the market to accept our products;

* manufacturing problems;

< claims that our products infringe on patent right®ther intellectual property rights owned by otparties;

« adverse regulatory or legal actions relating toproducts;

e competitive pricing and related factors; and

« results of clinical studies relating to our product our competitors’ products.

If any of these events occurs, our ability to gateerevenues could be significantly reduced.
The patent rights we rely upon to protect the intdectual property underlying our products may not beadequate, which could enable
third parties to use our technology and would harnmour ability to compete in the market.

Our success will depend in part on our ability éwelop or acquire commercially valuable patenttdgind to protect these rights
adequately. Our patent position is generally uagednd involves complex legal and factual questidine risks and uncertainties that we face
with respect to our patents and other related sigitlude the following:

« the pending patent applications we have filed avliech we have exclusive rights may not resulissued patents or may take longer
than we expect to result in issued patents;

« the claims of any patents that are issued may movige meaningful protection;
* we may not be able to develop additional proprietachnologies that are patentable;
» other parties may challenge patents, patent claimpsitent applications licensed or issued to ud; an

« other companies may design around technologiesawe patented, licensed or developed.

We also may not be able to protect our patentsigffectively in some foreign countries. For a &griof reasons, we may decide not to
file for patent protection. Our patent rights urgieg our products may not be adequate, and oumpetitors or customers may design around
our proprietary technologies or independently depelimilar or alternative technologies or produbtg are equal or
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superior to our technology and products withoutingfing on any of our patent rights. In additidme fpatents licensed or issued to us may not
provide a competitive advantage. If any of thesengvwere to occur, our ability to compete in trerkat would be harmed.

Other rights and measures we have taken to protecur intellectual property may not be adequate, whih would harm our ability to
compete in the market.

In addition to patents, we rely on a combinatiorafle secrets, copyright and trademark laws, denfiality, nondisclosure and
assignment of invention agreements and other acintxbprovisions and technical measures to pratecintellectual property rights. In
particular, we have sought no patent protectiortfertechnology and algorithms we use in our onfBédirmation System, and we rely on tr:
secrets to protect this information. While we catlerequire employees, consultants and other théndies to enter into confidentiality, non-
disclosure or assignment of invention agreemengsammbination thereof where appropriate, any effthlowing could still occur:

« the agreements may be breached,;
* we may have inadequate remedies for any breach;
 trade secrets and other proprietary informatioriccbe disclosed to our competitors; or

« others may independently develop substantially\edeint proprietary information and techniques ¢reotvise gain access to our trade
secrets or disclose such technologies.

If, for any of the above reasons, our intellecpralperty is disclosed or misappropriated, it wouddm our ability to protect our rights and
our competitive position.
We may need to initiate lawsuits to protect or enfice our patents and other intellectual property richts, which could be expensive and,
if we lose, could cause us to lose some of our iifeetual property rights, which would harm our ability to compete in the market.

We rely on patents to protect a portion of ourllatgual property and our competitive position.dPataw relating to the scope of claim:
the technology fields in which we operate is glblving and, consequently, patent positions inntieglical device industry are generally
uncertain. In order to protect or enforce our patights, we may initiate patent litigation agaittsitd parties, such as infringement suits or
interference proceedings. Litigation may be neagdsa

» assert claims of infringement;

 enforce our patents;

« protect our trade secrets or know-how; or

« determine the enforceability, scope and validityhef proprietary rights of others.

Any lawsuits that we initiate could be expensiaket significant time and divert management’s aiv@nfrom other business concerns.
Litigation also puts our patents at risk of beingalidated or interpreted narrowly and our pat@miaations at risk of not issuing. Additional
we may provoke third parties to assert claims agjais. We may not prevail in any lawsuits that migate and the damages or other remedies
awarded, if any, may not be commercially valualblee occurrence of any of these events could hambasiness, our ability to compete in
market or our reputation.
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Claims that our products infringe on the proprietary rights of others could adversely affect our abitiy to sell our products and increase
our costs.

Substantial litigation over intellectual properights exists in the medical device industry. Weestghat our products could be
increasingly subject to third-party infringemeraiahs as the number of competitors grows and thetifumality of products and technology in
different industry segments overlap. Third partiesy currently have, or may eventually be issuetkra on which our products or
technologies may infringe. Any of these third pestmight make a claim of infringement against usy Atigation regardless of its impact
would likely result in the expenditure of signifdfinancial resources and the diversion of managgts time and resources. In addition,
litigation in which we are accused of infringememy cause negative publicity, adversely impactmpeosve customers, cause product
shipment delays or require us to develop non-igfrig technology, make substantial payments to théndies, or enter into royalty or license
agreements, which may not be available on acceptabhs, or at all. If a successful claim of infflgment were made against us and we could
not develop non-infringing technology or license thfringed or similar technology on a timely arabteffective basis, our revenues may
decrease substantially and we could be exposeddrifisant liability.

We are subject to extensive regulation by the U.$ood and Drug Administration, which could restrict the sales and marketing of the
NC-stat System and could cause us to incur signifiat costs.

We sell medical devices that are subject to extensgulation in the United States by the FDA fanufacturing, labeling, sale,
promotion, distribution and shipping. Before a needical device, or a new use of or claim for arstxg product, can be marketed in the
United States, it must first receive either 51@karance, grant ofde novcclassification or pre-marketing approval from tHeA; unless an
exemption applies. We may be required to obtaiava 510(k) clearance ale novcclassification or pre-market approval for signifit@ost-
market modifications to our products. Each of theseesses can be expensive and lengthy. The FrAtess for obtaining 510(k) clearance
usually takes from three to twelve months, butit tast longer. The process for obtaining de ndassiication involves a level of scrutiny
similar to the 510(k) clearance process. The pmfmsobtaining pre-market approval is much morgtlgaand uncertain and it generally takes
from one to three years, or longer, from the tileedpplication is filed with the FDA.

Medical devices may be marketed only for the intilices for which they are approved or cleared. Waehzbtained 510(k) clearance for
the current clinical applications for which we metrlour products. However, our clearances can hekeslif safety or effectiveness problems
develop. Further, we may not be able to obtaintamdil 510(k) clearances or premarket approvals&v products or for modifications to, or
additional indications for, our existing produatsai timely fashion, or at all. Delays in obtainfisgure clearances would adversely affect our
ability to introduce new or enhanced products fimeely manner, which in turn would harm our revemnel future profitability. We have made
modifications to our devices in the past and makeradditional modifications in the future that welibve do not or will not require additional
clearances or approvals. If the FDA disagrees,raqdires new clearances or approvals for the naaditins, we may be required to recall and
to stop marketing the modified devices. We alsosatgect to numerous post-marketing regulatory ireqents, including quality system
regulations, which relate to the manufacturing wf products, labeling regulations and medical devéporting regulations. Our failure or
either contract manufacturer’s failure to complyhnapplicable regulatory requirements could reisuéinforcement action by the FDA, which
may include any of the following sanctions:

« warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent desraad civil penalties;
¢ requiring repair, replacement, refunds, recallezwre of our products;

» imposing operating restrictions, suspension ordiwih of production;
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« refusing our requests for 510(k) clearance or pageket approval of new products, new intended uzesiodifications to existing
products;

« withdrawing 510(k) clearance or pre-market appretaht have already been granted; and
< criminal prosecution.
If any of these events were to occur, they coultnhaur reputation, our ability to generate revenares our profitability.

If we or our contract manufacturers fail to comply with the FDA'’s quality system regulations, the mantacturing and distribution of
our products could be interrupted, and our productsales and operating results could suffer.

We and our contract manufacturers are requiredngpty with the FDA'’s quality system regulations,ialnis a complex regulatory
scheme that covers the procedures and documentdtiba design, testing, production, control, qyadissurance, labeling, packaging,
sterilization, storage and shipping of our devidése FDA enforces its quality system regulationstigh periodic unannounced inspections.
We cannot assure you that our facilities or ourtiza manufacturerdacilities would pass any future quality systenpiastion. If our or any ¢
our contract manufacturer&cilities fails a quality system inspection, thamafacturing or distribution of our products cobleinterrupted an
our operations disrupted. Failure to take adeqaadktimely corrective action in response to an exbvguality system inspection could force a
suspension or shutdown of our packaging and lafpelperations, the manufacturing operations of outract manufacturers or a recall of our
products. If any of these events occurs, we maypadable to provide our customers with the quamtitgroducts they require on a timely ba
our reputation could be harmed, and we could lostoeners and suffer reduced revenues and increasts

Our products are subject to recalls even after redeing FDA clearance or approval, which would harm arr reputation, business and
financial results.

We are subject to the medical device reporting legguns, which require us to report to the FDAfr@roducts cause or contribute to a
death or serious injury, or malfunction in a wagtttvould likely cause or contribute to a deathesiais injury. The FDA and similar
governmental bodies in other countries have thieagily to require the recall of our products if eour contract manufacturers fail to comply
with relevant regulations pertaining to manufactgrpractices, labeling, advertising or promoticaetivities, or if new nformation is obtained
concerning the safety or efficacy of our produétgiovernment-mandated or voluntary recall by ud@@gcur as a result of manufacturing
defects, labeling deficiencies, packaging defectstlver failures to comply with applicable regutais. Any recall would divert management
attention and financial resources and harm ourtadjom with customers. A recall involving the NGsBystem would be particularly harmful
to our business and financial results becausertidupts that comprise the NC-stat System are cilyrear only products.

We are subject to federal and state laws prohibitig “kickbacks” and false or fraudulent claims, which if violated, could subject us to
substantial penalties. Additionally, any challengéo or investigation into our practices under thesdaws could cause adverse publicity
and be costly to respond to, and thus could harm @lusiness.

A federal law commonly known as the Medicare/Meitianti-kickback law, and several similar statedaprohibit payments that are
intended to induce physicians or others eitheeterrpatients or to acquire or arrange for or revemd the acquisition of healthcare produc
services. These laws constrain our sales, markatidgother promotional activities by limiting thiméts of financial arrangements, including
sales programs, we may have with hospitals, preysécor other potential purchasers of medical devicgher federal and state laws generally
prohibit individuals or entities from
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knowingly presenting, or causing to be presentkxiims for payment from Medicare, Medicaid or ottiérd-party payers that are false or
fraudulent, or for items or services that wereprovided as claimed. Because we may provide somiga@nd billing information to
purchasers of our products, and because we cassateathat the government will regard any billinges that may be made as inadvertent,
these laws are potentially applicable to us. Aitkkack and false claims laws prescribe civil arithinal penalties for noncompliance, which
can be substantial. Even an unsuccessful challengestigation into our practices could causeeas® publicity, and be costly to respond to,
and thus could harm our business and results obtpes.

If we are found to have violated laws protecting th confidentiality of patient health information, we could be subject to civil or criminal
penalties, which could increase our liabilities andvarm our reputation or our business.

There are a number of federal and state laws giotethe confidentiality of certain patient heailtiiormation, including patient records,
and restricting the use and disclosure of thatgated information. In particular, the U.S. Depaminaf Health and Human Services
promulgated patient privacy rules under the Helalfurance Portability and Accountability Act of B3®r HIPAA. These privacy rules protect
medical records and other personal health infondtiy limiting their use and disclosure, givingiiriduals the right to access, amend and
accounting of their own health information and timg most use and disclosures of health informatiiothe minimum amount reasonably
necessary to accomplish the intended purpose. édthave do not believe that we are subject to tHeAA rules because we receive patient
data in our onCall Information System on an anonysnuoasis, the exact scope of these rules has antdbearly established. If we are found to
be in violation of the privacy rules under HIPAAewould be subject to civil or criminal penaltiediich could increase our liabilities and he
our reputation or our business.

The use of the NC-stat System could result in produt liability claims that could be expensive, damageur reputation and harm our
business.

Our business exposes us to an inherent risk ohpiateroduct liability claims related to the maaafuring, marketing and sale of medical
devices. The medical device industry historicathg bbeen litigious, and we face financial exposongroduct liability claims if the use of our
products were to cause or contribute to injury eattl. In particular, the NC-stat System may beeqtde to claims of injury because it
involves the electric stimulation of a patient'swves. Although we maintain product liability insnce for our products, the coverage limits of
these policies may not be adequate to cover fulaims. As sales of our products increase, we neayriable to maintain sufficient product
liability insurance on acceptable terms or at reabte costs, and this insurance may not provideitllsadequate coverage against potential
liabilities. A successful claim brought againstmgxcess of, or outside of, our insurance covecagdd have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations. Adgurct liability claim, regardless of its merit aremtual outcome, could result in substantial
costs to us, a substantial diversion of managewtéemition and adverse publicity. A product liagillaim could also harm our reputation and
result in a decline in revenues and an increasgpenses.

Our products are complex in design, and defects mayot be discovered prior to shipment to customersyhich could result in warranty
obligations or product liability claims, reducing our revenues and increasing our costs and liabilitie

We depend upon third parties for the manufactureuofproducts. Our products, particularly our N&t$tiosensors, require a significant
degree of technical expertise to produce. If ounufiacturers fail to produce our products to speatfon, or if the manufacturers use defective
materials or workmanship in the manufacturing psscé¢he reliability and performance of our prodweilsbe compromised.
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If our products contain defects that cannot beiregajuickly, easily and inexpensively, we may aigrece:

 loss of customer orders and delay in order ful@im

« damage to our brand reputation;

« increased cost of our warranty program due to prodepair or replacement;

« inability to attract new customers;

« diversion of resources from our manufacturing askarch and development departments into our setiejgartment; and

« legal action.

The occurrence of any one or more of the foregomgd harm our reputation and materially reducereuenues and increase our costs
and liabilities.

If we lose any of our officers or key employees, omanagement and technical expertise could be weaked significantly.

Our success largely depends on the skills, expegiand efforts of our officers, including Shai NoZani, M.D., Ph.D., our founder and
President and Chief Executive Officer; Gary L. Gmag our Chief Operating Officer; Guy Daniello, dsenior Vice President of Information
Technology; Michael Williams, Ph.D., our Senior ¥iPresident of Engineering; W. Bradford Smith, €Rieancial Officer; and our other key
employees. We maintain a $5.0 million key perstmitisurance policy on Dr. Gozani, for which then@uany is the beneficiary, but do not
maintain key person life insurance policies covg@my of our other employees. The loss of any ofofficers or key employees could weaken
our management and technical expertise signifigartt harm our business.

If we are unable to recruit, hire and retain skilled and experienced personnel, our ability to managand expand our business will be
harmed, which would impair our future revenues andprofitability.

We are a small company with only 100 employees &ecember 31, 2005, and our ability to retain skiled labor force and our succt
in attracting and hiring new skilled employees Wi a critical factor in determining our future feemance. We may not be able to meet our
future hiring needs or retain existing personnet Wil face challenges and risks in hiring, tramimanaging and retaining engineering and
sales and marketing employees, as well as indepéneigional sales agencies and sales represestativst of whom are geographically
dispersed and must be trained in the use and beoéfour products. Failure to attract and retarspnnel, particularly technical and sales and
marketing personnel, would materially harm ourigbtb compete effectively and grow our business.

If we do not effectively manage our growth, our buisess resources may become strained, we may notdige to deliver the NC-stat
System in a timely manner and our results of oper&ns may be adversely affected.

We have recently significantly increased our sédese and our total headcount. This growth, as aglhny other growth that we may
experience in the future, will provide challenge®ur organization and may strain our managemethbgaerations. We may misjudge the
amount of time or resources that will be requiteéffectively manage any anticipated or unanti@gagrowth in our business or we may no
able to attract, hire and retain sufficient persdia meet our needs. If we cannot scale our basiappropriately, maintain control over
expenses or otherwise adapt to anticipated andticipated growth, our business resources may bectramed, we may not be able to deliver
the NC-stat System in a timely manner and our tesifloperations may be adversely affected.
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If we are unable to successfully expand, develop dmetain our sales force and maintain our independat sales agent network, oul
revenues may decline, our future revenue growth malge limited and our expenses may increase.

As of December 31, 2005, we employed 31 regionaksaanagers, three sales representatives andgtrictdsales directors and utilize a
network of over 500 independent sales agents. Waighly dependent on our regional sales manageriaependent sales agents to generate
our revenues. We have recently significantly insesbour sales force and expect to add approximateddditional regional sales managers
and several sales representative and sales dsetitang the first quarter of 2006. Our abilitytioild and develop a strong sales force will be
affected by a number of factors, including:

< our ability to attract, integrate and motivate sglersonnel;

 our ability to effectively train our sales force;

« the ability of our sales force to sell an increasathber of products;

« the length of time it takes new sales personnbketmme productive;

» the competition we face from other companies imbiand retaining sales personnel,

» our ability to effectively manage a multi-locatieales organization;

< our ability to enter into agreements with prospexthembers of our sales force on commercially regsie terms; and

< our ability to get our independent sales agenegibs, may sell products of multiple companies, to outithe necessary resources to
effectively market and sell our products.

If we are unable to successfully build, develop eatdin a strong sales force, our revenues mayngedur revenue growth may be limi
and our expenses may increase.

Failure to develop products other than the NC-staBystem and enhance the NGtat System could have an adverse effect on our boess
prospects.

All of our current revenues are derived from sellihe NC-stat System. Our future business and ¢iahauccess will depend, in part, on
our ability to continue to introduce new produatsl aipgraded products into the marketplace. Devetppew products and upgrades to exis
and future products imposes burdens on our reseatiievelopment department and our managemerstpftiess is costly, and we cannot
assure you that we will be able to successfullyetigynew products or enhance the NC-stat Systeamyfuture products. In addition, as we
develop the market for point-of-service nerve caridun studies, future competitors may develop ddsé product features earlier than we do,
which could make our competitors’ products lesseegive or more effective than our products anddoehder our products obsolete or
unmarketable. If our product development effores amsuccessful, we will have incurred significaméts without recognizing the expected
benefits and our business prospects may suffer.

We currently compete, and may in the future need t@ompete, against other medical device companiestlvpotentially greater
resources, more established distribution channelsd other competitive advantages, and the successtbése competitors may harm our
ability to generate revenues.

We currently do, and in the future may need to, peta directly and indirectly with a number of otkempanies that enjoy significant
competitive advantages over us. Currently, in thiatpof-service market, we indirectly compete withmpanies that sell traditional
NCS/nEMG equipment. In this market, these compagiesndirect competitors because the equipmengtsbi traditionally has been used
neurologists, who rely upon and seek to obtainrrale from primary care physicians to perform thee types of tests that may be performed
by primary care physicians using the NC-stat Systeddlitionally, in
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selling the NC-stat System to neurologists, whichdt a market we historically have focused oncampete directly with the companies that
sell traditional NCS/nEMG equipment. There are mber of companies that sell traditional NCS/nEM@ipment including Viasys
Healthcare Inc., Cadwell Laboratories, Inc. anceXltinc. Additionally, we are aware of one compasdgumed Inc., that markets a nerve
conduction study system to the point-of-servicekafrOf these companies, Viasys Healthcare, irnqudatr, enjoy significant competitive
advantages, including:

« greater resources for product development, saltsremketing;

* more established distribution networks;

e greater name recognition;

* more established relationships with health caréeggionals, customers and third-party payers; and
 additional lines of products and the ability toesffebates or bundle products to offer discountaaantives.

As we develop the market for point-of-service nessaduction studies, we may be faced with competitiom these companies or others
that decide and are able to enter this market. Sora# of our future competitors in the point-afrgice market may enjoy competitive
advantages such as those described above. If wenabde to compete effectively against existing faidre competitors, our sales will decline
and our business will be harmed.

We are dependent upon the computer and communicatis infrastructure employed and utilized by our onCdl Information System,
and any failures or disruptions in this infrastructure could impact our revenues and profit margins otharm our reputation.

We are dependent upon the computer and communieatifrastructure employed and utilized by our dh@dormation System. Our
computer and communications infrastructure consistéandard hardware, off-the-shelf system softwamponents, database servers,
proprietary application servers, a modem bank astidp applications. Our future success in setlirggNC-stat System will depend, in part,
upon the maintenance and growth of this infrastmgctAny failures or outages of this infrastructasea result of a computer virus, intentional
disruption of our systems by a third party, mantufeng failure, telephone system failure, fire,ratoflood, power loss or other similar events,
could prevent or delay the operation of our on@dtirmation System, which could result in increasedts to eliminate these problems and
address related security concerns and harm outatégu with our customers. In addition, if our iastructure fails to accommodate growth in
customer transactions, customer satisfaction coelsnpaired, we could lose customers, our abititadd customers could be impaired or our
costs could be increased, any of which would haunmboisiness.

If future clinical studies or other articles are pwlished, or physician associations or other organ&ions announce positions, that are
unfavorable to the NC-stat System, our sales eff@tand revenues may be negatively affected.

Future clinical studies or other articles regarding existing products or any competing producty trapublished that either support a
claim, or are perceived to support a claim, thed@mpetitor's product is more accurate or effecthan our products or that our products are not
as accurate or effective as we claim or previousca! studies have concluded. Additionally, phyesicassociations or other organizations that
may be viewed as authoritative or have an econortecest in nerve conduction studies and in relatedtrodiagnostic procedures could
endorse products or methods that compete with tesfdt System or otherwise announce positionsateatinfavorable to the NC-stat System.
Any of these events may negatively affect our saffegts and result in decreased revenues.
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Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may @ed to raise additional funds in the future, and tese funds may not be available o
acceptable terms or at all.

We believe that our current cash and cash equitsategether with our short-term and long-term inre=nts and the cash to be generated
from expected product sales will be sufficient teehour projected operating requirements for at ldee next 12 months. However, we may
seek additional funds from public and private stoffrings, borrowings under credit lines or otkeurces. Our capital requirements will
depend on many factors, including:

» the revenues generated by sales of the NC-sta¢/8yestd any other products that we develop;

« the costs associated with expanding our sales amkleting efforts;

« the expenses we incur in manufacturing and setlingproducts;

« the costs of developing new products or technofogiel enhancements to existing products;

« the cost of obtaining and maintaining FDA appramatlearance of our products and products in devetmt;
« costs associated with any expansion;

« the costs associated with capital expenditures; and

« the number and timing of any acquisitions or oteategic transactions.

As a result of these factors, we may need to raisktional funds, and these funds may not be avlailan favorable terms, or at all.
Furthermore, if we issue equity or debt securiiiesaise additional funds, our existing stockhotdmay experience dilution, and the new eq
or debt securities may have rights, preferenceganteges senior to those of our existing stodikos. In addition, if we raise additional ful
through collaboration, licensing or other similarsmgements, it may be necessary to relinquishatddurights to our potential products or
proprietary technologies, or grant licenses on setfmat are not favorable to us. If we cannot raisels on acceptable terms, we may not be
to develop or enhance our products, execute oundss plan, take advantage of future opportunitesespond to competitive pressures or
unanticipated customer requirements. If any ofél@gents occurs, our ability to achieve our develept and commercialization goals would
be adversely affected.

If we choose to acquire or invest in new businessggoducts or technologies, instead of developinggém ourselves, these acquisitions or
investments could disrupt our business and could sailt in the use of significant amounts of equity,ash or a combination of both.

From time to time we may seek to acquire or iniesiusinesses, products or technologies, insteaeéwdloping them ourselves.
Acquisitions and investments involve numerous rigksluding:

« the inability to complete the acquisition or invasnt;

« disruption of our ongoing businesses and diversiamanagement attention;

« difficulties in integrating the acquired entitiggpducts or technologies;

« difficulties in operating the acquired businessfipably;

« the inability to achieve anticipated synergiest sasings or growth;

» potential loss of key employees, particularly thokehe acquired business;

« difficulties in transitioning and maintaining keystomer, distributor and supplier relationships;

« risks associated with entering markets in whichhaee no or limited prior experience; and
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¢ unanticipated costs.

In addition, any future acquisitions or investmemgsy result in one or more of the following:

» issuances of dilutive equity securities, which rbaysold at a discount to market price;

« the use of significant amounts of cash;

» the incurrence of debt;

» the assumption of significant liabilities;

* increased operating costs or reduced earnings;

« financing obtained on unfavorable terms;

» large one-time expenses; and

 the creation of certain intangible assets, inclgdjpodwill, the write-down of which may result iigsificant charges to earnings.

Any of these factors could materially harm our ktpdce, our business or our operating results.

If we expand, or attempt to expand, into foreign mekets, we will be affected by new business risks & may adversely impact our
financial condition or results of operations.

If we expand, or attempt to expand, into foreigrrkats, we will be subject to new business risksluiding:
« failure to fulfill foreign regulatory requirementis market the NC-stat System or other future prtgjuc
« availability of, and changes in, reimbursement imitbrevailing foreign health care payment systems;

< adapting to the differing business practices and @ foreign countries;

difficulties in managing foreign relationships amgkerations, including any relationships that walslih with foreign distributors or
sales or marketing agents;

 limited protection for intellectual property rights some countries;

« difficulty in collecting accounts receivable anadger collection periods;

« costs of enforcing contractual obligations in fgrejurisdictions;

* recessions in economies outside of the United State

 political instability and unexpected changes inatipatic and trade relationships;
« currency exchange rate fluctuations; and

« potentially adverse tax consequences.

If we are successful in introducing our products iforeign markets, we will be affected by thesditdnal business risks, which may
adversely impact our financial condition or resait®perations. In addition, expansion into foreigarkets imposes additional burdens on our
executive and administrative personnel, researdhsates departments, and general managerial resoar efforts to introduce our products
into foreign markets may not be successful, in Whiase we may have expended significant resouriteewt realizing the expected benefit.
Ultimately, the investment required for expansiotoiforeign markets could exceed the revenues gergefrom this expansion.
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Our operating results may fluctuate due to varioudactors and, as a result, perio-to-period comparisons of our results of operation:
will not necessarily be meaningful.

Factors relating to our business make our futuerating results uncertain and may cause them ¢tuidie from period to period. These
factors include:

« changes in the availability of third-party reimbemsent in the United States or other countries;
 the timing of new product announcements and inttidos by us or our competitors;

« market acceptance of new or enhanced versionsrgiroducts;

¢ changes in manufacturing costs or other expenses;

e competitive pricing pressures;

+ the gain or loss of significant distribution oudler customers;

* increased research and development expenses;

« the timing of any future acquisitions; or

» general economic conditions.

Because our operating results may fluctuate froartguto quarter, it may be difficult for us or anvestors to predict our future
performance by viewing our historical operatingutes

Anti-takeover provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may discourage or prevent@hange of control, even if an
acquisition would be beneficial to our stockholderswhich could affect our stock price adversely angrevent attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current managment.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contpivisions that could delay or prevent a changeoatrol of our company or changes
our board of directors that our stockholders mightsider favorable. Some of these provisions:

» authorize the issuance of preferred stock whichbzaoreated and issued by the board of directatowi prior stockholder approval,
with rights senior to those of our common stock;

» provide for a classified board of directors, witick director serving a staggered three-year term;
« prohibit our stockholders from filling board vac#eg; calling special stockholder meetings, or tgkintion by written consent;

« provide for the removal of a director only with sauand by the affirmative vote of the holders d¥/& more of the shares then
entitled to vote at an election of our directorsd a

* require advance written notice of stockholder psgt® and director nominations.

In addition, we are subject to the provisions ofta 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Lawich may prohibit certain business
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevigions in our certificate of
incorporation, bylaws and Delaware law could makaare difficult for stockholders or potential aéguis to obtain control of our board of
directors or initiate actions that are opposed tmytben-current board of directors, including a geer tender offer, or proxy contest involving
our company. Any delay or prevention of a changeawitrol transaction or changes in our board afadors could cause the market price of
common stock to decline.
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We do not intend to pay cash dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ocanpital stock. We currently intend to retainaalhilable funds and any future
earnings for use in the operation and expansia@uobusiness and do not anticipate paying any dastlends in the foreseeable future. In
addition, the terms of any future debt or crediilfty may preclude us from paying any dividends. &result, capital appreciation, if any, of
our common stock will be our stockholders sole sewf potential gain for the foreseeable future.

ITEM 1B: UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We have not received written comments from the Bgesiand Exchange Commission regarding our péariodcurrent reports under the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amendd&ldags or more before December 31, 2005 that rearaisolved.

ITEM 2: PROPERTIES

Our headquarters is located in a 30,000 squarddadity in Waltham, Massachusetts, which we ogcupder an office lease expiring in
March 2009. We believe that our existing facilgyaidequate for our current needs.

ITEM 3: LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently party to any material legalgeedings. However, we may from time to time becarparty to various legal
proceedings arising in the ordinary course of awgifess.

ITEM 4:  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of our sectnatgers during the fourth quarter of the year enbecember 31, 2005, through the
solicitation of proxies or otherwise.
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PART I

ITEM5: MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Nationarkét under the symbol “NURQ”. The price range geare reflected in the table
below is the high and low closing sales priceswfammon stock as reported by NASDAQ for the misimdicated. Our stock first started
trading on July 22, 2004.

Years ended December 3!

2005 2004
High Low High Low
First quarter $11.65 $ 9.28 N/A N/A
Second quarte $20.0c $ 9.05 N/A N/A
Third quartel $30.2C $19.57 $11.08 $7.39
Fourth quarte $37.2: $26.91 $11.7t $8.2C

On March 10, 2006, there were approximately 162kstolders of record of our common stock. This nundmes not include stockholde
for whom shares were held in a “nominee” or “stfe@ime. On March 10, 2006, the last reported saée per share of our common stock on
the NASDAQ National Market was $33.95.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently intend to retaiturfe earnings, if any, to finance
the expansion and growth of our business and dexpct to pay any cash dividends in the foresedakilre. Payment of future cash
dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of daoard of directors after taking into account vasidactors, including our financial condition,
operating results, current and anticipated casdsiard plans for expansion.

On July 21, 2004, the Securities and Exchange Casiam declared effective our registration stateroerfform S-1 (File No. 333-
115440), relating to the initial public offering ofir common stock. We expect to continue to usen¢tgroceeds from the initial public
offering for general corporate purposes, includimgxpand our selling and marketing and servicgarmizations, develop new distribution
channels, expand our research and developmentsfimprove our operational and financial systemd far other working capital purposes.
We may also use a portion of the net proceedsduiaeor invest in complementary businesses, prgdorctechnologies. We have no specific
understandings, commitments or agreements witheot$p any such acquisition or investment. Exceped forth below, we have not alloca
any portion of the net proceeds for any specifiqppse. The aggregate price of the offering amoegistered on our behalf was $27.6 million.
In connection with the offering, we paid approxielgt$1.9 million in underwriting discounts and coissions to the underwriters and incur
an estimated $1.7 million in other offering expend¢one of the underwriting discounts and commissiar offering expenses were incurred or
paid to directors or officers of ours or their asates or to persons owning 10 percent or moraioEommon stock or to any affiliates of ours.
After deducting the underwriting discounts and cassmons and offering expenses, we received neepasfrom the offering of
approximately $24.0 million. From July 21, 2004 #dfective date of the registration statemenDeésember 31, 2005 we have used
() $3.1 million of the net proceeds to repay iil foe outstanding balance under our secured lfrezedit with Lighthouse Capital Partners,

(i) an estimated $4.4 million of the net procetmlfund cash spending of our research and developautivities, (iii) an estimated $6.8 millii
of the net proceeds to fund the expansion of oessand marketing efforts and (iv) an estimated/&B10 for the purchase of capital
equipment. The remainder of the net proceeds hagre mvested in marketable, investment grade datdyearing securities pending their use.
Our use of the proceeds from our initial publiceniiig does not represent a material change frordekeription provided in our prospectus.

See Part lll, Item 12 for information regarding weties authorized for issuance under equity corspgan plans.
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ITEM 6: SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The data set forth below should be read in conjanatith Iltem 7, “Management’s Discussion and Ams#dyof Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”, Item 7A, “Quantitative adalitative Disclosures About Market Risk” and dinancial statements and related notes
appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on FddpK1

Years Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(In thousands, except share and per share dat.

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenue: $ 34,29¢ % 17,92C $ 9,16€ $ 4,225 $ 3,464
Cost of revenues 8,858 4,853 2,707 1,370 1,424
Gross margin 25,440 13,067 6,461 2,855 2,040
Operating expense

Research and development 3,821 3,268 2,397 2,146 2,561

Sales and marketing( 14,150 8,488 4,768 2,870 5,304

General and administrative(1) 7,333 4,844 2,850 2,673 3,228

Total operating expenses 25,304 16,601 10,015 7,689 11,093

Income (loss) from operatiol 136 (3,534) (3,554) (4,834) (9,053)
Interest income (expense), I 837 (750) (113) 41 336
Income (loss) before income tax 973 (4,284) (3,667) (4,793) (8,717)
Income tax provision 35 — — — —
Net income (loss 938 (4,284) (3,667) (4,793) (8,717)
Accretion of dividend on redeemable

convertible preferred stoc — (1,386) (2,009) (1,893) (1,757)
Deemed dividend on redeemable

convertible preferred stoc — (788) — (6,873) —

Beneficial conversion feature
associated with redeemable

convertible preferred stoc — (7,051) — — —
Net income (loss) attributable

common stockholdel $ 938 $ (13,509 $ (5,67€) $ (13559 $ (10,479
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic $ 0.08 $ (2.35 % (5.46) $ (13.17) $ (20.47)

Diluted $ 0.07 $ (2.35 $ (5.46) $ (13.17) $ (20.47)

Weighted average common shares
outstanding
Basic 12,152,13¢ 5,747,57¢ 1,038,817 1,029,21( 1,000,32:
Diluted 12,986,36¢ 5,747,57¢ 1,038,81 1,029,21( 1,000,32:

(1) Non-cash stock-based compensation expense is ettindhese amounts as follows:

Research and developme $ 77 $ 249 $ 35 $ 7% 8
Sales and marketir 168 356 37 6 15
General and administrati 161 423 25 37 33
Total non-cash stock-based

compensatiol $ 406 $ 1,02¢ $ 9% $ 50 $ 56
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As of December 31
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(unaudited)

(in thousands)
Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivale $ 817C $ 193¢ $ 162t $ 2,701 $ 5,39
Shor-term investment 24,082 18,575 — — —
Working capital 34,683 22,500 2,754 3,724 6,380
Long-term investment — 9,497 — — —
Total asset 42,897 37,953 7,218 7,053 9,899
Long-term debt and other lo-term liabilities 131 189 2,232 124 331
Warrants for redeemable convertible

preferred stocl — — 450 — —
Redeemable convertible preferred st — — 47,694 45,684 34,995
Accumulated defici (56,540) (57,478) (44,901) (39,860) (26,321)
Total stockholder equity/(deficit) 36,248 34,056 (45,502) (39,928) (26,431)

Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion of ouafficial condition and results of operations in cargtion with our selected financial
data, our financial statements and the accompangitgs to those financial statements included disesvin this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. This discussion contains forw#looking statements that involve risks and uncettas. As a result of many factors, such as theséosth
under the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhé this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our actuesults may differ materially from those

anticipated in these forward-looking statements.

Overview

NeuroMetrix was founded in June 1996. We desiguelde and sell proprietary medical devices usedidgnose neuropathies. Our
proprietary technology provides physicians withraoffice diagnostic system, the NC-stat Systerat #nables physicians to make rapid and
accurate diagnoses of neuropathies, including t&rpael syndrome, low back and leg pain and dialripheral neuropathy. The NC-stat
System is comprised of: (1) disposable single uSeshat biosensors that are placed on the patibotly; (2) the NC-stat monitor and related
components; and (3) the NC-stat docking statiorgpional device that enables the physicsasifice to transmit data to our onCall Informa
System. Each component of the NC-stat System dssalsl separately. The sensitivity of the nervorstean to metabolic and mechanical
damage, compounded by its limited regenerativetabireates a market opportunity for a medicalidevthat can assist in point-of-service
diagnoses of neuropathies in a manner that iseftesttive for the patient and third-party payer. Bédieve the ease of use, accuracy and
convenience provided by the NC-stat System posititmbecome a standard of care for the assessoh@europathies at the point-of-service.
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From our inception until May 1999, we had devoteldssantially all of our efforts to designing andrdieping the NC-stat System and
other potential products, raising capital and ri¢icryl personnel. We believe that one of our streags our ability to develop and commercia
innovative products for neurological applicatiommsMay 1999, we shipped our first NC-stat Systernthat time we sold one type of biosensor
for the testing of the median motor nerve. In 2008 introduced an additional biosensor for therngsdf the ulnar motor nerve. In 2002, we
introduced our second-generation NC-stat Systewgelisas two additional biosensors. In 2003, weeallth our product line two biosensors
with higher functionality that have the ability tiest both motor and sensory nerves. In 2004, wedoted two new NC-stat biosensors as well
as components for the N&at monitor to utilize these new biosensors. Titst fiew biosensor is used to test the ulnar nattke elbow and tl
second to test the sural nerve. In 2005, our rexeguew 91.4% to $34.3 million from $17.9 million2004, of which 87.7% was attributabl
sales of NC-stat biosensors in 2005. Our gross imaeycentage in 2005 was 74.2%.

We derive our revenues from the sale of NC-stagdnigors, monitors and docking stations directlyni users, which are generally
physician practice groups. Our NC-stat biosensrslsposable products that are used once andviatett after use. The N€tat monitor is a
electronic instrument that is used with the NC-btasensors to perform nerve conduction studieshf@ipurpose of diagnosing neuropathies.
The NC-stat monitor displays the pertinent resoitserve conduction studies on an LCD screen imatelji at the conclusion of each study.
The NC-stat docking station is an optional devia ts used to transmit to the onCall Informatigst8m data generated by the nerve
conduction study performed with the NEat monitor. The onCall Information System forntetathe data it receives for each test into a leel
report that is provided to the customer througlsifade or e-mail.

Diagnostic device revenues include revenues defived the sale of our NC-stat monitors and NC-dtatking stations. Biosensor
revenues include revenues derived from the salarbus types of disposable biosensors used tomenfierve conduction studies with the NC-
stat monitor. Our revenue recognition policy isg¢oognize revenue from our monitors and biosengoes shipment if the fee is fixed and
determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangeexésts, collection of the resulting receivabledasonably assured and product returns are
reasonably estimable. Revenues from our dockirtgpetare deferred and recognized over the shoftédrecestimated customer relationship
period or the estimated useful life of the prodaatyrently three years.

Reimbursement from third-party payers is an impareédement of success for medical products compa@enerally, we believe that the
nerve conduction studies performed by our customvélsthe NC-stat System have been satisfactodiyeced by third-party payers. As our
presence in the market expands and the use of@hst&t System increases, we have experienced anikelly to continue to experience an
increased focus from third-party payers regardigreimbursement of nerve conduction studies paedrusing the NC-stat System and an
increased focus from third-party payers regardivggrofessional requirements for performing nemdeiction studies in general. Widespread
adoption of the NC-stat System by the medical comityus unlikely to occur if physicians do not rége satisfactory reimbursement from
third-party payers for procedures performed with HC-stat System. One of the primary challenge$aae in our business is successfully
expanding the market for nerve conduction studiesuccessful market expansion will depend upoipairt, our targeting of primary care and
specialty physicians who traditionally have notb&ageted by companies selling equipment usee@timpn nerve conduction studies and our
ability to alter physicians’ practices relatingthe diagnosis of neuropathies. In order to sucaéigsmplement this growth strategy, we have
increased our sales force to 31 regional sales geasathree sales representatives and two disties directors as of December 31, 2005 and
plan to add approximately 15 additional regiondsananagers and several additional sales repegsestand sales directors during the first
quarter of 2006. We also will participate in vasdandustry conferences in order to accelerate theket awareness and adoption of our
products. These efforts, as well as the overalbagjon of our business, will provide challengesuo organization and
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may increase the burden on our management andtigpesta/Ne plan to monitor our business as it grand appropriately acquire and allocate
resources to address these issues, with a goastaising profitable growth.

We incurred losses every year from the inceptiothefCompany in 1996 through 2004 and recordedimtiyear of profitability in 2005.
We incurred net losses of approximately $8.7 nmillio 2001, $4.8 million in 2002, $3.7 million in @8 and $4.3 million in 2004 and recorded
net income of $938,000 in 2005. We do not know Wwhetve will be able to sustain the profitabilithéeved in 2005. As of December 31,
2005, we had an accumulated deficit of approxingz$&6.5 million. Historically, we have primarilylfanced our operations through the public
and private placement of equity securities andufghodebt facilities. As of December 31, 2005, weé fexeived net proceeds of $43.5 million
from the issuance of redeemable convertible prefestock and $24.0 million in net proceeds frominiiral public offering (“IPO”). Upon
completion of the IPO, all then outstanding shafgzreferred stock converted into shares of ourroom stock.

Our financial objective is to grow our busines®tigh the sale of the NC-stat System and additipraaducts that may be commercialized
for the diagnosis and treatment of neuropathies@amahieve sustainable profitability. Our effart2006 will continue to focus primarily on
expanding our sales and marketing for the NC-state®h and continuing our ongoing program of makingancements and improvements to
the NCstat System, with the goal of increasing our maplegtetration. During 2005 we continued effortsmpriovements to our biosensors
the development of new biosensors, on the developoferoducts to diagnose additional neuropattsed, on the development of a third
generation neurodiagnostic system. We are aldueirarly stages of designing a drug delivery sydterthe minimally invasive treatment of
neuropathies by both primary care and specialigsiplans. We believe that the accomplishment oehgoals will have a positive impact on
our progress toward the objective of growing theibess and achieving sustainable profitability.

Results of Operations

The following table presents certain statementpafrations information stated as a percentage aff tetenues:

Years Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003

Revenues
Diagnostic devict 12.3% 12.4% 14.2%
Biosensor 87.7 87.6 85.8
Total revenue 100.C 100.C 100.C
Cost of revenue 25.8 27.1 29.5
Gross margit 74.2 72.9 70.5
Operating expense
Research and developmt 11.1 18.2 26.1
Sales and marketir 41.3 47.4 52.C
General and administrative 214 27.C 31.1
Total operating expens 73.8 92.6 109.z
Income (loss) from operatiol 04 (19.7) (38.9)
Interest income (expense), 2.4 (4.2) 1.2
Income (loss) before income taxes 28 (23.9 (40.0
Income tax provisiol 0.1 — —
Net income (loss 2.7% (23.99% (40.0)%
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Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2005 and Beaber 31, 2004
Revenue

The following tables present a breakdown of out@uers, biosensor units used and revenues:

Year Ended
December 31
2005 2004 Change % Change
Customers 3,282 2,207 1,075 48.7%
Biosensor units use 704,800 357,400 347,400 97.2

(in thousands)

Revenues
Diagnostic devict $ 4221: $ 2,219.5 $ 2,001.¢ 90.2
Biosensor 30,076.¢ 15,700.€ 14,376.2 91.6
Total revenues $34,298.0 $17,920.. $16,378.( 91.4

Diagnostic device revenues were $4.2 million an@ $2illion for the years ended December 31, 200b@ecember 31, 2004,
respectively, an increase of $2.0 million, or 90.4bthis increase, approximately $1.4 million fgihutable to a greater number of units sold,
primarily as a result of an increase in the nundfeegional sales managers and expanded clinies fos the NC-stat System. In addition,
approximately $627,600 of this increase is attablg to an increase in the list price of our NG-stanitors and docking stations from $3,500
to $4,000 effective January 1, 2005, which resuitbesl higher average selling price during 2005amared to 2004. Diagnostic device
revenues accounted for 12.3% and 12.4% of our tet@nues for the years ended December 31, 200Beaceimber 31, 2004, respectively.

Biosensor revenues were $30.1 million and $15.%anifor the years ended December 31, 2005 anddkee31, 2004, respectively, an
increase of $14.4 million, or 91.6%. The increass wrimarily due to an increased customer baseuobiosensors, increased frequency of
testing by our customers and the introduction ef b@sensors, including the sural biosensor infoluieth quarter of 2004. Biosensor revenues
accounted for 87.7% and 87.6% of our total reveroethe years ended December 31, 2005 and Dece®ib@004, respectively.

Our customers used 704,800 biosensor units inghe gnded December 31, 2005, compared to 357,480fon2004, an increase of
347,400 units, or 97.2%. This increase in biosensage is primarily the result of the increasehnc¢ustomer base, increased usage by
customers and the introduction of new biosensociyding the sural biosensor in the fourth quanfe2004. The sural biosensor is an impor
additional biosensor for our customers’ use ofMizstat System for low back pain and DPN and we belteat its introduction is contributir
to the growth in biosensor usage for these clirifdications.

Our total revenues were $34.3 million and $17.9iomlfor the years ended December 31, 2005 and ibee 31, 2004, respectively, an
increase of $16.4 million, or 91.4%. During therh®nth period ending December 31, 2005, a total|28 3 customers used our Nitat Syster
compared to 2,207 customers for the same perioth@mkecember 31, 2004. This represents a 48.7%qearyear increase in the number of
customers that used our NC-stat System.

We expect revenues to continue to increase in 28G6result of the recent expansion of our sakeg fovhich grew from 22 regional sales
managers as of December 31, 2004 to 31 regiores sahnagers, three sales representatives andstictdtales directors at December 31,
2005, an increase in the number of active cust@oeounts and increased usage per customer acttawéver, our revenues could be
negatively impacted by a variety of factors, indhgdthe level of demand for nerve conduction stsidie
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potential for changes in third-party reimbursenfeninerve conduction studies, the overall econony eompetitive factors.

Costs and expenses

The following table presents our costs and expeasdsiet loss:

Years Ended December 31
2005 2004 Change % Change
(in thousands)

Cost of revenues

Diagnostic devict $ 1,059 $ 7287 $ 331.C 45.4%
Biosensol 7,798.4 4,124.6 3,673.7 89.1
Total cost of revenues 8,858.1 4,853.3 4,004.8 82.5
Gross margin
Diagnostic devict 3,161.6 1,490.8 1,670.8 112.1
Biosensol 22,278.5 11,576.C 10,702.E 92.5
Total gross margi 25,440.C 13,066.€ 12,373.C 94.7
Gross Margin %
Diagnostic devict 74.9% 67.2%
Biosensol 74.1 73.7
Total gross margi 74.2 72.9
Operating expense
Research and development $ 3,820.6 $ 3,268.. $ 552.¢ 16.9
Sales and marketing( 14,150.2 8,488.0 5,662.1 66.7
General and administrative(1) 7,332.8 4,844.4 2,488.4 514
Total operating expenses 25,303.€ 16,600.8 8,702.8 52.4
Income (loss) from operations 136.5 (3,534.0) 3,670.5 -103.€
Interest incomt 838.8 214.1 624.7 291.¢
Interest expens (2.0) (964.1) 962.0 -99.8
Income (loss) before income taxes 973.3 (4,284.0) 5,257.2  -122.7
Income tax provisiol 35.0 — 35.0 N/A
Net income (loss 938.3 (4,284.0) 52222 -121.€
Accretion of dividend on preferred sto — (1,386.3) 1,386.3 -100.C
Deemed dividend and beneficial conversion featuare o
redeemable convertible preferred sti — (7,838.7) 7,838.7 -100.C
Net income (loss) available to common stockholt $ 938.2 $(13,509.0 $14,447.0 _106.C

(1) Includes non-cash stock-based compensation of:

Research and developmt $ 774 $ 249.1
Sales and marketir 167.7 356.4
General and administratiy 161.3 423.0

Total non-cash stock-based compensation $406.: $1,028.¢

Gross Margin

Diagnostic device gross margin percentage was 748367.2% for the years ended December 31, 200®anember 31, 2004,
respectively. The increase in the gross margingmgage in 2005 compared to 2004 is primarily aftdble to an increase in the list price of
NC-stat System from $3,500 to $4,000 effective JandaR005.
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Biosensor gross margin percentage increased slighi4.1% for the year ended December 31, 2005 #8.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The increase in biosensor gnasgin percentage is primarily due to manufactudasgt reductions realized for several of
our biosensors, offset in part by a change in theahbiosensors resulting from the introductionnafw biosensors in the second half of 2004
which have modestly lower gross margins.

Our overall gross margin percentage was 74.2%hyear ended December 31, 2005 compared to 7202004.

Our biosensors are manufactured by the Parlex Ralyexible Circuits division of Parlex Corporatialohnson Electric, a Hong Kong
based manufacturing company, acquired Parlex ireNdoer 2005. We expect to establish a second mantifagline in an existing Parlex
facility during 2006. We cannot assure you thas tiéw manufacturing site will be capable of prodgdiiosensors of the same quality or that
they will be capable of delivering biosensors tarua timely manner. Furthermore, we cannot asgouethat the acquisition of Parlex by
Johnson Electric will not result in adverse charigesur relationship with Parlex.

The manufacturing of NC-stat monitors and dockitagiens was transitioned from AEI to Sunburst invlRimber 2005 as a result of a
decision by AEI to shut down its operations. SevAE employees who were involved in the manufaictyiof our devices have been hired by
Sunburst and we did not experience any interruptaring this transition. Sunburst has the requiigd certifications for manufacturing our
monitors and docking stations and is qualifiechia manufacturing of such devices based on our steeed of their operations. However, we
cannot assure you that Sunburst will be able toufaature the NC-stat monitors and docking statiwitls the same level of quality and on the
same timely delivery schedule as AEI.

Research and Developme

Our research and development, or R&D, expensesdaatxpenses from the research, product developeigital, regulatory and quali
assurance departments.

R&D expenses increased $552,300, or 16.9%, toh8l®n for the year ended December 31, 2005 fré8%nillion for the year ended
December 31, 2004. As a percentage of revenues, &§Bnses were 11.1% and 18.2% for the years ddeleeimber 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. This increase was primarily due 184,200 increase in employee compensation andibeosts and a $54,400 increase in
recruiting costs. These increases resulted fronhitiirey of additional employees in our R&D departmeparticularly in product developmen
support our efforts on the development of a thiedegation neurodiagnostic system, new biosensomovements to existing biosensors,
products to diagnose additional neuropathies asrdig delivery system for the minimally invasiveatm@ent of neuropathies. Also contribut
to the change was an increase of $283,600 in @utsidsulting costs primarily related to efforts exged on the development of a third
generation neurodiagnostic system and on new bsossmand improvements to existing biosensors. dmeEseases were partially offset by a
decrease in stock-based compensation expense bf8fD7related to employee stock options

We expect our spending on R&D will increase du2@96 due to additional consulting services anchthiag of several additional
employees to support product development effortsedkas increased clinical study costs. In additiwe expect R&D expenses will also
increase in 2006 due to the adoption of the promsiof Statement of Financial Accounting Stand&fds123(R), “Share-Based
Payment” (“SFAS No. 123(R)"We expect R&D expenses, as a percentage of tatahves, to continue to decrease slightly due texgecte:
increase in revenue. This percentage may vary, bexwedepending primarily on our revenues for 2006.
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Sales and Marketing
Our sales and marketing expenses include experwadlie marketing, field sales, sales administraiod reimbursement departments.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $5.7 midiod6.7%, to $14.2 million for year ended Decengfe 2005 from $8.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. As a percenfageemues, sales and marketing expenses were 4n8%7.4% for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. The ehangxpenses was primarily due to an increas@&af &illion in employee compensation
and benefit costs, including sales commissions fwaalir regional sales managers. This increasedagathe expansion of the sales force and
higher revenues in 2005 as compared to 2004. @&lstributing to the change in expenses was anaseref $1.5 million in sales commissions
paid to our independent sales agencies, which reéaited to our higher revenues in 2005, and ineea$$351,400 in travel expenses and
$73,300 in recruiting costs due to the expansiah@®fales force. The change in expenses was afSally due to an increase of $192,800 in
costs for trade shows, advertising and promotiameterials as we have increased our presence astrads and developed new promotional
materials. These increases were offset in partdgcaease in stodkased compensation expense of $188,700 relatedptogee stock option:

We have increased our sales force to 31 regioted saanagers, three sales representatives andstigtdsales directors as of the end of
2005 and expect to add approximately 15 additioegibnal sales managers and several sales repagestand sales directors during the first
quarter of 2006. In addition, we expect sales aatkating expenses will also increase in 2006 dubd@doption of the provisions of SFAS
No. 123(R). For 2006, we expect sales and marketipgnses, as a percentage of total revenuescteade slightly from the level experienc
in 2005. This percentage may vary, however, depgngliimarily on our revenues for 2006.

General and Administrative

Our general and administrative expenses includeresgs from the executive, finance, administratustomer service and information
technology departments.

General and administrative expenses increasedniflién, or 51.4%, to $7.3 million for year ende@&&mber 31, 2005 from $4.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004. As a pergemfrevenues, general and administrative expemees21.4% and 27.0% for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectivelyintiease in expenses was primarily due to (aparease in employee compensation and
benefit costs of $885,500 due to the expansiotadf and increases in employee compensation; (If@ease of $663,700 in professional fees
for legal services and for accounting and auditises primarily as a result of the increased relgmjarequirements associated with being a
publicly-traded company including the provisionglué Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and the rules pigated thereunder, regarding internal
control over financial reporting (“Sarbanes-Oxlé@4%) which began to apply to us as of December2BD5; (c) an increase of $344,100 in our
insurance costs, primarily relating to increasegiiactor and officer insurance premiums as a teduhe transition to a publicly-traded
company; (d) an increase of $177,600 in credit eaud bank transaction fees related to customes;s@pan increase of $148,000 in franchise
taxes and other fees; and (f) an increase in itguiosts of $94,300 associated with new hireg ifbreases are offset in part by a decrease o
$261,800 in stock-based compensation expensedet@mtmployee stock options.

We expect our general and administrative expemsixtease during 2006 as a result of our expegtedth and the expected hiring of
additional general and administrative staff to supgthis growth. In addition, we expect general addinistrative expenses will also increase
in 2006 due to the adoption of the provisions oASHNo. 123(R). Total general and administrativeanges, as a percentage of total revenues,
are expected to decrease in 2006, in spite ofritieigated need to hire additional staff. This
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percentage may vary, however, depending primarilpar revenues for 2006. We expect to be ablevierégye certain existing resources such
that the growth in general and administrative esperis anticipated to be less than the growth imetenues. Furthermore, while we
experienced an increase in professional fees i PQely due to the effect of the first year ofrqgiance with Sarbanes-Oxley 404, we do not
expect the costs associated with Sarbanes-Oxleyodidrease in 2006.

Interest Income

Interest income was $838,800 and $214,100 duriag¢fars ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, resglgctiepresenting an increase of
$624,700. Interest income was earned from invediriarcash equivalents, short-term investmentsiamgtterm investments. Interest income
increased during the year ended December 31, 20@pared to the year ended December 31, 2004 dhe iavestment of the proceeds from
the IPO, which was completed in the third quarfe2@®4, the investment of the proceeds from the spreferred stock in March 2004 and
increased yields on invested funds in 2005.

Interest Expens

Interest expense was $2,000 and $964,100 duringettys ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respgctigpresenting a decrease of
$962,000. The decrease in interest expense wamdhe payment in the third quarter of 2004 of atstanding debt balance of $3.0 million
under our line of credit with Lighthouse Capitalthars by using a portion of the proceeds recefiea the IPO.

Deemed Dividend and Beneficial Conversion Featur@®@edeemable Convertible Preferred St

In 2004, we recorded a $787,900 deemed dividerdrasult of the March 2004 Series E-1 redeemabieertible preferred stock
financing. The deemed dividend resulted from amstdjent to the conversion ratios pursuant to thiedfiation protection provisions
associated with the Series D redeemable convepielierred stock. We also recorded a charge of $illibn for a beneficial conversion
feature associated with the Seried Eedeemable convertible preferred stock issuédarch 2004. There was no deemed dividend or baak
conversion charge in 2005. All issued and outstamdhares of preferred stock were converted indoeshof common stock in connection with
the initial public offering.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2004 and asber 31, 2003
Revenue

The following table presents a breakdown of out@ugrs, biosensor units used and revenues:

Years Ended December 31

2004 2003 Change % Change

Customers 2,207 1,736 471 27.1%
Biosensor units use 357,40C 203,00C 154,40C 76.1

(in thousands)
Revenues

Diagnostic devict $ 2,219.f $1,302.: $ 917.2 70.4
Biosensor 15,700.€ 7,865.¢ 7,835.:2 99.6
Total revenues $17,920.0 $ 9,167.€ $ 8,752.F 95.5

Diagnostic device revenues were $2.2 million an@ $illion for the years ended December 31, 200#t@ecember 31, 2003,
respectively, representing a year-over-year ineref$917,200, or 70.4%. Of this increase, appraxéhy $518,600 is attributable to a greater
number of units sold, primarily as a result of
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an increase in the number of our regional salesagens and expanded clinical uses for the NC-ststieBy, and $398,600 is attributable to an
increase in the list price of our NC-stat monitansl docking stations. Diagnostic device revenueswated for 12.4% and 14.2% of our total
revenues for the years ended December 31, 200Deceimber 31, 2003, respectively.

Biosensor revenues were $15.7 million and $7.9anilfor the years ended December 31, 2004 and Deeei, 2003, respectively,
representing a year-over-year increase of $7.8amjlbr 99.6%. The increase was primarily due ténaneased customer base for our
biosensors, increased frequency of testing by ostoeners, and the introduction in May 2003 of highactionality biosensors that test both
motor and sensory nerve conduction. These higmatifunality biosensors have an average sellinge@-80% higher than motor-only
biosensors. Biosensor revenues accounted for 8ariP85.8% of our total revenues for the years eismber 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003, respectively.

Our customers used 357,400 biosensor units ingae gnded December 31, 2004, compared to 203,080fonthe same period in 2003,
an increase of 154,400 units, or 76.1%.

Our total revenues were $17.9 million and $9.2iomlifor the years ended December 31, 2004 and Dieeef1, 2003 respectively,
representing a year-over-year increase of $8.8amjlbr 95.5%. During the 12-month period ending®uaber 31, 2004, a total of 2,207
customers used our NC-stat System compared to tif86mers for the same period ending Decembe2®X3. This represents a 27.1% year-
over-year increase in the number of customersubead our NC-stat System.
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Costs and expenses

The following table presents our costs and expeasdset loss:

Years Ended December 31

2004 2003 Change % Change
(in thousands)
Cost of revenues
Diagnostic devict $ 7287 $ 6581 $ 70.6 10.7%
Biosensor 4,124.6 2,048.4 2,076.2 101.4
Total cost of revenue 4,853.3 2,706.5 2,146.¢ 79.3
Gross margin
Diagnostic devict 1,490.8 644.2 846.6 131.4
Biosensor 11,576.C 5,816.8 5,759.2 99.0
Total gross margi 13,066.¢ 6,461.0 6,605.¢ 102.2
Gross margin %
Diagnostic devict 67.2% 49.5%
Biosensol 73.7 74.0
Total gross margin ¢ 72.9 70.5
Operating expense
Research and development $ 3,268« $ 2,396.6 $ 871.€ 36.4
Sales and marketing( 8,488.0 4,767.6 3,720.4 78.0
General and administrative( 4,844.4 2,850.5 1,993.€ 70.0
Total operating expenses 16,600.€ 10,014.€ 6,585.€ 65.8
Loss from operation (3,534.00 (3,553.9) 19.8 -0.6
Interest incomt 214.1 23.5 190.6 811.1
Interest expense (964.1) (136.3) (827.8) 607.2
Net loss (4,284.00 (3,666.7) (617.3) 16.8
Accretion on redeemable convertible preferred s (1,386.3) (2,009.5) 623.2 -31.0
Deemed dividend on redeemable convertible prefe
stock (7,838.7) — (7,838.7) —
Net loss available to common stockhold $(13,509.0 $ (5,676.9) $(7,832.f) -138.C
(1) Includes non-cash stock-based compensation of:
Research and developm $ 249.1 $35.1
Sales and marketir 356.4 36.8
General and administrati\ 423.0 24.5
Total non-cash stock-based compensation $1,028.€ $96.4

Gross Margin

Diagnostic device gross margin percentage was 6 ard#9.5% for the years ended December 31, 20@Danember 31, 2003,
respectively. The increase in the gross margingueage for the year of 2004 compared to 2003 ithatable partially to an increase in the list
price of our NC-stat neurodiagnostic system, amtiglly to a decrease in the cost of our diagnodéeices commencing in mid-2003 resulting
from a change in our third-party manufacturer.

Biosensor gross margin percentage decreased t&%7#8rthe year ended December 31, 2004 from 74@%he same period in 2003. T
small decrease in biosensor gross margin perceiggganarily due to a less favorable mix towardtghler sales volume of lower margin
biosensors during the year of 2004 when compar@@@3.
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Our overall gross margin percentage was 72.9%hyear ended December 31, 2004 compared to 7@52003.

Research and Developme

R&D expenses increased $871,600, or 36.4%, tod8li®n for the year ended December 31, 2004 fra$nillion for the same period
in 2003. As a percentage of revenues, R&D expenses 18.2% and 26.1% for the years ended Decenih@084 and December 31, 2003,
respectively. The increase in expenses was due iftceease of $564,400 in employee compensatiorbandfit costs primarily from the hiring
of additional employees in our R&D department, maréase in stock-based compensation of $214,00@ramtrease of $87,400 in outside
consulting costs.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses increased $3.7 midior8.0%, to $8.5 million for the year ended Dmber 31, 2004 from $4.8 million f
the year ended 2003. As a percentage of revenales, and marketing expenses were 47.4% and 52 0#tefyears ended December 31, 2004
and December 31, 2003, respectively. The increasgpenses was primarily due to an increase of §llibn in sales commissions paid to «
independent regional sales agencies and an incoé&3®2,900 in sales commissions paid to our tisates force, which were directly related
to our higher revenues in 2004, and increases 41 300, $440,700 and $133,000 in employee compensatd benefit costs, travel expenses
and recruiting costs, respectively, which resuftedh the addition of seventeen employees in owssahd marketing department. The increase
was also partially due to an increase of $189,808uiside consulting service expense. Sales ankletirag expense also increased due to an
increase in non-cash stock based compensationl®, &30 in 2004 compared to 2003. These increasespegtially offset by a reduction of
$113,900 in costs for advertising, promotional mate and trade shows. This reduction was dueeddbt that we performed a significant
portion of advertising design work in-house dur@4, which resulted in lower costs as compardbterevious year when this design work
was contracted to vendors. Also, during 2003 warirezl advertising and promotion costs related ¢ankroduction of our new motor/sensory
biosensors.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses increasedn§iftion, or 70.0%, to $4.8 million for the year esdiDecember 31, 2004 from
$2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2@33a percentage of revenues, general and admiivstexpenses were 27.0% and 31.1%
for the years ended December 31, 2004 and Decedih@003, respectively. The increase in expenssgwmarily due to an increase of
$349,000 in employee compensation and benefit cestdting partially from the hiring of four additial employees, an increase of $397,0(
non-cash stock-based compensation related to eepktpck options, an increase of $325,400 in oeisichsulting services expense partially
used to assist in the preparation for and the IR©Ogss, an increase of credit card and bank tréosdees of $97,400 and an increase of
$68,100 to bad debt write-offs during the year@®2 Also contributing to the increase in general administrative expenses were increases
of $362,300 in our insurance costs, $327,300 imgr@aour legal and accounting costs and an inereb$25,200 in financial printing costs ¢
filing fees, all related to fulfilling the requireents of a publicly traded company. Partially offiset these increases in general and
administrative expenses was a decrease in reguitists of $31,900 resulting from an executivedear 2003 that did not recur in 2004.

Interest Income

Interest income was $214,100 and $23,500 duringéhes ended December 31, 2004 and December 33, 28(pectively. Interest
income was earned from investments in cash equitslshort-
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term investments and long-term investments. Alhdasested is designated as held to maturity, hewehe investments held are liquid and
marketable. Interest income increased during tlae geded December 31, 2004 compared to the sariog pe2003 due primarily to the
investment of the net proceeds from our IPO inthiivel quarter of 2004 and the net proceeds fromsale of Series B-redeemable convertik
preferred stock in March 2004.

Interest Expens

Interest expense was $964,100 and $136,300 duréngdars ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, resggctepresenting an increase
$827,700. The increase in interest expense wasphnuue to full repayment of our borrowings undecredit line entered into in May 2003
with Lighthouse Capital Partners which triggeredadditional payment equal to 11% of the originahgipal amount of the line of credit.

Deemed Dividend and Beneficial Conversion Featur@®edeemable Convertible Preferred St

In the first quarter of 2004, we recorded a $787,88emed dividend as a result of the March 200#&$&-1 redeemable convertible
preferred stock financing. The deemed dividendlteddrom an adjustment to the conversion ratioa essult of anti-dilution protection
associated with the Series D redeemable convepielierred stock. We also recorded a charge of $illibn for a beneficial conversion
feature embedded within the Series E-1 redeemaloleectible preferred stock issued in March 2004eréhwas no deemed dividend or
beneficial conversion charge in 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal source of liquidity is our currentsteand cash equivalents, and short-term and langHeld-to-maturity investments. As of
December 31, 2005, weighted average maturity otash equivalents and short-term heldwaturity investments was 107 days. Our abilit
generate cash from operations is dependent upoahility to generate revenue from sales of our miestic devices and consumable biosen
as well as our ability to manage our operatingsastd net assets. A decrease in demand for oun@dr unanticipated increases in our
operating costs would likely have an adverse eff@cbur liquidity and cash generated from operatidine following sets forth information
relating to our liquidity:

December 31

2005 2004 Change % Change
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivale $ 817C $ 193¢ $ 6,234 322.(%
Shor-term hel«-to-maturity investment 24,082 18,575 5,507 29.6
Long-term held-to-maturity investments — 9,497 (9,497) -100.C
Total cash, cash equivalents, s-term and lon-term hel-to-
maturity investment $32,25: $30,00¢ $ 2,244 7.5%

During 2005, our cash and cash equivalents and-t&on and long-term held-to-maturity investmemisreased $2.2 million, primarily
due to positive cash flow from operations of $1i8iom and $812,200 of proceeds from the exercisstack options and the issuance of
common stock through our employee stock purcheag plffset in part by capital expenditures of $408,

In March 2004, we sold 7,050,771 shares of oureSdfid redeemable convertible preferred stock to exggpireferred stockholders for r
proceeds of $10.6 million. These shares conventedli.8 million shares of common stock upon thaiclg of our initial public offering. These
shares contained a beneficial conversion featsréheestimated fair value of our common stockatdate of the sale was in excess of the
conversion price associated with Series E-1 redbentanvertible preferred stock share price. The
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total value of the beneficial conversion featurapproximately $7.1 million was recognized in tbenf of a preferred stock dividend in the 1
quarter of 2004. In addition, we recognized a dekbdieidend of approximately $787,900 in the firstagter of 2004 as a result of an adjustr
in the conversion rate of the Series D redeemaiieertible preferred stock associated with antiéih provisions in connection with the
March 2004 Series E-1 redeemable convertible medestock sale.

On July 27, 2004, we closed the initial public affg of our common stock selling 3,000,000 shate®8z00 per share. On August 19,
2004 we sold a 450,000 common share over-allotteentir underwriters at $8.00 per share. Our inftigthlic offering, including the over-
allotment shares, provided net proceeds of apprateiy $24.0 million. We repaid approximately $2.8lion of secured debt which was
outstanding at the beginning of the quarter in 2094 by using a portion of the proceeds receivewh four initial public offering.

In managing our working capital, two of the finaaneasurements that we monitor are days’ salesamding, or DSO, and inventory
turnover rate, which are presented in the tablevbébr the years ended December 31, 2005 and Dezre®ih 2004

Years Ended
December 31

2005 2004
Days’ sales outstanding (days) 40 50
Inventory turnover rate (times per ye 4.5 4.1

Our payment terms extended to our customers géneeguire payment within 30 days from invoice dakeDecember 31, 2005, our
DSO was 40 days, a decrease of 10 days as compabsstember 31, 2004. This decrease in DSO resfritedincreasing revenues and a
decrease in the percentage of accounts receivatdades more than 60 days past due. This decreéise percentage of accounts receivable
balances more than 60 days past due was primam@ytalmore aggressive management of collectionghanslignificant revenue growth in the
year ended December 31, 2005 relative to the mogest increase in our accounts receivable balaho#sg the year ended December
2005. We continue to focus our efforts on reducingaccounts receivable balances over 60 daysipastAccounts payable are normally paid
within 30 to 40 days from receipt of a vendor'sdice.

Our inventory turnover for the year ended Decen®ier2005 was 4.5 times, compared with 4.1 timesHeryear ended December 31,
2005. The increase in the inventory turnover ratdtie year ended December 31, 2005 as compatbd tear ended December 31, 2004 was
primarily due to the effective management of ineeptievels of biosensors. We monitor our invent®itosely, especially as it pertains to the
mix of different biosensors sold, and the salesimas of new biosensors launched in 2004. We expeaatrease our inventory levels through
the first quarter of 2006 with a target of mainbagnat least three months worth of inventory in fadility in Waltham, MA. This may have the
effect of decreasing our inventory turnover rate.

The following sets forth information relating tcetsources and uses of our cash.

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $1,90¢ $ (2,652) $(3,879)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi $3,514 $(28,706) $ (204)

Net cash provided by financing activiti $ 812 $ 31,671 $ 2,99¢
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Cash provided by operating activities was approxéyab1.9 million in the 2005, compared with casled in operating activities of $2.7
million in 2004. In 2005, we recorded $938,000 @i imcome. In addition, we had $1.5 million in degation, amortization and other non-cash
items. We had a net use of cash totaling approxiy&650,000 for our investment in working capitethe primary drivers of our investment in
working capital were as follows: Our accounts reglele increased $1.8 million, excluding the chaimgthe allowance for doubtful accounts,
due to growth in revenues offset by the more rapitection of amounts due from our customers adenged by the decrease in DSO from 50
in 2004 to 40 in 2005. Our inventories increased $dillion due to the growth in our business and thua strategic decision to increase
inventory levels from two months to three monthguofchases. Accounts payable, representing amdueto our vendors, increased
approximately $800,000, principally due to increaseamounts due to our third-party manufacturera eesult of the growth in our business
and the increase in our inventory levels. Accrugokeses increased $1.2 million, primarily due wéases in commissions and bonuses owed
to sales representatives and third party distritsuas a result of the increase in our revenueserbef revenue, net of deferred costs, increased
$589,000 due to the increase in the number of n€wastdt docking stations sold to customers.

Cash used in operations in 2004 was driven by étéoss of $4.3 million and a net investment of %360 in working capital, offset in
part by $2.0 million of non-cash items.

Cash provided by investing activities was $3.5ionillin 2005, compared with cash used in investictiygies of $28.7 million in 2004. In
2005, there were net maturities of investmentsiénamount of approximately $3.6 million, which wasnarily reinvested in cash equivalents.
In 2004, $31.0 million of proceeds from equity ficings was invested in short-term and long-terndb@imaturity investments. In 2005 and
2004 cash was used for the purchase of fixed agstite amount of $475,100 and $545,200, respdgtipemarily representing production
tooling equipment for new products, especiallyttiied generation neurodiagnostic systems in devety, computer equipment and leasehold
improvements in 2005 and production tooling and poter equipment in 2004.

In connection with our property lease entered attthe beginning of January, 2001, we are requoedaintain, for the benefit of the
lessor, an irrevocable standby letter of credtirsgethe lessor as the beneficiary. The originabant of the letter of credit was $1,860,000.
During September 2005, in accordance with the terihtise lease agreement, the amount required uhddetter of credit was reduced to
$1,430,000. The letter of credit is secured byréfimte of deposit in an amount equal to 102%hef letter of credit. The lease expires in
March 2009. The certificate of deposit is renewahl80-day increments. This amount is classifiedeatricted cash in the balance sheet. The
restricted cash balance as of December 31, 200bdmasreduced by approximately $438,600 from thanica as of December 31, 2004 to
approximately $1,458,600.

Cash provided by financing activities was $812,206 $31.7 million in 2005 and 2004, respectivelgsiCprovided by financing activiti
in 2005 represents the proceeds from the exeré€is@ck options and the issuance of shares undezraployee stock purchase plan. The cash
from financing activities in 2004 primarily repreded the net proceeds of $24.0 million realizednfimur initial public offering, including the
net proceeds from the over-allotment shares, asaselet proceeds of $10.6 million received from idsuance of preferred stock in a private
placement, offset by payments on long-term del$30® million.

During 2006, we will be continuing to expend furidgonnection with our efforts to expand our saled marketing for the NC-stat
System, although more modestly than the expansitime last several quarters, and continue our oiggaiogram of making enhancements and
improvements to the NC-stat System, including teetbpment of new and/or improved biosensors, pdior the diagnosis of additional
neuropathies, and the development of a third géoeraeurodiagnostic system. In connection withdbgelopment efforts on a third
generation neurodiagnostic system, we expect ttragnto incur
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additional capital expenditures in the first quad®2006 for production tooling costs. We alsorpla expend funds on the design of a drug
delivery system, which is in its early stages ofalepment, for the minimally invasive delivery tierapeutic agents to treat neuropathies by
both primary care and specialist physicians. We algect to incur capital expenditures for compbhsdware and software to support the
growth in our business and the additional requirgmef our customer base. We believe that the coatioin of funds available from cash and
cash equivalents and funds available from our sieom investments will be adequate to finance awaing operations for at least 24 months,
including the expenditures described above.

As of December 31, 2005, we have federal and sttteperating loss carryforwards available to daffsture taxable income of
$35.5 million and $28.8 million, respectively, afiedleral and state research and development ciafdbts63,000 and $126,000, respectively,
which may be available to reduce future taxablenne and the related taxes thereon. The net opgiatis and research and development
credit carryforwards expire at various dates beigigin 2011 for federal and 2006 for state. Owngrsihanges in our company, as defined in
the Internal Revenue Code, are expected to havedashlimitation on the amount of net operating lasd research and development credit
carryforwards that can be utilized annually to effuture taxable income and taxes, based on dpségmaf the provisions of Section 382 of 1
Internal Revenue Code. Subsequent changes in auership could further affect the limitation in fotuyears.

To date, inflation has not had a material impacbonfinancial operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Contractual Obilgest and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
As of December 31, 2005, we did not have any oféhee sheet financing arrangements.

The following table summarizes our principal contual obligations as of December 31, 2005 and ffeets such obligations are expec
to have on our liquidity and cash flows in futuexipds.

Payments due in

Contractual Obligations Total 2006 2007 and 200¢ 2009 and 201( After 2010
Operating lease obligatiol $3,022,50( $ 930,00 $1,860,00( $232,50( $—
Purchase order obligatio 2,656,90( 2,656,90( — — —
License agreement obligatio 85,00C 85,00C — — =
Total contractual obligations $5,764,40( $3,671,90( $1,860,00( $232,50( $—

In addition to the abovhsted items, we entered into two separate licemgeements. The first license agreement is wittMhssachuset
Institute of Technology, or M.I.T. We have obtairedght to use certain technology through the tefrthe M.1.T.’s patent rights on such
technology, which is exclusive for a period of ¥ays from the date of the license agreement. lhange, we issued shares of common stock
to M.L.T. and are required to pay royalties of 24.6f net sales of products incorporating the lieentechnology. In addition, we are require
pay royalties ranging from 25% to 50% of paymeeteived from sublicensees, depending on the degnrehich the licensor’s technology
was incorporated into the products sublicensedsbyruaddition, we are obligated to pay M.1.T. aalHicense maintenance fees. On or before
December 31, 2002, we have paid M.1.T. annual eemaintenance fees totaling $50,000 in the agtgeBar each year after 2003, we are
obligated to pay M.I.T. annual license maintenaiees of $75,000 if minimum sales requirements atewet. All annual license maintenance
fees that we pay can be used to offset future tieggbayable under the agreement. We have thetogbtminate this license agreement at any
time upon six months’ notice. Through the year ehdecember 31, 2005, we have not incorporatedit@nsed technology into our products.

The second license agreement is with an unrelatediparty. We obtained the right to use certawppietary technology of this third
party. This technology is used in the manufactdreuo NC-stat
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biosensors. The term of this agreement is perpetublect to rights of termination. In exchange,weze required to pay the licensor $50,000
every year for the first three years of the agradiria subsequent years, we are required to pay®0Qer year as long as we continue to use
the licensed technology. We paid $10,000 duringydee ended December 31, 2005. We have the rigktitainate this license agreement upon
written notice not later than 30 days prior to amypiversary date.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our financial statements are based on the seleatidrapplication of generally accepted accounthigciples, which require us to make
estimates and assumptions about future eventsiftegt the amounts reported in our financial staets and the accompanying notes. Future
events and their effects cannot be determined edittainty. Therefore, the determination of estimatzjuires the exercise of judgment. Actual
results could differ from those estimates, and sugh differences may be material to our finandiesnents. We believe that the policies set
forth below may involve a higher degree of judgmem complexity in their application than our othecounting policies and represent the
critical accounting policies used in the preparatid our financial statements. If different assuions or conditions were to prevail, the results
could be materially different from our reporteduks. Our significant accounting policies are preed within Note 2 to our Financial
Statements.

Revenue Recognitic

Our revenue recognition policy is to recognize rewas from our monitor and biosensors upon shipiifigme fee is fixed and
determinable, persuasive evidence of an arrangeexésts, collection of the resulting receivablessiasonably assured and product returns are
reasonably estimable. Revenues from our dockirtgpetand access to the onCall Information Systeancansidered one unit of accounting
are deferred and recognized over the shorter oéstimated customer relationship period or therestttd useful life of the product, currently
three years. We record revenue on a net basigddupt sales made to distributors, based uponrtiwiat billed to the distributors, when the
distributor accepts the responsibility for invoigithe customer and the responsibility for the dgkollections and product returns from the
customer.

When multiple elements are contained in a singi@ngement, the Company allocates revenue betweegléments based on their relal
fair value, provided that each element meets theriz for treatment as a separate unit of accagnthn element is considered a separate unit
of accounting if it has value to the customer @teand-alone basis, there is objective, reliabldevie of the fair value of the undelivered
elements and delivery or performance of the undetid elements is considered probable and subshaiti#he control of the Company. Fair
value is determined based upon the price chargesh e element is sold separately.

Revenue recognition involves judgments, includisgeasments of expected returns, allowance for fidaaicounts and expected
customer relationship periods. We analyze varias$ofs, including a review of specific transactioms historical returns, average customer
relationship periods, customer usage, customenbeataand market and economic conditions. Changesigments or estimates on these
factors could materially impact the timing and amioof revenues and costs recognized. Should mark&tonomic conditions deteriorate, our
actual return or bad debt experience could exceeéstimate.

Certain product sales are made with a thirty-dgltrof return. Since we can reasonably estimateduteturns, we recognize revenues
associated with product sales that contain a n§heturn upon shipment and at the same time retiw@nue by the amount of estimated
returns under the provisions of SFAS No. 48, “RexeRecognition When Right of Return Exists.”
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Warranty Costs

We accrue for device and biosensor warranty cagtedime of sale. While we engage in extensivapct quality programs and
processes, our warranty obligation is affected fmglpct failure rates, user error, variability inygtology and anatomy of customers’ patients,
material usage and delivery costs. Should actwalymt failure and user error rates, material usagielivery costs differ from our estimates,
the amount of actual warranty costs could matgridiffer from our estimates. Warranty costs aresblasn the cost of repairing or replacing
monitors and docking stations and based on thacepient cost of biosensors.

Asset Valuatiol

Asset valuation includes assessing the recordet &l certain assets, including accounts receiyalentories and fixed assets. We u
variety of factors to assess valuation, dependpanuhe asset. Accounts receivable are evaluateeth#pon our historical experience, the age
of the receivable and current market and economwnidlitions. Should current market and economic dwr deteriorate, our actual bad debt
experience could exceed our estimate. The reaiasilie of inventories is based upon the typedarals of inventory held, forecasted
demand, pricing, competition and changes in teawywlShould current market and economic conditabeteriorate, our actual recovery could
be less than our estimate.

Accounting for Income Tax

As part of the process of preparing our finandiatesments, we are required to estimate our incaxestin each of the jurisdictions in
which we operate. This process involves estimatimgactual current tax exposure, including assggia risks associated with tax audits,
together with assessing temporary differences tiaguirom the different treatment of items for t@xd accounting purposes. These differences,
together with cumulative net operating losses,Itésueferred tax assets and liabilities, which srcluded within our balance sheet. We assess
the likelihood that our deferred tax assets wilkdeovered from future taxable income and, to tttere we believe that recovery is not more
likely than not, establish a valuation allowancheprimary factor used in the determination ofwtakiation allowance is our historical
profitability. In the event that actual resultsfdiffrom these estimates, our provision for incdeees could be materially impacted.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2005, the Financial Accounting Stand@&dard (“FASB”) issued FASB Staff Position (“F9HFAS 115-1/124-1, “The
Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment andAplication to Certain Investments.” The guidaneetiis FSP addresses the
determination of when an investment is considemguhired, whether that impairment is other-than-teragy and the measurement of an
impairment loss. The FSP also includes accountimgiderations subsequent to the recognition oftherahen-temporary impairment and
requires certain disclosures about unrealized tofsd have not been recognized as other-than-t@mypimnpairments. The guidance in this
FSP applies to reporting periods beginning afterddeber 15, 2005. The adoption of this FSP did ageta material impact on the Company’s
financial position or results of operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No 154, “AccougtChanges and Error Corrections—a replacemenfd& @pinion No. 20 and
FASB Statement No. 3" (“SFAS No. 154"). SFAS No4ldhanges the requirements for the accounting gmatting of a change in accounting
principle. SFAS No. 154 applies to all voluntaryaoles in accounting principles. It also applieshtanges required by an accounting
pronouncement in the unusual instance that theogoreement does not contain specific transition isious. When a pronouncement includes
specific transition provisions, those provisiond wi
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continue to be followed. SFAS No. 154 is effectieeaccounting changes and corrections of errodenia fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. Earlier application is permiftecaccounting changes and corrections of errocsiwing in fiscal years beginning after
June 1, 2005. The adoption of SFAS No. 154 is rpeeted to have a material impact on our finanmiglition or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123{Rich is a revision of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting fetock-Based
Compensation,” and supersedes Accounting Princiesd (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stkdssued to Employees” and SFAS
No. 148“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transitioil Disclosure.” This statement requires thattiet resulting from all share-
based payment transactions be recognized in thedial statements. This statement establishegdhie as the measurement objective in
accounting for share-based payment arrangementsegodes all entities to apply a fair value basehsurement method in accounting for
share-based payment transactions with employeepefar equity instruments held by employee shareasship plans. As a result, beginning
January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R) usiagriodified prospective method and have begunatéftgthe stock-based compensation
expense determined under fair value based methdtie income statement rather than as pro fornwogdigre in the notes to the financial
statements. The Company uses the Black-Scholesngpticing model for determining the fair valueitsfstock options and amortizes its stock-
based compensation expense using the straightalgteod. The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) will haweaterial impact on our results of
operations.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this annual reportamA0-K, including under the section titled “Maeagent’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” atiter sections of this annual report, include fadMaoking statements within the meaning
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, asaded, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchamg®{A1934, as amended, including,
without limitation, statements regarding our or management’s expectations, hopes, beliefs, ilesitor strategies regarding the future. The
words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “contiue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “plan” andimilar expressions may identify forward-
looking statements, but the absence of these wiwes not mean that a statement is not forward4gpkihe forward-looking statements
contained in this annual report are based on ouectiexpectations and beliefs concerning futureeligments and their potential effects or
There can be no assurance that future developraffatging us will be those that we have anticipafigtese forward-looking statements
involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some biclv are beyond our control) or other assumptibas may cause actual results or
performance to be materially different from thogpressed or implied by these forward-looking staets. These risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, those factors diésd in the section titled “Risk Factors.” Shoolde or more of these risks or uncertainties
materialize, or should any of our assumptions pingerrect, actual results may vary in materiapeeds from those projected in these forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligationpiatie or revise any forward-looking statements,théreas a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, except as may be reduinder applicable securities laws.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsun imvestment portfolio and have no foreign excleogntracts. Our financial
instruments consist of cash, cash equivalentsi$éon investments, accounts receivable, accouaytalge and accrued expenses. We consider
investments that, when purchased, have a remainatgrity of 90 days or less to be cash equivaldits.primary objectives of our investment
strategy are to preserve principal, maintain prdigeidity to meet operating needs, and maximizgdds. To minimize our exposure to an
adverse shift in interest rates, we invest mainlgdash equivalents, short-term investments andterrg investments with a maturity of
18 months or less and maintain an average maiirityelve months or less. We do not believe tha®% change in interest rate percentages
would have a material impact on the fair value wf imvestment portfolio or our interest income.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

The information required by this item may be foumdpages F-1 through F-26 of this Form 10-K with éxception of quarterly financial
information which is presented below:

Year Ended December 31, 200

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Revenues $ 6,789,76: $ 8,067,50¢ $ 9,109,43¢ $10,331,42" $34,298,13:
Gross margir $ 4,972,03¢ $ 5,977,44. $ 6,791,59! $ 7,698,96. $25,440,03!
Net income (loss) attributable

common shareholde $ (596,319 $ (40,149 $ 769,26F $ 805451 $ 938,25¢
Net income (loss) per common sh

Basic $ (0.05 $ (0.00) $ 0.06 $ 0.07 $ 0.08

Diluted $ (0.05) $ (0.00) $ 0.06 $ 0.06 $ 0.07
Weighted average shares use

compute net income (loss) per

common shar

Basic 12,043,10: 12,085,44¢ 12,187,83! 12,289,07' 12,152,13¢

Diluted 12,043,10: 12,085,44¢ 13,103,15¢ 13,181,14( 12,986,36"

Year Ended December 31, 200
First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total

Revenues $ 3,030,26° $ 4,296,01! $ 4,819,31¢ $ 5,774,48¢ $ 17,920,08!
Gross margir $ 2,203,06( $ 3,125,59. $ 3,529,07! $ 4,209,03¢ $ 13,066,76:
Net loss attributable to commt

shareholder $(9,153,07) $(1,956,93) $(1,563,769 $ (835,179 $(13,508,94()
Net loss per common share (basic

diluted) $ (8.78) $ (1.85) $ (0.18) $ (0.0 $ (2.35)
Weighted average shares used to

compute basic and diluted net los

per common shal 1,042,99( 1,055,99: 8,819,55¢ 12,025,22: 5,747,57¢

Item 9. Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Rancial Disclosure

There have been no changes or disagreements withia@nts on accounting of financial disclosureteratin the last fiscal year.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
(&) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

Our management carried out an evaluation, withptiréicipation of our Chief Executive Officer andraChief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and praoesi(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(deuthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act")) as of DecembeRB05. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Exee@fficer and our Chief Financial
Officer concluded that they believe that our disal@ controls and procedures are effective to ertbat information required to be disclosed
by us in reports that we file or submit under thetange Act, is recorded, processed, summarizedegudted, within the time periods
specified in the Securities and Exchange Commissiates and forms. In designing and evaluatingdisclosure controls and procedures, we
and our management recognize that any controlpeowtdures, no matter how well designed and ombraga provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objestiv
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and our management necessarily was required ty &ppldgment in evaluating and implementing pblestontrols and procedures. We
continue to review and document our disclosurerotsiind procedures, including our internal costmler financial reporting, and may from
time to time make changes aimed at enhancing #fifeictiveness and to ensure that our systems ewithieour business.

(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting.
There was no change in our internal control ovearicial reporting that occurred during the fisazduger ended December 31, 2005 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likelyrtaterially affect, our internal control over fir@al reporting.

(c) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

Our management is responsible for establishingnasidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), for our companydeinthe supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officere conducted an evaluation of the effectivenessuointernal control over financial
reporting based on the frameworklinernal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Based on our evatuatinder the framework imternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the
COSO, our management concluded that our interrtaloover financial reporting was effective ashdcember 31, 2005.

Our management’s assessment of the effectivenemg dafiternal control over financial reporting dDecember 31, 2005 has been
audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an indepgmdgistered public accounting firm, as statethair report which is included on page F-
2 of this Form 10-K.

Iltem 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART IlI

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The response to this item is contained in our P@Statement relating to our 2006 Annual Meeting tofic&holders (the “Proxy Statemejt”
and is incorporated herein by reference.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The response to this item is incorporated hereirebgrence from the discussion responsive theretbd Proxy Statement.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Shareholder Matters

The response to this item is incorporated hereirebgrence from the discussion responsive theretiod Proxy Statement

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The response to this item is incorporated hereirebgrence from the discussion responsive theretbd Proxy Statement.

Iltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The response to this item is incorporated hereirebgrence from the discussion responsive theretibd Proxy Statement.

PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(8 1. Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements are listetiéraccompanying index to financial statementpage F-1.

2. Financial Statement Schedule

The Schedule on page S-1 is filed as part of gpert.

3. Exhibit Index:

Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1
3.2
4.1
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6

Form of Second Amended and Restate-laws of NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1

Form of Third Amended and Restated Certificatenoblporation of NeuroMetrix, Inc.(:
Specimen certificate for shares of common stoc

Lease Agreement dated October 18, 2000 betweerti-Auenue LLC and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(
Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option/Restridisck®lan(1)

Amended and Restated 1998 Equity Incentive Ple

First Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998 Etjuigntive Plan(1

2004 Stock Option and Incentive Plan

2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plat
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10.7
10.8

10.9

10.1C

10.11

10.1z

10.15

10.14
10.1¢

10.1¢€

10.17

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2C

10.21

10.2z

10.2¢

10.24

10.2¢

*10.26
*23.1
*31.1

*31.2

*32

Form of Indemnification Agreement between Neuroletnc. and each of its directors(

Employment Agreement, dated June 21, 2004, by atwlden NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Shai N.
Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.(1

Letter Agreement, dated June 19, 2002, by and letWeuroMetrix, Inc. and Gary L. Gregory
1

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Stock Option Agreements (1998npldated as of July 1, 2002 and April
2004 by and between NeuroMetrix, Inc. and Gary tegdry(1)

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality and N-Compete Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2002, by
and between Gary L. Gregory and NeuroMetrix, Inc

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & No-Compete Agreement dated as of June 21, 2004, dy an
between Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D. and NeuroMetrig.(1)

NeuroMetrix, Inc. No-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (1998 Plan) datedf June 21, 2004,
by and between Shai N. Gozani M.D., Ph.D., and bdidetrix, Inc.(1)

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated 1998yHquéntive Plan(1

NeuroMetrix, Inc. No-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (1998 Plan) datedf June 21, 2004
by and between Gary Gregory and NeuroMetrix, Inc

Indemnification Agreement dated June 21, 2004,ray/lzetween Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph.D.,
and NeuroMetrix, Inc.(1

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Nc-Compete Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2000, by and
between Michael Williams and NeuroMetrix, Inc.

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Nc-Compete Agreement, dated as of October 13, 1988, b
and between Guy Daniello and NeuroMetrix Inc

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement, underfeeiroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option And
Incentive Plan(2

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement Fom@many Employees, under the
NeuroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option And Incentiviaii2)

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement FomNBmployee Directors, under the
NeuroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option And Incentiviaii(2)

Letter Agreement, dated February 7, 2005, by ahadrn NeuroMetrix, Inc. and W. Bradford
Smith(3)

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement, underNeeiroMetrix, Inc. 2004 Stock Option and
Incentive Plan, by and between NeuroMetrix, Ina . Bradford Smith(3

NeuroMetrix, Inc. Confidentiality & Nc-Compete Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2G05, b
and between W. Bradford Smith and NeuroMetrix, (B

Executive Officer Compensation Arrangements (2004ues and 2005 Salaries and Bonus
Targets)(5

Director Compensation Arrangeme

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers |

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuato Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

Certification of Principal Executive Officer andiftipal Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbal-Oxley Act of 200z
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*

(1)
()
3)
(4)
(5)

Filed herewith.

Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix, ;MRegistration Statement on From S-1 (RegistralNo. 333-115440).
Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,'Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on Novemb®, 2004 (File No. 0060856)
Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,' ;MCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed on Februaty 2005 (File No. 000-50856).
Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,';Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 2605 (File No. 000-50856).
Incorporated herein by reference to NeuroMetrix,' ;iQuarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 2005 (File No. 000-50856).
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and) H(dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the ttegi has duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

NEUROMETRIX, INC.
By: /sl _SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D. PH.D

Shai N. Gozani, M.D. Ph.L
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offi

Date: March 16, 200

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belpthe following persons on behalf

of the registrant on March 16, 2006 in the capesitndicated below.

Name

/s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH.D

Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. [

/sl W. BRADFORD SMITH

W. Bradford Smitt

/s/ DAVID E. GOODMAN, M.D.

David E. Goodman, M.C

/s/ _ALLEN J. HINKLE, M.D.

Allen J. Hinkle M.D.

/s/ CHARLES R. LAMANTIA

Charles R. LaManti

/s/ JONATHAN T. LORD, M.D.

Jonathan T. Lord M.C

/sl W. MARK LORTZ

W. Mark Lortz

Title
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Office

and Principal Accounting Office

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
NeuroMetrix, Inc.:

We have completed an integrated audit of NeuroMglinic.’s 2005 financial statements and of itsring control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2005 and audits of its 20042808 financial statements in accordance with thedsdrds of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Ounggis, based on our audits, are presented below.

Financial statements and financial statement sdbedu

In our opinion, the financial statements listedhia index appearing under Item 15 (a) (1) presaryf in all material respects, the
financial position of NeuroMetrix, Inc. at Deceml8dr, 2005 and 2004, and the results of its operatémd its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2005 inoconiy with accounting principles generally accepie the United States of America.
addition, in our opinion, the financial statemechedule listed under Item 15 (a) (2) presentsyfainl all material respects, the information set
forth therein when read in conjunction with theatetl financial statements. These financial statésraemd financial statement schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements and financial statement
schedule based on our audits. We conducted outsanfdhese statements in accordance with the atdaaf the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standamisinethat we plan and perform the audit to obteasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatemAn audit of financial statements includes eixémg, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statgsn assessing the accounting principles usedigniicant estimates made by managemrr
and evaluating the overall financial statement @méation. We believe that our audits provide ageable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessmentyded in “Management’s Annual Report on Internal @arOver Financial Reporting”
appearing under Item 9A, that the Company mainthéféective internal control over financial repagias of December 31, 2005 based on
criteria established imternal Control— Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway
Commission (COSO0), is fairly stated, in all materespects, based on those criteria. Furthermoreyi opinion, the Company maintained, in
all material respects, effective internal contretofinancial reporting as of December 31, 2005glleon criteria establishedlimternal
Control— Integrated Framewoliksued by the COSO. The Company’s managementpsmeible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessmerhefeffectiveness of internal control over finahcégoorting. Our responsibility is to express
opinions on management’s assessment and on theieéfeess of the Company’s internal control oveaficial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of internal control oveagfigial reporting in accordance with the standafdeePublic Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standamisinethat we plan and perform the audit to obteasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reportingis maintained in all material respects. An aaflinternal control over financial reporting
includes obtaining an understanding of internaltic@rover financial reporting, evaluating manageteassessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrebrind performing such other procedures as wsidennecessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable Basisur opinions.
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A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableasssuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclgsddose policies and procedures that (i) pertatheéanaintenance of records tha
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiiansactions and dispositions of the assetseoédmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readslaassurance regarding prevention or timely dieteaf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or démisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 16, 2006
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Balance Sheets

Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term hel«-to-maturity investment
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#fttounts of $400,000
and $300,000 at December 31, 2005 and 2004, resglg
Inventories, ne
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Current portion of deferred cos
Total current asse
Restricted cas
Long-term hel«-to-maturity investment
Fixed assets, ni
Deferred cost
Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensatic
Accrued expense
Current portion of deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenu
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note

Stockholder equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 stardmrized, non
outstanding
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 50,000,000 awtdril2,375,276 ar
12,034,650 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2005 and
2004, respectivel
Additional paic-in capital
Deferred compensatic
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

December 31

2005 2004
$ 817003 $ 1,936,24:
24,081,94¢  18,574,50:
4,543,33¢ 3,126,56¢
2,683,40¢ 1,284,261
614,16¢ 672,97C
223,00¢ 140,71¢
40,315,900  25,735,34¢
1,458,50¢ 1,897,20(
— 9,497,15¢
875,551 679,35¢
247,01% 143,462
$ 42,897,07 $ 37,952,52i
$ 169858 $ 899,291
1,959,621 1,343,20¢
1,213,92¢ 593,42(
760,61% 399,46¢
5,632, 74 3,235,38¢
885,35¢ 471,73¢
130,90¢ 189,091
6,649,00¢ 3,896,21(
1,238 1,203
93,212,36¢  92,278,37"
(425,629 (745,086)
(56,539,920 (57,478,179
36,248,06. _ 34,056,31¢
$ 42,897,07 $ 37,952,52i

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Revenues
Diagnostic devict $ 4,221,31: $ 2,219,48¢ $ 1,302,30¢
Biosensor 30,076,82: 15,700,60( 7,865,251
Total revenue 34,298,13: 17,920,08¢ 9,167,551
Cost of revenues 8,858,09/ 4,853,32¢ 2,706,53¢
Gross margir 25,440,03¢ 13,066,76: 6,461,01¢
Operating expense
Research and development 3,820,62¢ 3,268,36: 2,396,77:
Sales and marketing( 14,150,15° 8,488,041 4,767,64(
General and administrative(1) 7,332,78: 4,844,37¢ 2,850,45¢
Total operating expens 25,303,56¢ 16,600,78¢ 10,014,86°
Income (loss) from operations 136,47¢ (3,534,029 (3,553,849
Interest incomt 838,82¢ 214,09z 23,481
Interest expense (2,042) (964,05¢€) (136,340
Income (loss) before income tax 973,25¢ (4,283,98¢)  (3,666,70%)
Income tax provision 35,00C — —
Net income (loss 938,25¢ (4,283,989 (3,666,709
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred s — (1,386,30)) (2,009,450
Deemed dividend on redeemable convertible preferre(
stock — (787,88E) —
Beneficial conversion feature associated with retsde
convertible preferred stoc — (7,050,777 —
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockhial $ 938,25¢ $(13,508,94) $ (5,676,159
Net income (loss) per common sh.
Basic $ 0.08 $ (2.35) $ (5.46)
Diluted $ 0.07 $ (2.35) $ (5.46)
Weighted average shares used to compute net inloasy}
per common shat
Basic 12,152,13¢ 5,747,57¢ 1,038,817
Diluted 12,986,36! 5,747,57¢ 1,038,817
(1) Non-cash stock-based compensation expense incindbdse amounts are as follows:
Research and developm $ 77,368 $ 249,131 $35,12¢
Sales and marketir 167,69¢ 356,422 36,790
General and administrative 161,26€ 423,04z 24,535
Total nor-cash stoc-based compensatit $406,33( $1,028,59'  $96,45(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Statements of Changes in Redeemable Convertible Peered Stock and Changes in Stockholders’ (DeficitEquity

Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional
Number Number Paid-In Subscriptions Deferred Accumulated
of Shares Amount of Shares Amount Capital Receivable  Compensation Deficit Total
Balance at December 31, 2002 17,498,09¢ $ 45,684,29: 1,036,14: $104 $ = $ (2,143 $ (66,539 $ (39,859,91) $(39,928,49)
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of
stock option: — — 8,723 — 5,894 — — — 5,894
Purchase of treasury sto — — (1,875) — (15) — — — (15)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred
stock to redemptio — 2,009,45( — — (634,729 — — (1,374,722) (2,009,450
Adjustment to deferred compensation
associated with terminated employ: — — — — (2,052) — 2,051 — —
Deferred compensation associated with stock
options — — — — 630,90( — (630,90C) — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — — — 96,450 — 96,450
Net loss — — — — — — — (3,666,70¢) (3,666,70¢)
Balance at December 31, 2003 17,498,09¢  47,693,74: 1,042,99( 104 — (2,143) (598,933) (44,901,34¢)  (45,502,32()
Issuance of Series E-1 redeemable preferred
stock, net of issuance costs of $22, 7,050,77: 10,553,48: — — — — — — —
Issuance of common stock upon exercise (
stock option: — — 49,621 5 44,92€ — — — 44,931
Purchase of treasury sto — — (6,251) 1) (1,249 — — — (1,250)
Cash received from subscriptions receive — — — — — 2,143 — — 2,143
Beneficial conversion feature associated with
redeemable convertible preferred st — 7,050,77: — — — — — (7,050,777) (7,050,777)
Deemed dividend on Series D redeemable
convertible preferred stoc — 787,88t — — — — — (787,88E) (787,88E)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred
stock to redemptio — 1,386,30: — — (932,11¢€) — — (454,18E) (1,386,30])
Initial public offering of common stoc — — 3,450,00( 345 24,005,71¢ — — — 24,006,06¢
Conversion of redeemable convertible
preferred stocl (24,548,87() (67,472,18) 7,488,75¢ 749 67,471,43: — — — 67,472,18:
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Changes in Redeemable Convertible Peered Stock and Changes in Stockholders’ (DeficitEquity (Continued)

Redeemable Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional
Number Number Paid-In Subscriptions Deferred Accumulated
of Shares Amount of Shares Amount Capital Receivable  Compensation Deficit Total

Conversion of warrant to purchase common st — — — — 450,10( — — — 450,10(
Compensation expense associated with stock

options — — — — 436,611 — — — 436,611
Deferred compensation associated with stock

options — — — — 750,56¢€ — (750,56¢€) — —
Adjustment to deferred compensation associated

with terminated employec — — — — (12,429 — 12,42¢ — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — — — 591,98¢ — 591,98¢
Issuance of common stock under employee stock

purchase pla — — 9,532 1 64,817 — — — 64,81¢
Net loss = - — — — — — (4,283,989 _ (4,283,989
Balance at December 31, 2004 — — 12,034,65! 1,203 92,278,37¢ — (745,08¢) (57,478,17)  34,056,31t
Issuance of stock upon exercise of stock optio

and warrant: — 317,361 32 512,82¢ — — — 512,857
Compensation expense associated with stock

options — — — — 120,27: — — — 120,27:
Adjustment to deferred compensation associa

with terminated employec — — — — (33,405) — 33,40t — —
Amortization of deferred compensati — — — — — — 286,05¢ — 286,05¢
Issuance of common stock under employee st

purchase pla — — 23,26t 3 299,297 — — — 299,30(
Income tax effect of the exercise of stock opti — — — — 35,00C — — — 35,00C
Net income = = — — — = — 938,25¢ 938,25¢
Balance at December 31, 2005 — $— | 12,375,271 $1,23¢  $93,212,36¢ $— $ (425,627 $ (56,539,92() $ 36,248,06.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.

Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows for operating activities:
Net income (loss
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to r@ehc
provided by (used in) operating activitit
Depreciation and amortizatic
Compensation expense associated with stock og
Provision for doubtful accoun
Amortization of premium on investmer
Income tax effect of the exercise of stock opti
Accretion of debt issuance discol
Accrued payments on lo-term debt
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a
Accounts payabl
Accrued expenses and compensa
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Deferred revenue and deferred cc
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows for investing activities:
Purchases of fixed asst
Purchases of investmer
Maturities of investment
Release of restricted ca
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock optis

Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertibleped

stock, net of issuance co:

Proceeds from initial public offering, net of offiey costs o

$3,572,90¢

Proceeds from issuance of common stock under ereploy

stock purchase ple
Proceeds from lor-term debt and related warra
Payments on long-term debt
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of '
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for intere:

Years Ended December 31

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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2005 2004 2003
938,25¢ $ (4,283,98) $ (3,666,709
278,932 205,02¢ 214,58¢
406,33( 1,028,59: 96,45C
359,827 235,464 200,32€
439,73¢ 89,175 —
35,00C — —
— 437,77¢ —
— — 12,222
(1,776,60) (1,510,046 (1,221,910
(1,399,14%) (205,871 (216,075
58,801 (455,80E) (33,974
799,292 464,90¢ 329,401
1,236,92: 998,301 334,27F
(58,182) 3,637 61,81¢€
588,92/ 341,201 16,217
1,908,09C ~ (2,651,63) (3,873,377
(475,122 (545,15§)  (203,611)
(15,290,12() (30,954,419 —
18,840,19: 2,793,49: —
438,602 — _
3,513,54¢  (28,706,08)  (203,61J)
512,857 47,074 5,879
— 10,553,48: —
—  24,006,06: —
299,30¢ 64,81¢€ —
— —  3,000,10¢
— (3,000,000 (7,139)
812,157 _ 31,671,44( _ 2,998 84
6,233,79¢ 313,72 (1,078,149
1,936,241 1,622,51¢  2,700,65¢
$ 817003 $ 1093624 $ 162251
2,042 497,40¢ $ 152,99




NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements

1. Nature of the Business

NeuroMetrix, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corgiion, was formed in June 1996. The Company dssiggvelops and sells
proprietary medical devices used to diagnose neatinigs. Neuropathies are diseases of the periphera¢s and parts of the spine that
frequently are caused by or associated with diabé&tes back pain and carpal tunnel syndrome, atagabther clinical disorders. The
Company operates in one business segment.

On July 27, 2004, the Company completed an intigdlic offering (“IPO”)of 3,000,000 shares of its common stock at $8.0GIpare, fo
gross consideration of $24,000,000. All of the skawere sold by the Company. In connection withf@, the Company granted the
underwriters a 30-day over-allotment option to piase up to an additional 450,000 shares of comitemk from the Company at $8.00 per
share, which the underwriters exercised in fulkargust 17, 2004 for gross consideration of $3,600,0he Company’s shares trade on The
Nasdaq National Market under the sym*NURO.”

On July 27, 2004, upon completion of the Compai®@, all shares of the Company’s redeemable coimereferred stock outstanding
on that date converted into 7,488,758 shares ofmmmstock and the outstanding warrant to purchedeemable convertible preferred stock
converted into a warrant to purchase 100,000 sldresmmon stock. This warrant was exercised ihdnlJune 13, 2005.

Rever se Stock Split

On June 2, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directpg@ed a 1-for-4 reverse stock split of the Conymissued common stock, subject
to stockholder approval, to be effected prior ® @ompany’s proposed initial public offering. Omdul8, 2004, the Company’s stockholders
approved this reverse stock split. This reversekssplit became effective on July 15, 2004 uporfilireg by the Company of an amended and
restated certificate of incorporation with the Dredeie Secretary of State. Common shares and othented common shares have been restated
to reflect this reverse split for all periods pretsel.

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significarkccounting Policies
Significant accounting policies applied by the Campin the preparation of its financial statementsas follows:
Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmeasith an original maturity of ninety days or lesshte cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents are recorded at cost which approxinfaiesalue. The Company invests cash primarilg imoney market account and other
investments which management believes are sulgjentrtimal credit and market risk.

Held-to-Maturity | nvestments

The Company’s investment portfolio is classifiechatd-to-maturity, and such investments are statednortized cost. Interest earned on
investments held-to-maturity is included in intéiesome. The amortized cost of investments helth&durity is adjusted for amortization of
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturitichSamortization and accretion are included in ggemcome.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of SignificarAccounting Policies (Continued)
Restricted Cash

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company maigdaiestricted cash in the amount of $1,458,598%4897,200, respectively,
associated with a facility lease. See Note 11.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially expose tloenPany to concentrations of credit risk consistariily of cash and cash equivalents in
bank deposits accounts, short-term and long-teu@sitents and trade receivables. The Company mitesunds in highly rated institutions
and limits its investment in any individual debt®he Company has not experienced significant losdaged to cash and cash equivalents and
does not believe it is exposed to any significaadit risks relating to its cash and cash equivalen

The Company distributes its products through ite oggional sales managers who lead independerst agéncies. At December 31, 2005
and 2004 and for the years ended December 31, 2008, and 2003, no single customer accounted foe t@an 10% of accounts receivable
or revenue.

The Company relies on two thigghrty manufacturers to manufacture all of its cutrgroducts. The disruption or termination of thipy
of these products or a significant increase incthet of these products from these sources could hawadverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial position and results of opergti

Inventories

Inventories, consisting primarily of purchased comgnts, are stated at the lower of cost or ma@kest is determined using the first-in,
first-out method. The Company writes down inventaryts net realizable value for excess or obsatetentory.

Fair Value of Financial | nstruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financiatrimaents, which include cash and cash equivalshtat-term and long-term
investments, accounts receivable, accounts pagald@ccrued expenses, approximate their fair \atlileecember 31, 2005 and 2004.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when the followiiigr@a have been met: persuasive evidence of ramgement exists, delivery has
occurred and risk of loss has passed, the sefiece to the buyer is fixed or determinable andextion is reasonably assured. The Company
records revenue on a net basis for product saleg neadistributors, based upon the amount billetthéadistributors, when the distributor
accepts the responsibility for invoicing the custorand the responsibility for the risk of collectsoand product returns from the customer.

When multiple elements are contained in a singi@ngement, the Company allocates revenue betweegléments based on their relal
fair value, provided that each element meets theriz for treatment as a separate unit of accagnthn element is considered a separate unit
of accounting if it has value to the customer ataand-alone basis, there is objective, reliabldevie of the fair value of the
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of SignificarAccounting Policies (Continued)

undelivered elements and delivery or performandd@indelivered elements is considered proballesahstantially in the control of the
Company. Fair value is determined based upon tlee pharged when the element is sold separately.

Diagnostic device revenues consist of sales of M€rsonitors and NC-stat docking stations. Revemsssciated with the sale of the NC-
stat monitors are recognized upon shipment providatithe fee is fixed and determinable, evideriGe mersuasive arrangement exists,
collection of receivables is reasonably assurenfjymt returns are reasonably estimable and noragng obligations exist. The revenues from
the sale of a NC-stat docking station and accetisetonCall Information System are considered arieaf accounting and deferred and
recognized on a straight line basis over the estichperiod of time the Company provides the seragsociated with the onCall Information
System, which is the shorter of the estimated ecnstaelationship period or the estimated usefel dif the docking station, currently
three years. The deferred revenue and deferred aosipresented as separate line items on the pacging balance sheet.

Biosensor revenues consist of sales of disposaBlstit biosensors and are recognized upon shippnewitled that the fee is fixed and
determinable, evidence of a persuasive arrangeexsts, collection of receivables is reasonablyigss and product returns are reasonably
estimable.

The Company recognizes revenues associated withlatoon and training upon completion of the seeviThe Company determines the
fair value of installation and training based omthp service billing rates.

Certain product sales are made with a thirty-dgitrof return. Since the Company can reasonabisnat# future returns, the Company
recognizes revenues associated with product de¢santain a right of return upon shipment anthatsame time reduces revenue by the
amount of estimated returns under the provisiorStatement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SHA®. 48, “Revenue Recognition
When Right of Return Exists”.

Proceeds received in advance of product shipmenteaorded as deferred revenues.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedad@mount and do not bear interest. The allowéoragoubtful accounts is the
Company’s best estimate of the amount of probatglditlosses in its existing accounts receivable Tompany reviews its allowance for
doubtful accounts and determines the allowancetbasean analysis of customer past payment hispyoduct usage activity, and recent
communications between the Company and the custdtast due balances over 90 days are reviewedd@iNy for collectibility. Account
balances are charged off against the allowance We@ompany feels it is probable the receivablenei be recovered. The Company does
not have any off-balance sheet credit exposuréactka its customers.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability methatodunting for income taxes. Deferred tax assatdiabilities reflect the impact of
temporary differences between amounts of assettiailities for financial reporting purposes aneth amounts as measured under enacte
laws, operating losses and




NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of SignificarAccounting Policies (Continued)

tax credit carryforwards. A valuation allowancedguired to offset any net deferred tax assetsaged upon the available evidence, there is
reasonable uncertainty as to the realization ofifferred tax assets.

Research and Development

Costs incurred in the research and developmettso€ompanys products are expensed as incurred. Includedseareh and developme
costs are wages, benefits and other operating sostsas facilities, supplies and overhead direelgted to the Company’s research and
development efforts.

Product Warranty Costs

The Company accrues estimated product warrantg ebghe time of sale which are included in costadés in the statements of
operations. The amount of the accrued warrantylitiais based on historical information such astpexperience, product failure rates, number
of units repaired and estimated cost of materidllabor.

The following is a rollforward of the Company’s aged warranty liability for the years ended Decengfe 2005, 2004 and 2003:

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Balance at beginning of peri $ 59,87¢ $ 22,151 $ 2,711
Accrual for warrantie: 310,29C 187,17¢ 117,69¢
Settlements made (306,044)  (149,451)  (98,25EF)
Balance at end of period $ 64,12 $ 59,87¢ $ 22,151

Fixed Assets and Long-Lived Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost and deprecigitegi the straighline method over the estimated useful life of easbet. Expenditures 1
repairs and maintenance are charged to expensewrsdd. On disposal, the related assets and adateduwepreciation are eliminated from
accounts and any resulting gain or loss is includede Company'’s statement of operations. Leaskingbrovements are amortized over the
shorter of the estimated useful life of the impreait or the remaining term of the lease.

The Company periodically evaluates the recovetgtsfi its property and equipment and other longdivassets when circumstances
indicate that an event of impairment may have aeclin accordance with the provisions of SFAS NBt,T'Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. This periodic rewvienay result in an adjustment of estimated depbéeiives or an asset impairment. When
indicators of impairment are present, the carryialyies of the asset are evaluated in relationdw tiperating performance and future
undiscounted cash flows of the underlining busindgke future undiscounted cash flows are less ttheir book value, an impairment exists.
The impairment is measured as the difference betwezbook value and the fair value of the undegyasset. Fair values are based on
estimates of the market prices and assumptionseecnimg the amount and timing of estimated futurghdédows and assumed discount rates,
reflecting varying degrees of perceived risk. N@painment was identified in the years ended DecerBbeP005, 2004 and 2003.
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of SignificarAccounting Policies (Continued)
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

Employee stock awards granted under the Compaoyigpensation plans are accounted for in accordaitbeArcounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock IssuecEmployees” (“APB No. 25”), and related inter@tiins. The Company has not adopted
the fair value method of accounting for stock-baseapensation prescribed by SFAS No. 123, “Accogntor Stock-Based
Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123"). Accordingly, comgation expense is recorded for options issued fuaraes to the extent that the fair
market value of the Company’s common stock excéeglgxercise price of the option at the date grhatel all other criteria for fixed
accounting have been met. All stock-based awarmistgd to non-employees are accounted for at taieivélue and the resulting compensation
expense is generally recognized over the perisofice. Effective January 1, 2006, the CompanyeabSFAS No. 123(R) using the
modified prospective method, and amortizing itcktbased compensation expense, as calculated th&rigjackScholes option pricing mod
using the straight-line method.

The Company provides the disclosure requiremen&~&S No. 148, “Accounting for Stock Based Compénsa—Transition and
Disclosure—an amendment of Financial Accountingi@ads Board Statement No. 123" (“SFAS No. 148"¢ompensation expense for the
Company’s stoclbased compensation plan had been determined bagbd @air value at the grant dates as calculatedt¢ordance with SF/
No. 123, the Compar's net income (loss) attributable to common stoddtérs and net income (loss) per common share wequbtloximate the
pro forma amounts below:

Years Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003

Net income (loss) attributable to commr

stockholders, as report $ 938,25¢ $(13,508,94) $(5,676,15%)
Add employee stock based compensation

expense included in reported net income

(loss) 406,33( 1,028,59¢ 96,45C
Less stock-based compensation expense

determined under fair value meth (1,432,03)) (1,503,18¢) (209,329
Net los—pro forma $ (87,447 $(13,983,53) $(5,789,03)

Net income (loss) per common she
As reportec

Basic $ 0.08 $ (235 $ (5.46)
Diluted $ 0.07 $ (2.35) $ (5.46)
Pro forma (basic and diluted) $ (0.01) $ (243 $ (5.57)




NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of SignificarAccounting Policies (Continued)

Prior to the July 2004 IPO, the Company establighedair value of common stock by reference topheviously issued redeemable
convertible preferred stock and by reference texgrected IPO price. Prior to the IPO, assumed Nibfavas zero percent. The Company has
estimated the fair value of its granted stock opgtiby applying the following weighted average agstions:

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003

Risk-free interest rate 3.5%-4.6% 3.5% 3.0%
Expected dividend yiel 0 0 0
Expected option terr 5 years 5 years 5 years
Volatility 52.6% 65.0% 0.0%
Weighted average fair value of options

granted at fair valu $ 723 $ 492 $ 5.6C
Weighted average fair value of options granted

below fair value $ — $ 834 % —

For 2004, the weighted average fair value of ogtigranted prior to and subsequent to the IPO wd$%hd $5.74, respectively.

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share

The Company accounts for and discloses net incéwss)(per common share in accordance with SFASLR®, “Earnings Per Share”.
Basic net income (loss) per common share is cordpatedividing net income (loss) attributable to coon stockholders by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding. Dihegeincome (loss) per common share is computetiviiging net income (loss)
attributable to common stockholders by the weiglateefage number of common shares and dilutive fatemmmon share equivalents then
outstanding. Potential common shares consist aeshasuable upon the exercise of stock optionsaamcants (using the treasury stock
method), unvested restricted stock awards and #ighted average conversion of the preferred stattkshares of common stock (using the if-
converted method).

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Basic:
Net income (loss) available to common stockhol $ 938,25¢ $ (13,508,940 $(5,676,15%)
Weighted average shar 12,152,13¢ 5,747,57¢ 1,038,81
Basic income (loss) per common sh $ 0.08 $ (2.35 $ (5.46)
Diluted:
Net income (loss) available to common stockhol $ 938,25¢ $(13,508,94() $(5,676,15%)
Weighted average shar 12,152,13¢ 5,747,57¢ 1,038,81
Effect of stock option 821,254 — —
Effect of warrant 12,972 — —
Weighted average shares, as adjusted 12,986,36! 5,747,57¢ 1,038,81:
Diluted income (loss) per common share $ 0.07 $ (2.35 $ (5.46)
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of SignificarAccounting Policies (Continued)

The following potentially dilutive common sharesre@xcluded from the calculation of diluted netome (loss) per common share
because their effect was antidilutive for eachhefperiods presented:

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Options 45,400 1,132,57: 450,41
Warrants — 100,00( 100,00(
Convertible preferred stoc — — 5,647,28¢

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsirgiexpense was approximately $280,000, $215,80%329,200 in the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income”tdighes standards for reporting and displaying aamensive income and its
components in a full set of general-purpose firalnstiatements. For the years ended December 3%, 2004 and 2003, the Company had no
components of comprehensive income or loss ottzer tiet income (loss).

Segments

The Company is in the business of designing, dgwedpand selling proprietary medical devices. TlenPany evaluates its business
activities that are regularly reviewed by the CligEcutive Officer for which discrete financial amfnation is available. As a result of this
evaluation, the Company determined that it hasopegating segment with operations in one geographacation which is the United States.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assus it affect the reported amounts of assetsiabifities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efitancial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those esttes.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company is subject to risks common to companiéise medical device industry, including, but fiotited to, development by the
Company or its competitors of new technologicabiwetions, dependence on key personnel, custormrembursement from thirgarty payers
protection of proprietary technology, and complemdth regulations of the U.S. Food and Drug Adstirtion.

Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiemhform with the current year presentation.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2005, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard (“FASB”) issued FASB Staff Position (“FHFAS 115-1/124-1 “The
Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment andApplication to
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NeuroMetrix, Inc.
Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of SignificarAccounting Policies (Continued)

Certain Investments.” The guidance in this FSP eslirs the determination of when an investmentrisidered impaired, whether that
impairment is other-than-temporary and the measenémwf an impairment loss. The FSP also includeswatting considerations subsequent to
the recognition of an other-than-temporary impaimtrend requires certain disclosures about unrehlizgses that have not been recognized as
other-than-temporary impairments. The guidanchismESP applies to reporting periods beginning &tcember 15, 2005. The adoption of
this FSP did not have a material impact on the Gomjs financial position or results of operations.

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No 154, “AccongitChanges and Error Corrections—a replacemenP& @pinion No. 20 and FASB
Statement No. 3" (“SFAS No. 154”). SFAS No. 154 s the requirements for the accounting and rieygoof a change in accounting
principle. SFAS No. 154 applies to all voluntaryaobes in accounting principles. It also applieshanges required by an accounting
pronouncement in the unusual instance that theogoreement does not contain specific transition isious. When a pronouncement includes
specific transition provisions, those provisiond wontinue to be followed. SFAS No. 154 is effgetfor accounting changes and correctior
errors made in fiscal years beginning after Decamibe2005. Earlier application is permitted focagnting changes and corrections of errors
occurring in fiscal years beginning after JunedQ% The adoption of SFAS No. 154 is not expeateltbive a material impact on the
Company’s financial position or results of operaio

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123@t)are-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123(R)"), whickairevision of SFAS
No. 123 and supersedes APB No.and SFAS No. 148. This statement requires thatakéeresulting from all share-based payment
transactions be recognized in the financial statemd his statement establishes fair value as #esnorement objective in accounting for share-
based payment arrangements and requires all erttitigpply a fair value based measurement methaddounting for share-based payment
transactions with employees except for equity umagnts held by employee share ownership plans.rAsut, beginning January 1, 2006, the
Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modgiedpective method and has begun reflecting thekdtased compensation expense
determined under fair value based methods in thenire statement rather than as pro forma discldsute notes to the financial statements.
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricingehfor determining the fair value of its stockiops and amortizes its stock-based
compensation expense using the straight-line methloel adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) will have a miatempact on the Company’s results
of operations.

3. Inventories
At December 31, 2005 and 2004, inventories cowngigte following:

December 31

2005 2004
Purchased components $ 276,167 $ 293,26:
Finished good 2,407,24: 990,99¢

$2,683,40¢ $1,284,26:
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4. Held-to-Maturity Investments
Held-to-maturity investments as of December 31,5280d 2004 are as follows:

Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
2005
Commercial paper and bank no $ 4,440,72: $59,27¢ $ — $ 4,500,00(
U.S. agency obligatior 2,990,521 — (4,524) 2,985,991
Corporate bond 10,061,70: 1,429 (364,495 9,698,63¢
Certificates of depos 6,589,00( — (13,54E) 6,575,45¢
$24,081,94 $60,70t  $(382,564 $23,760,08
2004
Commercial paper and bank no $ 1,476,82! $23,17F 3 — $ 1,500,00(
U.S. agency obligatior 9,625,22¢ 20,713 (12,601) 9,633,341
Corporate bond 13,477,69° — (180,924  13,296,77:
Certificates of deposit 3,492,00( (2,756) 3,489,24:

$28,071,75: $43,88¢  $(196,28) $27,919,35!

The following table shows the gross unrealizeddesand fair value of the Company’s held-to-maturitsestments with unrealized losses
that are not deemed to be other-than-temporaripained, aggregated by investment category andhesfgime that individual securities have
been in a continuous unrealized loss position,etenber 31, 2005:

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or Greater Total
Gross Gross Gross
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Description of Securities Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses Fair Value Losses
U.S. agency obligations $2,587,94! $ (2,489 $ 398,05« $ (2,035 $ 2,985,999 $ (4,529
Corporate bond 1,479,86:  (39,075)  6,521,59¢ (325,42()  8,001,46: (364,495
Certificates of deposit 1,290,05¢ (9,942) 496,397 (3,603) 1,786,45¢ (13,54E)
Total $5,357,86! $(51,5060 $7,416,05( $(331,05¢ $12,773,91 $(382,564)

U.S. agency obligations—The unrealized losses erCthmpany’s investments in three U.S. agency dfidigs. were caused by interest
rate increases since the date of purchase. Theactuml terms of these investments do not perreiigbuer to settle the securities at a price less
than the face value of the investment. Becaus€tmpany has the ability and intent to hold thesestments until maturity, the Company
does not consider these investments to be othartdraporarily impaired at December 31, 2005.

Corporate bonds—The unrealized losses on the Coyfpiavestments in seven corporate bonds were daogénterest rate increases
since the date of purchase. The contractual tefrtfeeee investments do not permit the issuersttiedbe securities at a price less than the
value of the investment. Each of the bonds maistaiStandard & Poor’s rating of A or higher and imasle each of their scheduled interest
payments. Therefore, it is not expected that thedbavould be settled at a price less than the @&aedrtost of the investment. Because the
Company has the ability and intent to hold
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4. Held-to-Maturity Investments (Continued)
these investments until maturity, the Company dugsconsider these investments to be other-teaxporarily impaired at December 31, 20

Certificates of deposit—The unrealized losses enGbmpany’s investments in 18 certificates of dépwesre caused by interest rate
increases since the date of purchase. The condtdetins of these investments do not permit theeissto settle the securities at a price less
than the face value of the investment. Becaus€tmepany has the ability and intent to hold thesesitments until maturity, the Company
does not consider these investments to be othartdraporarily impaired at December 31, 2005.

The amortized cost and fair value of fixed matusiegurities at December 31, 2005 and 2004, by actoial maturity, are shown below:

December 31

2005 2004
Amortized Cost Fair Value Amortized Cost Fair Value
Due in one year or le: $24,081,94¢ $23,760,08° $18,574,59: $18,529,59:
Due after one year through five years — — 9,497,15¢ 9,389,76¢

$24,081,94¢ $23,760,08  $28,071,75. $27,919,35!

5. Fixed Assets

Fixed assets consist of the following:

Estimated
Useful Life December 31
(Years) 2005 2004
Computer and laboratory equipment 3 $ 1,366,55: $ 1,195,81¢
Furniture and equipme 3 198,33( 188,85¢
Production equipmer 7 636,40¢€ 620,511
Construction in progres — 173,10z 7,546
Leasehold improvemen @ 132,907 19,443
2,507,29¢ 2,032,17¢
Less—accumulated depreciatic (1,631,749  (1,352,81¢)

$ 875551 $ 679,35¢

*—| esser of life of lease or estimated useful life
Depreciation expense was $278,932, $205,023 and, %24 for the years ended December 31, 2005, 20802003, respectively.
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6. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following for tisedl years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:

December 31

2005 2004
Professional services $ 438,51¢ $164,701
Other 775,40¢ 428,71¢

$1,213,92¢ $593,42(

7. Long-Term Debt

In March 1999, the Company obtained a commitmennfa bank for a $300,000 equipment term loan fgqifhe “Equipment Line”). On
February 28, 2000, the bank increased the Equipkiratto $400,000 and extended the maturity dateetoruary 27, 2003. Advances undel
Equipment Line bore interest at the bank’s printe,rplus 0.75% and were repayable in 30 equal nhoirtetallments. In February 2003, the
equipment line was repaid in full and terminated.

On May 21, 2003, the Company entered into an ageaemith Lighthouse Capital Partners 1V, L.P. (“hthouse”) to establish a line of
credit for $3,000,000 (“Line of Credit”). The Compadrew down $3,000,000 million through DecemberZ103. All borrowings under the
line of credit were collateralized by substantialythe assets of the Company. Borrowings borer@st at nominal rate of 11% per annum.
Upon the final maturity date or the earlier prepaytnof each advance, the Company was requiredytampaddition to the principal and
interest, an additional amount equal to 11% ofattiginal principal, or $330,000. This additional @ammt was being accreted over the applici
borrowing period as additional interest expense.

On July 29, 2004, the Company paid $3,123,521 ghthiouse. This amount represented payment in fall @utstanding obligations
under the line of credit with Lighthouse.

In connection with the Line of Credit, the Compassued Lighthouse warrants to purchase up to 400s8@res of Series E-1 redeemable
convertible preferred stock at an exercise pric1o50 per share, for a term of seven years. Tihedhie of the warrants calculated using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model was estimatedg®$450,100, and was recorded as a debt discbhistdiscount was being accreted over
the repayment term of 36 months as additional @ésteexpense. Upon completion of the Company’s tR® warrant converted into a warrant
to purchase 100,000 shares of common stock. Thisamtawas exercised in full on a net basis on L8005, resulting in the issuance of
63,707 shares of common stock.

8. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

The Companys redeemable convertible preferred stock was marijatedeemable by the holders based on factandmstances not
the Company’s control. The carrying value of thisfprred stock was being accreted to redemptiomevaler the term to the redemption date.
These adjustments were affected through chargasafjainst retained earnings, then against additjgaid-in capital until it was reduced to
zero and then to accumulated deficit. Accretiontli@r years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 wa865301 and $2,009,450, respectively.
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8. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (Continud

The Company’s 875,000 shares of Series A redeencableertible preferred stock, 625,000 shares oeS& redeemable convertible
preferred stock, 3,998,100 shares of Series C etiblepreferred stock, of which 2,850,000 sharesendesignated as Series C-1 redeemable
convertible preferred stock and 1,148,100 sharee designated as Series C-2 nonvoting redeemabietible preferred stock, 6,222,220
shares of Series D redeemable convertible prefetmmk, 7,111,110 shares of Series E redeemableddie preferred stock and 2,333,333
shares of Series E-1 redeemable convertible pesfestock automatically converted into 7,488,758ehaf common stock upon the
completion of the Company'’s initial public offerimg July 2004.

In March 2004, the Company sold 7,050,771 shar&edes E-1 redeemable convertible preferred stbekprice of $1.50 per share,
resulting in gross proceeds of $10,576,157. Theemion rate associated with Series E-1 redeencaloleertible preferred stock resulted in a
1-for-4 exchange or a conversion price of $6.00share. The Series E-1 redeemable convertiblempeefstock contained a beneficial
conversion feature as the estimated fair valub®@Qompany’s common stock was in excess of thed§ieb share conversion price.
Accordingly, the Company recorded a charge of 87,08l as a beneficial conversion feature in Mai@®42 Also, as a result of this Series E-1
redeemable convertible preferred stock financindjthe anti-dilution provisions associated with 8eries D redeemable convertible preferred
stock, the Company recorded a charge in the foranddemed dividend of $787,885 in March 2004. Tharge resulted from an adjustment to
the conversion price as a result of anti-dilutioatpction associated with the Series D redeematiieertible preferred stock.

9. Common Stock and Stock Option Plans

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had 50,0006588€s of common stock authorized and 12,375 ,23@s issued and outstanding.
There were no treasury shares outstanding at Desre®ih 2005 and 2004, as all treasury shares resreibsued upon employee stock option
exercises.

Each share of common stock entitles the holdentowmte on all matters submitted to a vote of tbenfany’s stockholders. Common
stockholders are not entitled to receive dividemagss declared by the Board of Directors.

Stock Option Plans

During 1996, the Company’s Board of Directors addpghe 1996 Stock Option/Restricted Stock Plan‘{t886 Stock Plan”). The 1996
Stock Plan provides for the granting of incentinel @aon-qualified stock options and stock bonus dw#o officers, directors and employees of
the Company. The maximum number of shares thatbeagsued pursuant to the 1996 Stock Plan is 186/&bof the outstanding options
under the 1996 Stock Plan are fully vested anditexta 10 years after the grant date, or earlihreéfoption holder is no longer an executive
officer, employee, consultant, advisor or directs applicable, of the Company. As of Decembe2805, 6,250 shares were subject to
outstanding options at a weighted average exeptise of $0.20 per share, 127,962 shares had lseaad under the 1996 Stock Plan and no
shares were available for future grant. If any @migranted under the 1996 Stock Plan are forfestech shares are not available for future
grant and revert back to the founder.

During 1998, the Company adopted the 1998 Equitgntive Plan (the “1998 Stock Plan”). The 1998 ktBlan also provides for
granting of incentive and nonqualified stock optaéord stock bonus awards to officers, consultandseamployees of the Company. As of
December 31, 2005, 1,250,000 shares of
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9. Common Stock and Stock Option Plans (Continued)

common stock were authorized for issuance undet 988 Stock Plan, of which 430,061 shares had lsseled and 747,294 shares were
subject to outstanding options at a weighted avepaige of $6.32 per share. Outstanding optiongutite 1998 Stock Plan generally vest over
three or four years and terminate 10 years afgegthnt date, or earlier if the option holder idorger an executive officer, employee,
consultant, advisor or director, as applicablehefCompany. The 1998 Stock Plan was closed tdwdnge grants at the time of the IPO and
therefore we will not make any additional grantsemthe 1998 Stock Plan.

During 2004, the Company adopted the 2004 Stocko@gind Incentive Plan (the “2004 Stock Plan”). P84 Stock Plan also provides
for granting of incentive and nonqualified stockiop and stock bonus awards to officers, consudtantd employees of the Company.
Outstanding options under the 2004 Stock Plan gdlgerest over three or four years and terminatgddrs after the grant date, or earlier if the
option holder is no longer an executive officer pbpgee, consultant, advisor or director, as applieaof the Company. As of December 31,
2005, 946,022 shares of common stock were authibfemassuance under the 2004 Stock Plan, of wBiéh shares had been issued, 367,075
shares were subject to outstanding options at ghitesd average price of $12.56 per share and 578j(&2s were available for future grant.
Also, on December 31 of each year an additionalbarof shares, equal to 15% of the annual net &serén the total number of outstanding
shares of common stock during the year, will beealdtd the shares available for the issuance ofdsvander the 2004 Stock Plan.

The exercise price of each stock option issued uihde1996 and 1998 Stock Plans was specified dBtard of Directors at the time of
grant. However, incentive stock options may nogtanted at less than the fair market value of tae@any’s common stock as determined by
the Board of Directors at the date of grant ordderm in excess of 10 years. The exercise pristoock options awarded under the 2004 Stock
Plan may not be less than the fair market valub®@tommon stock on the date of the option grattiéncase of incentive stock options and no
less than 85% of the fair market value of the commsiock on the date of the option grant in the cdis®ngqualified stock options. For holde
of more than 10% of the Company'’s total combinetingopower of all classes of stock, incentive stopkions may not be granted at less than
110% of the fair market value of the Company’s camrstock at the date of grant and for a term neixteed five years. All options granted
under the 1996 and 1998 Stock Plans become exeleiahisuch time as the Board of Directors spesiied expire 10 years from the date of
grant.
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9. Common Stock and Stock Option Plans (Continued)

A summary of activity under the Company’s 1996,888d 2004 Stock Plans for the years ended Decedib@005, 2004 and 2003 is
presented below:

Weighted
Number of Exercise Average
Shares Price Range Exercise Price
Stock Option Awards
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 381,651 $ 0.008-2.25C $ 1.526¢
Granted at fair valu 120,21¢ 2.250 2.250C
Exercisec (8,723 0.008-1.350 0.673¢€
Forfeited (42,73)) 0.900- 2.250 1.3952
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 450,41 0.200-2.250 1.748¢
Granted at fair valu 657,34 8.000- 10.42C 8.161%
Granted below fair valu 90,90( 0.900-4.480 2.660C
Exercisec (49,621 0.200- 2.250 0.905¢
Forfeited (16,464) 0.900-8.530 2.820¢€
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,132,57: 0.200-10.42C 5.627¢
Granted at fair valu 278,65( 9.280- 37.23C 13.779i
Exercisec (253,654  0.400-10.00C 2.021¢
Forfeited (36,94¢)  2.250-29.02C 9.8482
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 1,120,61¢ $0.200- 37.23C $ 8.331¢
The following table summarizes information abowic&toptions outstanding at December 31, 2005:
Weighted Average
Number of Remaining Contractual Number of Weighted
Options Options Average
Exercise Price Outstanding Life (Years) Exercisable Exercise Price
$0.20- 1.35 31,22¢ 3.6 31,22¢ $ 0.6581
$2.25-2.25 180,17¢ 7.3 79,09: 2.250C
$4.48-8.00 533,86¢ 85 204,90¢ 7.8094
$8.25-9.92 262,52t 9.0 11,754 9.269¢
$10.00- 14.76 60,42¢ 9.1 4,991 10.1601
$17.34 - 37.23 52,40(C 9.7 — N/A
1,120,61¢ 8.4 331,96 $ 5.899:

The Company recorded deferred compensation of 80,$66 and $630,900 in the years ended Decembh@085%, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, related to stock option grants to leyges and non-employees. The deferred compensajiwesents the difference between the
estimated fair value of common stock on the datgrafit and the exercise price associated withttiek ©ptions. The deferred compensation is
amortized to expense over the vesting period oféleted stock options. The Company recorded cosgiem expense for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 of $406,330, 81592 and $96,450, respectively. Included in thmpensation expense recorded by the
Company is $35,790, $436,611 and $0 of compensakpense associated with the modification of stumtions in the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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9. Common Stock and Stock Option Plans (Continued)

Unamortized deferred compensation on forfeitedomystiis recorded as a reduction to additional paickpital.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In June 2004, the Company’s stockholders approve@@04 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”)oAlur employees who have
been employed by the Company for at least 60 dagswose customary employment is for more thand0sper week and for more than
five months in any calendar year are eligible tdipigate. Any employee who owns 5% or more ofibéng power or value of our stock is 1
eligible to participate and an employee may purelmasmore than $25,000 worth of common stock, whhtahe start of the purchase perioc
any calendar year. The ESPP authorizes the isswdingeto a total of 375,000 shares of our comntooksto participating employees.

Under the ESPP, participating employees can authdinie Company to withhold up to 10% of their eagsiduring consecutive sironth
payment periods for the purchase of the sharethédtonclusion of the period, participating empkxyean purchase shares at 85% of the I
of their fair market value at the beginning or efithe period. Under this plan, the Company is@@65 and 9,532 shares of its common
stock during the years ended December 31, 2002@04, respectively.

Common Stock Reserved for Future | ssuance

At December 31, 2005, the Company has reserveadazgld shares of common stock for future issuasdeliows:

Outstanding stock optior 1,120,61¢
Possible future issuance under stock option f 578,07:
Possible future issuance under employee stock psecplar 342,20:
Total 2,040,89:

10. Income Taxes
The income tax provision consists of the followfogthe years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 angl: 200

Years Ended December 31

2005 2004 2003
Federal tax expense $35,000 $— $—
State tax expense — — —
Total $35,000C $— $—
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The Company’s effective income tax rate differsvrthe statutory federal income tax rate as follfavghe years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003.

Years Ended December 31
2005 2004 2003

Federal tax provision (benefit) re 34.0% (34.0)% (34.0)%
State tax provision (benefit), net of federal psimn (benefits 7.7 (3.5) (5.5)
Permanent item 16.3 4.2 1.3
Federal research and development cre (15.8) (1.8 (1.5
Alternative minimum ta: 3.6 — —
Valuation allowanct (42.2) 35.1 39.7
Effective income tax rate 3.6% 0.0% 0.0%

The Company’s deferred tax assets consist of timfimg:

December 31

2005 2004

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 13,870,55. $ 12,853,45I

Research and development credit carryforw: 645,80¢ 533,82(

Accrued expense 983,95¢ 645,807

Other 3,594 (81,537)
Total gross deferred tax assets 15,503,91! 13,951,54(
Valuation allowanct (15,503,91)  (13,951,54()
Net deferred tax asse $ — % —

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had fededhktate net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL"approximately $35,491,000 and
$28,768,000, respectively, as well as federal amie sesearch and experimentation credits of ajpmately $563,000 and $126,000,
respectively, which may be available to reducerfutaxable income and the related taxes thereanfdderal NOLs begin to expire in 2011
and the state NOLs begin to expire in 2006. Asirequby SFAS 109, the Company has evaluated théymand negative evidence bearing
upon the realizability of its deferred tax assetsich are comprised principally of net operatingd@arryforwards. Management has deterrr
that it is more likely than not that the Companyl wot recognize the benefits of federal and stigtferred tax assets and, as a result, a valuatiol
allowance of approximately $15,503,915 and $13341 has been established at December 31, 2005084d 2 spectively. Deferred tax
assets and related valuation allowance of $2,280a8®butable to net operating loss carryforwaadd $49,000 attributable to federal and state
research and experimentation credits result fragrettercise of employee stock options, the tax lieoiefvhich, when recognized, will be
accounted for as a credit to additional paid-initshpather than a reduction of income tax expense.

Ownership changes, as defined in the Internal Rey€ode, have limited the amount of net operatisg tarryforwards that can be
utilized annually to offset future taxable incorfiae Company anticipates that these limitations ale no material impact on their ability to
utilize the affected loss
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carryforwards in future years. Subsequent ownersh@nges could further affect the limitation inuig years.

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

In September 2000, the Company entered into a meetable operating lease, commencing January 1L, 2600ffice and laboratory
space. The lease expires on March 31, 2009.

Future minimum lease payments under noncancelggeatng leases as of December 31, 2005 are asvioll

2006 $ 930,00(
2007 930,00(
2008 930,00(
2009 232,50
Total minimum lease paymer $3,022,50(

Total recorded rent expense was $871,819 for declidgars ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2083Cdimpany records rent expe
on its facility lease on a straight line basis oer term. Accordingly, the Company has recordéakdlity for accrued rent expense at
December 31, 2005 and 2004 of $189,091 and $24,7/183Bectively on the accompanying balance sheets.

Restricted Time Deposit

In connection with the Company’s facility leases thompany is required to maintain, for the berddfthe lessor, an irrevocable standby
letter of credit stating the lessor as the benafjcover the term of the lease, which is secured bgrtificate of deposit in an amount equal to
102% of the letter of credit as security. The lemggires in March 2009. The certificate of dep@sienewable in 30-day increments. At
December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company has $53%8and $1,897,200 recorded as restricted caskiagsbwith this lease on the
accompanying balance sheet.

Royalty Agreements

In June 1996, the Company entered into a licensseagent with the Massachusetts Institute of Teagwl(“M.1.T."), a related party, as
amended on February 25, 1998, under which the Coynplatained an exclusive right to use certain tetdgy through the term of M.I.T.’s
patent rights on such technology. In exchangeCibrapany is required to pay royalties of 2.15% dfsades of products incorporating the
licensed technology. In addition, the Company ineed to pay royalties ranging from 25% to 50%va§ments received from sublicensees,
depending on the degree to which M.I.T.’s technglags incorporated into the products sublicensethbyCompany. Through the year ended
December 31, 2005, the Company has not incorpothiedicensed technology into its products andefaee, no amounts have been accrue
being owed.

In addition, the Company is obligated to pay M.hnual license maintenance fees if certain minimetrsales requirements are not met.
These payments can be used to offset future regalti
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11. Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

payable under the agreement. Under the amendedragng, the Company has a right to terminate thiseagent at anytime upon a written
notice and has recorded royalty expense totalitg0®D for each of the years ended December 31,, 2008 and 2003 relating to these fees.
At December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, M.1.T. owngureximately 0.0%, 4.6% and 9.3%, respectiveljthef Company’s common stock
outstanding and 0.0%, 0.0% and 5.6%, respectieélthe Company’s redeemable convertible prefertedksoutstanding.

In February 1999 the Company entered into anotbense agreement with an unrelated third party unthéch the Company obtained the
right to use certain technology through the terrtheflicensors patent right on such technology. In exchangeCitrapany was required to p
the licensor $50,000 annually for the first threans of the agreement. In subsequent years, thgp&uonis required to pay $10,000 annually as
long as it continues to use the licensed technolbggler this agreement, the Company has a rigtetrtoinate this agreement at anytime upt
written notice. During each of the years ended bdmsr 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, $10,000 was paidexnodded as cost of goods sold.

12. Retirement Plan

The Company established a 401(k) defined contdinusavings plan for its employees who meet cedaimice period and age
requirements. Contributions are permitted up tontleimum allowed under the Internal Revenue Codeaoh covered employee’s salary. The
savings plan permits the Company to contributésadiscretion. For the years ended December 35,214 and 2003 the Company made no
contributions to the plan.
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Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

For the three years ended December 31, 2005, 20D2G03:

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
2005
2004
2003

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance:
2005
2004
2003

Balance at

Beginning of Balance at End
Period Additions Deductions of Period

$ 300,000 $ 359,82i $ 259,827 $  400,00(
300,00C 235,464 235,464 300,00C
200,00c 200,32¢ 100,32¢ 300,00C
$13,951,541 $1,552,37! $ — $15,503,91!
12,449,47¢ 1,502,06: — 13,951,54(
10,996,00° 1,453,471 — 12,449,47¢
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Exhibit 10.2€
Director Compensation Arrangements

The following summarizes the compensation arrangesnestablished between NeuroMetrix, Inc. (the “@any”) and its directors
through verbal agreements effective for the pefioth May 18, 2005 through December 31, 2005:

The non-employee members of the Board of Direatbthe Company (the “Board”), other than thoseliatiéd with venture capital firms
that were stockholders of the Company as of thecéffe date of the initial public offering of the@pany (.e. William Laverack, Jr.), will
receive annual cash compensation in the amour,609 for service as a member of the Board, whiithbe paid following each annual
meeting of the stockholders of the Company. In midi these non-employee directors will receiveghe of $1,000 for each board or
committee meeting that they attend, provided they tvill not be entitled to additional compensationattending committee meetings that
occur on the same day as a board meeting at wihéghattend. This cash compensation will be in &muito any stock options or other equity
compensation that the Company determines to goahetdirectors on a case by case basis. The npiogee members of the Board that are
affiliated with venture capital firms that were gtbolders of the Company as of the effective datb@initial public offering of the Company
will not be compensated for serving as directdthpagh the Company will reimburse these direcforsll reasonable out-of-pocket expenses
incurred by them in attending board or committeetings. Dr. Gozani, the only employee member ofBbard, will not be separately
compensated for his service on the Board.

The following summarizes the compensation arrangesnestablished between the Company and its diretticough verbal agreements
effective from and after January 1, 2006:

Each of the non-employee members of the Boardy thiae those affiliated with venture capital firtheit were stockholders of the
Company as of the effective date of the initial jpubffering of the Companyi(e., William Laverack, Jr.), will receive annual cash
compensation in the amount of $10,000 for servica member of the Board, which will be paid follogrieach annual meeting of the
stockholders of the Company. On January 1, 2008 ehthese non-employee directors will be paid #nnual cash compensation, on a pro
rata basis, for the period from January 1, 200 é¢canticipated date of the 2006 annual meetingestockholders of the Company, less a pro
rata portion of any annual cash compensation pusi§gpaid to such director attributable to thisipérIn addition, each of these nemployee
directors will receive the sum of $1,500 for eaataB®l or Committee meeting that he attends, providatisuch director will not be entitled to
additional compensation for attending committee tinge that occur on the same day as a board meagirgtends. This cash compensation
will be in addition to any stock options or othguéy compensation that the Company determinesantdo the directors on a case by case
basis.

The non-employee members of the Board that arkeséfil with venture capital firms that were stockless of the Company as of the
effective date of the initial public offering oféalCompany will not be compensated for serving esctbrs, although the Company will
reimburse these directors for all reasonable oygeaket expenses incurred by them in attendingdboacommittee meetings. Dr. Gozani, the
only employee member of the Board, will not be sefgdy compensated for his service on the Board.




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémé¢lee Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No-BB3059) of NeuroMetrix, Inc. of
our report dated March 16, 2006 relating to tharfitial statements, financial statement scheduleagement’s assessment of the effectivenes:s
of internal control over financial reporting ane teffectiveness of internal control over finanecggorting, which appears in this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 16, 2006




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

Shai N. Gozani, certify that:
| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KNeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdt&te a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, ntetamisg with respect to the period

covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtf@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahaorting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registdisclosure controls and procedures and presé@nthis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regittsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repoet) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgisit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitae@mmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofimancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2006 /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH. D
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. [
Chief Executive Officer and Preside




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, W. Bradford Smith, certify that:

1

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KNeuroMetrix, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omdt&te a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, ntetamisg with respect to the period

covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statement$,oéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtf@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))3(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrami &ave:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrithe period in which this report is being prepared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahaorting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registdisclosure controls and procedures and presé@nthis report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proces) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regittsainternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodikbal quarter in the case of an annual repoet) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the redgisit's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitae@mmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofimancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significémin the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2006 /s/ W. BRADFORD SMITH
W. Bradford Smitt
Chief Financial Office!




Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION

The undersigned officers of NeuroMetrix, Inc. (ti@mpany”) hereby certify that the Company’s AnnRaport on Form 10-K to which
this certification is attached (the “Report”), dsd with the Securities and Exchange Commissiotherdate hereof, fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as appléads the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as atedrithe “Exchange Act”), and that the
information contained in the Report fairly presemsall material respects, the financial conditaomd results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 16, 2006 /s/ SHAI N. GOZANI, M.D., PH. D
Shai N. Gozani, M.D., Ph. [
Chief Executive Officer and Preside

/sl W. BRADFORD SMITH
W. Bradford Smitt
Chief Financial Office

This certification is being furnished and not fileshd shall not be incorporated into any documenafy purpose, under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 or the Securities Act of 1933.




